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YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
(THE “COMPANY” OR “YASHILI”) (STOCK CODE: 01230)
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
as a whole is a domestically leading professional infant formula
producer with international presence that produces and
sells premium infant formula and nutrition food in China.

The Group has factories in Guangdong, Shanghai, Shanxi, Inner
Mongolia, Heilongjiang, New Zealand, etc. It sells infant formula
products through widely recognized brands such as Yashily,
Mengniu, Dumex, Arla and Scient, as well as various nutrition food
including adult milk powder and dissolvable products.
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Authorized Representatives
Mr. Chopin Zhang

Mr. Hua Li®

Joint Company Secretary

Mr. Li Yuejin®
Ms. Ho Siu Pik

Principal Place of Business in the PRC

9/F Nova Tower

No. 185 Yuexiu Road South

Yuexiu District, Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province, 510057

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong

Suites 801-2, 8th Floor
COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

Registered Address of the Company

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar EERONBFETITR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited BEERREBESELEARAA
Shops 1712-1716 BB

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre A

183 Queen’s Road East 2R KREFR1835

Wan Chai
Hong Kong

Investor Relations Department

Office of the Board

Investor Enquiry Hotline

+86-20-37795190
+8562-2845-1230

Investor Enquiry Email Address

ir@yashili.cn

Stock Code

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 01230

Company’s Website

www.yashili.hk
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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Principal Bankers
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited Hong Kong Branch

Bank of China, Guangdong Pilot Free Trade Zone Nansha Branch
Industrial Bank Co., Limited, Hong Kong Branch

Legal Advisers

As to Hong Kong law
Sullivan & Cromwell (Hong Kong) LLP

As to Cayman law
Conyers, Dill & Pearman

Auditors

Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants

Notes:

(1) Appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and re-designated as a
non-executive director and ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer with effect from

15 September 2016

) Appointed on 29 January 2016

) Appointed on 1 January 2017

4) Appointed as an executive director and authorized representative on 25 August

2016 and as Chief Operating Officer on 1 January 2017

5) Appointed on 11 October 2016
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Yashili International
Holdings Ltd, | hereby present the Annual Report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2016 to all shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).

During the vyear, Yashili continued to receive strong support from
shareholders Mengniu and Danone. In addition to the resulting advantages
in procurement price negotiation and resource coordination, Yashili
leveraged on the strategic partnership between Mengniu and Arla Foods to
become the sole milk powder platform in China to cooperate with Arla
Foods. Yashili introduced from Arla Foods the world’s top organic infant
formula series “Baby & Me”, successfully expanding to the high-end
market. Meanwhile, at the production side, the New Zealand factory of
Yashili signed a strategic cooperation supply agreement with Danone to
further improve capacity utilization rate and reduce fixed production costs,
s0 as to enhance the synergy between the Group and Danone Group. The
Group also signed a research and development support and service
agreement for the transitional period with Danone Group to gain access to
Danone’s research data, thus further consolidating its R&D strength.

EHHNZTULRR:
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In 2016, Yashili kept moving forward in consolidation and transformation.
By acquiring Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (“Oushi
Mengniu”) and Dumex Baby Co., Ltd. (“Dumex China”) in December 2015
and May 2016, respectively, Yashili opened a new chapter for multi-brand
operation, marking a milestone for the Group’s consolidation and
transformation. The Group’s supply chain and back-office were fully
integrated and streamlined in structure and reporting line respectively to
greatly enhance the operational efficiency of the Group and provide better
support for the frontline by putting an end to the transitional period. On this
basis, the original marketing and sales structure of the Group consisting of
different sales divisions is restructured into “four CBUs plus one project
department”, setting finer positioning and clearer objectives of the sales
teams. With gradual implementation of the new marketing and sales
structure and the innovative business partner mechanism, the sales teams
are motivated to remodel business and redevelop business channels.

Yashili keeps seeking improvements in brand upgrading, channel
transformation, product development, quality management and system
support. Taking advantage of its New Zealand factory coming into
operation, the Group has fully integrated its online and offline resources to
vigorously build up a “professional, international, high-quality” brand image
of Yashily. In addition, Oushi Mengniu has enjoyed steady growth and the
organic brand Reeborne remains booming. The Dumex brand was
reshaped with increased awareness of its image highlighting body
defenses. As part of the strategic cooperation between the Group and Arla
Foods, The super-premium organic product series “Baby & Me” has
enjoyed rapid growth and furthered expansion into the first-tier market.
Concerted efforts were made to rebuild the Scient brand, resulting in
greater proportion of high-end products in sales. The Group’s channel
transformation was implemented smoothly and, with an incentive
mechanism, certain brands achieved their objectives of expanding the
mother-and-baby store channel and the e-commerce channel. By virtue of
high-quality milk sources and the high-standard factory in New Zealand, the
Group has developed multiple brands and series of infant formula and
exported them to China. Moreover, the Group optimized the portfolio and
the nutritional structure of products while actively preparing for recipe
registration in a drive to take the lead to obtain product registration codes.
Built on high quality, the Group always keeps in mind that quality is the
lifeblood of an enterprise. As such, it spares no effort to ensure consumer
confidence, considers it its responsibility to earn consumer trust, and
upholds the mission to produce trustworthy products for consumers. As for
management system support, the SAP project was launched during the
year and became operational on the first working day of 2017, creating a
uniform work platform of the Group and marking further digitization of
Yashili.

2016F X FEBE SEWPLEERA -
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Over the past year, the fierce competition in infant formula industry went
unabated. The Administrative Measures for the Registration of Recipes of
Infant Formula Milk Powder Products (“Recipe Registration Requirement”)
caused pressure on the industry to sort out recipes and de-stock infant
formula products and flooded the distribution channels with wait-and-see
sentiment. During the year, the nationwide two-child policy generated little
demographic dividend and had limited effect in boosting the market size.
International imported brands and cross-border e-commerce products
continued to challenge domestic brands. At the critical stage of
transformation, the Group’s brand channel transformation and internal
consolidation incurred additional costs. The Group’s operating results and
financial performance for 2016 suggest a considerable room for
improvement and growth in the future.

On the first working day of 2017, the new president of Yashili — Mr. Chopin
Zhang took office. With over 30 years’ experience in production and supply
chain management and extensive management experience in the food
industry, he is the best person to coordinate the Company’s internal and
external resources. Internally, he is capable of promoting frontline sales
through integration, and externally, he can effectively coordinate with
business partners such as Danone Group and Arla Foods. The Board
believes that Mr. Chopin Zhang has the capabilities to shoulder the key
mission of revitalizing Yashili.

In 2017, Yashili rings out the old year and ushers in a new page. The new
leader, new organizational structure, new sales incentive mechanism and
new management system will surely lead to the rebirth of Yashili. Recipe
Registration Requirement will continue to promote industry concentration
and substantially reduce the number of recipes and brands owned by
enterprises while guiding dairy companies to focus more on operation
quality of brands and products. Industry-leading dairy companies are
expected to solidify their positions in the industry reshuffle driven by the
new policy and become more competitive in seizing market share. The
Group, with desirable market opportunities and development space under
the new policy, is no exception. The nationwide two-child policy is soon to
create visible demographic dividend for the industry and lay a foundation
for the long-term stability of infant formula market demands. The Group is
expected to leverage its nationwide and well-penetrated distribution
network to benefit from the demographic dividend resulting from population
growth and, in particular, to enjoy growth in third- and lower-tier markets.
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Looking ahead, the Group will continue to partner with large resource
platforms such as COFCO, Mengniu, Danone and Arla Foods to strengthen
business cooperation and strategic alliance with other parties, and expand
in a more pragmatic, sound and thorough manner to build up a complete
value chain in the dairy industry, so as to realize its operating goals and
strategic plans and achieve better operating results and market
performance in return for the ongoing supports and cares from consumers,
various social sectors and investors. Yashili is dedicated to pooling the best
resources from around the world to improve the nutrition and health of
Chinese mothers and babies in a mission to empower China’s next
generation to thrive in the world.

In 2017, Yashili is bound to reorganize its resources and regenerate to
shine!

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2017
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
HB 32 B9 RA 75 LR

Year ended 31 December #HZE12A31HIFFE

Percentage
2015 change
FE 7
(All amounts in Renminbi (BR45RIBIRAI > FrE S5
(“RMB”) million ARBTARYD
unless otherwise stated) BE Ty R)
Key results FTEEE
Revenue | 2,761.6 -20.2%
Gross profit E 7 1,402.3 —26.0%
Operating profit 7 s R -40.3 1001.7%
Earnings before interest, tax, BB E#Ea RS

depreciation and amortization

(EBITDA) 117.2 -334.0%
Profit attributable to equity R B IRAERE B A AL & A

holders of the Company 118.3 -370.7%
Net operating cash flow (Note 1) & & IR & i & %58 (i 5£1) 80.0 —696.5%
Basic earnings per share (RMB ~ EREAREF (A RES)

cents) (Note 2) (Mf5E2) 2.6 -357.7%
Net asset value per share (RMB) EEE(AR¥IT)

(Note 3) (MF7E3) 1.3 =7.7%
Proposed final dividend [ -1 g 3.5 -100%
Dividend payout ratio i% 8 72k b =R 30.0%

Key performance ratios FTEEEALE

Profitability ratios & P&

Gross profit margin ESR IS 50.8%
Operating profit margin £ 5 A = -1.5%
Net profit margin Fary | pess 4.3%
Margin of profit attributable to A& ##5 A A JE (55 K| &

equity holders 4.3%
Return on net assets A EE B 3R K 2.0%
Net profit to total assets FAEREEX(MTE10)

(Note 10) 1.5%
Asset ratios BEL X
Current ratio (Note 4) B b = (F5E4) 3.0
Inventory turnover days (Note 5) 17 & /& & X £ (f{3%5) 172
Trade receivable turnover days & 5 & U 3% & 88 X 2 (i 5£6)

(Note 6) 9
Trade payable turnover days B RN EERE(MHET)

(Note 7) 73
Debt to equity ratio (Note 8) BEHEE X (F:Es) 28.1%

Gearing ratio (Note 9) EEABLE(HFE) 6.0%




Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2016

WU

Wie

SEL\ECTED FINANCIAL DATA (CONTINUED)
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Year ended 31 December

Notes:

1.

HZE12A31HILFE

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less cash outflow
generated from operating activities for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year.

Net assets at year end divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue for the
year.

Total current assets at year end divided by total current liabilities at year end.

Inventory balances at year end divided by cost of sales for the year and multiplied
by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills receivables at year end divided by turnover for the year
and multiplied by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills payables at year end divided by cost of sales for the
year and multiplied by 365 days.

Total liabilities at year end divided by total equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company at year end.

Total interest-bearing bank loans at year end divided by total assets at year end.

Profit for the year divided by total assets at year end.

B &t

10.

FRAKZEHELEZHER
EEZRERL -

BERLERD

FARARBBREREARGEBNRAFAD HE

TEARZ MEFHE -

FRFEEGAFAC BT E BB -

FRRDEELERAFRRDABEE -

£ SR 17 B 45 84 B DA 4F PO B4 5 B K+ T TR BA 365
io

FREGERUREZELESBUFTFRNEES
FIRLAB65 K °

FREGENREEBE ARG AF RHEEK
7R - FRIA3E5 K °

FRABRBERAERARRERERE AR
1 B -

FRASRTEREBERUAFREELTE -

FEENBRIAFREERT -



PRODUCT m

INNOVATION

= % 2l

—

4

el
5T Sy
O

N

Move




Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2016

(%) & Wl

Wi

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmANDMN

Industry Review

Year 2016 witnessed frequent “black swan” events in global economy and
heightened economic risks. International political volatilities posed great
challenges to economic globalization and increased economic uncertainties.

Faced with complex international situation and increasing downward
pressure on the economy, China maintained overall stable economic
growth with certain progress and sound results, setting off to a good start
for the 13th Five-Year Plan. According to the preliminary statistics published
by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the gross domestic products
(GDP) for the year reached RMB74.4127 trillion, representing an increase of
6.7% from the previous year based on comparable prices. Despite the
slowdown in economic growth, such growth still meets the expectation of
the Chinese government and is greatly ahead of global growth. The annual
national disposable income per capita was RMB23,821, representing a
nominal growth of 8.4% from last year and a real growth of 6.3% after
excluding price factors. The annual national per capita consumption
expenditure amounted to RMB17,111, representing a nominal growth of 8.9%
and a real growth of 6.8% after excluding price factors.

On 15 March 2016, Recipe Registration Requirement was considered and
approved at the executive meeting of China Food and Drug Administration
and came into effect on 1 October 2016. Recipe Registration Requirement
requires that each enterprise, in principle, shall not have more than three
product series or nine product recipes, and when enterprises apply for
recipe registration, product claims related to the product recipe in the
product label and the instruction manual will also be reviewed, in order to
ensure the authenticity, accuracy and scientificalness of the labels and
instructions of infant formula milk powder and to prevent enterprises from
over-advertising and misleading consumers via labels and instructions. By
1 January 2018 which is the deadline for registering the existing products
and brands, over 70% of the nearly 2,000 brands owned by more than 100
domestic infant formula producers are expected to be phased out by the
new policy. With regards to population policy, the demographic dividend
from the nationwide two-child policy was insignificant in the first year of the
policy and is expected to become more visible in 2017, which will boost the
domestic demands for infant formula and present new development
opportunities for relevant enterprises and markets.

EJCE
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (conTiINUED)

B I8 2 5Y 5 B2 D T (@)

In 2016, the domestic infant formula market size remained basically flat as
compared to last year, with declined sales and increased prices. The
mother-and-baby store channel maintained strong growth in sales volume
and price and was the largest market channel with over 50% market share.
The Internet continued to affect consumers’ behavior and buying habits.
The growth in the e-commerce channel had slowed down, with ups and
downs in the development of overseas online shopping, overseas
intermediate purchase and cross-border e-commerce which thrived in the
first half of the year and underwent inspection and standardization under
national policy regulation in the second half of the year. The modern trade
channel continued to shrink at an accelerating pace, forcing domestic
brands relying on this channel to speed up channel reform under huge
competition pressure.

Business Review

In 2013, Mengniu Group entered into strategic cooperation with the Group
by way of a general offer, thereby becoming the Group’s controlling
shareholder. In 2014, the Group, China Mengniu International Company
Limited (“Mengniu International”) and Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd.
(“Danone Asia”) entered into a share subscription agreement. As the deal
closed in February 2015, Danone Asia officially became Yashili's second
largest shareholder. In December 2015, the Group completed the
acquisition of Oushi Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu Group, and officially
became the sole milk powder business platform within Mengniu Group. In
May 2016, the Group completed the acquisition of Dumex China, a
subsidiary of Danone Group, initially completing its brand consolidation and
domestic capacity expansion.

The Group is committed to developing reliable nutrition products for
consumers, including the branded product series for promoting healthy
growth of infants such as Yashily, Reeborne, Dumex, Arla and Scient, as
well as those designed to meet the nutritional needs of adults such as
Youyi, Huanging and Zhengwei. The Group’s business model incorporates
such key factors as premium imported dairy raw materials, premium
imported original infant formula, self-developed recipes, advanced
manufacturing system and professional marketing teams with sufficient
knowledge on local consumer markets, which enables us to offer
trustworthy products to consumers.

2016 F B A ENRE S PHHHHREMRL X
FEARFY EREA BERBERARFHER
Bk REHEEEE RTMHBELEAXR
RE THOBRBEB—F¥ DHRAEETE
HEBEENHEBTRANBEEZE ERBREHE
REMME B8 BHIMBLEREEHNH
BREGRI L¥FEDER THFX
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Introduction of Product Categories

Infant formula products

The infant milk formula products developed by the Group are mainly aimed
at satisfying the health and nutritional needs of infants and toddlers during
daily feeding, and can serve as a major source of nutrition for infants and
toddlers supplementary to breast milk. All of the Group’s branded infant
milk formula products are produced mainly using premium imported raw
materials. The Group is striving to develop infant formula with the most ideal
nutrition composition to well cater to the needs of infants and toddlers
during different stages of growth and development. The Group has
established different infant milk formula product lines targeting customers at
different consumption levels. The originally canned and packaged imported
organic “Baby & Me” introduced by the Group through partnership with Arla
Foods is originated from Denmark and targets the ultra-high-end market;
the upgraded “Diamor” and “Precinutri” of Dumex are mainly aimed at
creating integrated solutions for babies; Yashily’s “Super o -Golden” and
“Ambery Golden” are positioned to provide basic nutrition; Mengniu’s
“Reeborne” as an emerging brand of the Group is primarily positioned at
professional infant formula milk powder; Scient’s “Golden” and “Ordinary
Pack” mainly focus on mid-end consumer groups; Yashily’s “Newwit” and
Arla’s “Milex” mainly target mid- and low-end consumer groups.

Tailored infant formula products

The accelerating modernization and industrialization process, and the
changing environment, lifestyles and diets in China pose increasing health
challenges to Chinese infants and toddlers. As an infant nutrition expert, the
Group not only endeavors to satisfy the nutritional needs of infants and
toddlers, but also has professional formula products under Dumex to meet
the special nutritional needs of special infants and toddlers. At present, the
Group has three series of professional formula products under Dumex:

—  Products for Allergy: this category includes products for prevention of

allergy (HA) and treatment of allergy (PEPTI). HA products can
effectively guard infants and toddlers exposing to high risk of allergy
against such risk through semi-hydrolyzing techniques. PEPTI
products serve as an effective remedy to the allergy to protein in food

of infants and toddlers through deeply hydrolyzing techniques.

—  Products for Digestion: this category includes lactose-free formula (LF)
which would effectively avoid the vicious circle of diarrhoea due to
hypolactasia.

—  Products for Under-weight Newborn: this category includes formula
for low-birth-weight (LBW) newborn babies which would cater to their
needs for catching up with standards of growth.
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Nutrition food

The Group also produces and sells various types of nutrition food,
including: nutritional milk powder for adult family members — adult milk
powder under the Mengniu brand and adult milk powder under the Youyi
brand; high-end functional milk powder for mid- and old-age people — milk
powder for the elderly under the Huanging brand; nutritional milk powder
for children — Future Star Kid Mik Powder; healthy and delicious
dissolvable products — cereal under the Zhengwei brand; and infant
complementary food — nutritional rice cereal for infants and toddlers under
the Yashily brand. Such a portfolio comprises products with differentiated
nutritional mixes designed for consumers with special needs as well as
those suitable for general consumers.

Brand Strategies

In 2016, the Group followed the strategy of consolidating the Yashily brand,
vigorously building the Reeborne brand and quickly cultivating the Arla
product series to build up its business model and brand network featuring
product differentiation, and continuously increased its brand exposure and
influence to the full realization of brand upgrading and remodeling.

In 2016, Yashili’s originally packaged and canned products imported from
New Zealand went on sale in China on a large scale. After that, the Group
organized new product promotion meetings in key markets across the
country in May and June to carry out intense publicity and create hot
topics. The Group combined the resources of such media as television,
new media and print media to promote new products. As for the online
front, the Group became the sponsor of China’s first star variety show for
protection of intangible culture — “The Splendid Chinese Dialects” on
Changjiang New Satellite TV (a combination of local channels of five
provinces including Hunan Economic TV (#1E4%45), Hubei Integrated TV (4
1t474), Henan Metro TV (R[FE&RT), Anhui Economic TV (Z{8484%) and
Jiangxi Public TV (IPaA$)). Furthermore, the Group partnered with iQiyi
PPS, Sohu and Mango TV to broadcast the show online, creating a muilti-
channel and multi-website promotion platform with unprecedented
coverage. In April 2016, the overseas version of infant formula products
manufactured in Yashili’s factory in New Zealand also went on sale in the
New Zealand market and entered New Zealand’s three major supermarket
chains, achieving simultaneous launch of the product at home and aboard
and attracting great attention from domestic and foreign media. Yashili
exclusively sponsored a solo concert performed by Lang Lang in Auckland
as a charity bazaar fundraiser for “HeartKids”, thereby enhancing its brand
awareness and reputation.
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Year 2016 saw high-speed growth of Reeborne which was promoted with
the “pure, organic and natural” brand proposition to rapidly enhance its
brand awareness and reputation. Thanks to the combination of online and
offline promotion, its annual target for 2016 was exceeded with a growth of
422%. As to promotion, a total of 619 promotion activities for Reeborne
were carried out to effectively enhance consumer experience and attract
new consumers. Since April 2016, Reeborne’s annual theme event “Reeborne
Organic Infant-Raising Forum” was held in eight cities, attracting audience
from more than 30 surrounding counties and towns. The forums imparted
professional infant-raising knowledge to consumers and educated them on
organic products like Reeborne’s, laying a foundation for the annual organic
promotion of Reeborne. As to publicity, Reeborne made full use of online
resources and carried out in-depth cooperation with Baidu to gain access
to highly targeted consumers leveraging big data. As such, Reeborne was
exposed to tens of milions of viewers and earned recognition from
numerous mothers, and also won good reputation in major mother- and
infant-focused vertical media such as Mama.cn (#51548) and lamabang.
com (Ek15%E). Reeborne organic milk powder successively won the Country
Award of World Tour 2016 in France, the Gold Award of Monthly Quality
Inspection issued by China Dairy Industry Association, the Award of the
Most Trustworthy Organic Milk Powder Among Mothers, etc. In addition,
QOushi Mengiu’s two Golden series and its Beauty Series as the tactical
products of Oushi Mengniu achieved their targets for the year and
contributed to the Company’s profit by dint of the brand awareness and
distribution channels of Mengniu.

For the strategic high-end product of Arla “Baby & Me”, the Group
increased its brand exposure through new product launch and medical
channel launch, and engaged the internationally renowned visual artist Ms.
Chen Man (f&)2) as the brand spokesperson to star in viral videos and
pictures for broadcasting in key cities, thus enabling consumers to have a
taste of the utmost pureness of Arla “Baby & Me” from Denmark.
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Product R&D

In 2016, by virtue of the high-quality milk sources and the high-standard
factory in New Zealand, the Group’s R&D Center developed multiple brands
and series of infant formula exported to China to enrich and strengthen the
Group’s product lines, thus providing strong product support for market
development and competition. The R&D Center also upgraded the nutrition
and packages of the existing Youyi dissolvable milk powder, Future Star
Kid products, Mengniu’s ordinary multi-dimensional and student milk
powder products in order to meet the appetites of consumers for product
nutrition and lead the trend in packaging. In a continued effort to expand
organic product lines, the Group’s Oushi Mengniu started preparation for
developing originally packaged imported organic infant formula milk powder
which will go on sale soon, added to the existing domestic organic infant
formula “Reeborne”.

In response to the Recipe Registration Requirement imposed by the state,
the Group’s R&D Center, Brand Operation and Management Center and
Sales Management Center jointly discussed product portfolio, optimized
product nutrition structure, planned for the Group’s long-term strategic
products, prepared formula development test reports in accordance with
the Recipe Registration Requirement and submitted required materials to
relevant authority, in an attempt to be among the first batch of enterprises
to obtain registration codes of infant formula products in China. In the
process of preparing recipe registration materials, the Group acted in strict
compliance with the administrative measures to make each label as a brief
description simply for consumers’ selection of products without sending
any clear or implied message about disease prevention and treatment,
intelligence boosting, body defense enhancement and intestinal protection,
S0 as to provide consumers with scientific and nutritional infant formula milk
powder in the principle of integrity, reliability, pragmatism and innovation.

In terms of basic research on nutrition, the Group has long been committed
to researching and analyzing the macro-nutrient composition of breast milk,
and had completed a test analysis of the macro-nutrient, fatty acid
spectrum and amino acid spectrum of breast milk from three domestic
cities, thereby providing support for future infant formula development with
basic nutrition data. In addition, the Group worked with well-known
domestic and foreign nutritionists to conduct multi-center clinical studies on
newly-developed domestic infant formula and originally packaged imported
infant formula, so as to demonstrate the benefits of the newly-developed
products for infants’ growth and nutritional needs with clinical laboratory
science.
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Sales Channels

In 2016, the Group rapidly increased the contribution of the mother-and-
baby store channel by advancing the “all staff engaging in mother-and-
baby store channel” program. As for the Yashily brand, a KMBS team was
established before May to target medium and large mother-and-baby chain
stores across the nation primarily with the originally canned and packaged
products from New Zealand. From June to December, the Group’s
products reached another 4,716 mother-and-baby chain stores.
Respecting the law of the market, the Group resolutely transferred the
mother-and-baby-store-specific products out of the distributor channel to
clear the obstacles for operation of the mother-and-baby-store CBUs. As
for the Mengniu brand, its product sales mainly focused on the mother-
and-baby store channel. The Arla brand enjoyed significantly accelerating
expansion into large and medium-sized mother-and-baby chain stores (such
as Kidswant). The Dumex brand completed channel consolidation and has
been reaching out to third- and fourth-tier cities from first- and second-tier
cities.

In the second half of 2016, the Group set up a project department for
“directly-managed mother-and-baby store channel” to engage partners in
opening individual mother-and-baby stores and small chain stores where
the partners enjoy direct supply of goods from the Company and desirable
commission. Through such entrepreneurial directly-managed mother-and-
baby store channel, the potential of teams was unleashed while promoting
channel transformation. The operation of the project department also
accumulated experience for the establishment and operation of the mother-
and-baby-store CBUs.

During the year, the Group’s online sales grew steadily. The Group has
three product lines, namely high-end infant formula, basic infant formula,
and adult milk powder and dissolvable products. The Group conducts fine
operation for them according to different online traffic and repetitive
purchase characteristics. To this end, the Group intensified strategic
cooperation on high-end infant formula with national e-commerce platforms
to increase online brand exposure; strengthened the operation of self-run
stores for basic infant formula to manage traffic in a more refined way; and
focused the sale of adult milkk powder and dissolvable products on Tmall
Supermarket and JD.com to seek breakthroughs, quickly leveraging on the
mass traffic of comprehensive e-commerce platforms.
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In 2016, Scient’s business was consolidated into Oushi Mengniu and then
optimized in all aspects such as sales, marketing, production, logistics,
human resources and finance, resulting in reduced costs, improved quality,
timely delivery, shorter product sales cycle, effective cost control,
overcoming of such difficulties as production halt of its original factory and
sluggish distribution, cease of performance decline, and realization of profit
after suffering losses.

For management optimization, the Group rationalized marketing-related
mechanisms and procedures and established the matrix of powers and
responsibilities to achieve strict and effective management; set up a strong
inspection system to inspect and review market costs in an effort to
improve cost efficiency; and cracked down on goods fleeing and price
undercutting to maintain market order. The Group built up a membership
management system connecting with SAP and Outworker Assistant (9
BhTF) to achieve information-based management on all procedures, from
purchase, production, warehousing, delivery, entry into store, sales to
conversion of consumers’ bonus points and interaction with consumers.
This system is able to achieve such integrated functions as comprehensive
budget management, targeted use of expenses, efficient business
operation, purchase-sales-inventory management, anti-goods-fleeing
management and instant interaction with consumers. Moreover, the
membership management system also achieves order processing and
settlement functions for directly-managed mother-and-baby stores.

In order to fully motivate the teams, in the fourth quarter of 2016, the
original marketing organizational structure consisting of brand divisions was
restructured into a system mainly comprising CBUs set up by channel and
product category, where the mother-and-baby-store CBU is in charge of
the strategic objective of brand upgrading and channel transformation; the
modern trade CBU strives to tackle the problem of “channel, product
category and price declines”; the high-end mother-and-baby-store CBU is
positioned to make Dumex become one of the top four foreign brands
again and help Arla stand out among a long list of brands; the innovation
CBU is to expand community marketing, integrate internal market resources
and develop TP business to capture new consumers based on the existing
e-commerce network; and the Scient Project Department was established
for new business development jointly by the brand business, distributors
and sales teams.
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Quality Control

Quality is the lifeblood of an enterprise and the only way for an enterprise to
capture the market. The Group is dedicated to building up a comprehensive
quality management system covering the entire value chain from supplier
quality management to consumer services.

The Group strictly follows the following principles in quality management of
all products covering raw materials to finished products: (1) select suppliers
with stringent standards, and review and examine them regularly each year,
so as to eliminate those suppliers that do not meet the requirements of the
Group and ensure the implementation of product source management
philosophy of the Group. In 2016, the review process for all suppliers had
been unified to ensure the review of suppliers is complete and
comprehensive; (2) purchase domestic and overseas premium raw and
auxiliary materials, and examine and control the raw materials strictly in
accordance with the requirements of corporate internal control standards
which are more stringent than the national standards, in order to ensure
100% of the raw materials used by factories meet the requirements. In
2016, the standards on various raw materials were unified and certain
requirements regarding hygiene indicators and pollutant indicators were
added; (3) employ comprehensive and reasonable nutrition-safe recipes
and internationally advanced production equipment for production; (4)
implement stringent process quality control to ensure that each process
meets the requirements of standard parameters; (5) maintain a system for
rigorous inspection of finished products before delivery, which is to inspect
each batch of products and only allow those verified as qualified to be
delivered, so as to ensure that all the products delivering out of factories
100% meet the relevant requirements; (6) continuously absorb outstanding
talents to carry out efficient production and quality management, and
constantly organize training on professional knowledge for internal
production and quality management executives to acquire up-to-date
knowledge.
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The Group centers on Yashili's Central Laboratory to coordinate with the
laboratories at subsidiaries in strictly implementing the system for inspecting
each batch of products before delivery. In 2001, the Central Laboratory
obtained the ISO17025 Certification accredited by the state, which currently
has 103 parameters and 107 examination methods in the fields of dairy
products and beverages having been accredited, covering indicators on
three major nutrients, vitamins and minerals as well as health indicators.
The Group has invested heavily in quality management hardware. Each
year the laboratories will from time to time purchase a variety of advanced
examination and analysis equipment, including ultra-high-performance
liquid mass spectrometer, gas mass spectrometry high-performance liquid
chromatography, atomic absorption spectrometer and gas
chromatography. Each batch of milk powder is subject to multi-tier
examination and inspection by 70 parameters to ensure product safety,
and production is carried out in strict compliance with international
standards to guarantee product quality.

In 2016, the Group’s factories passed the supervisory accreditation or re-
assessment of such management systems as ISO9001, ISO14001, HACCP
and CMS. These well-established management systems provide a solid
guarantee for the Group to produce high-quality products.

In 2016, the Horinger factory, the Shanghai factory and the Chaozhou
factory continued to upgrade their infrastructure.

In 2016, in various strict risk monitoring processes performed by the state,
the products of Yashily, Mengniu, Dumex and Scient brands are 100%
qualified after analysis, strengthening consumer confidence in using the
Group’s products.
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With respect to the legal aspect in 2016, the Group collected and identified
more than 200 sets of applicable laws and regulations, of which the major
ones were the Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Measures Governing
the Licensing of Food Production, the Measures Governing the Licensing of
Food Businesses and the Measures Governing Food Recall. On the basis
of these laws and regulations as well as industry norms and standards, the
Group compiled an operation guide book in conjunction with major
responsible departments to provide a basis and a regulatory standard for
the work of the Group and to enable the Group to implement these guides
in the course of business operation. No irregularities were reported in the
Company’s production and operation. As to environmental protection, the
Group was conscious of complying with China’s environmental laws and
regulations for carrying out pollution prevention and control. It stepped up
environmental publicity, raised environmental awareness among staff and
carried out environmental protection by means of various initiatives: (1) it
vigorously promoted the new environmental laws and regulations in the
wide-coverage “Yashili Newsletter”, “Publicity Column” and so on; (2) it
carried out more training on environmental education resources and
initiated the build-up of “green enterprises and green factories”; (3) it
conducted strong and effective environmental monitoring and surveillance
so that the discharge of waste water, waste gas, noise, malodor and oily
fumes reached the set standards; the management of hazardous wastes
and chemicals was reinforced by transferring hazardous wastes to another
location for treatment lawfully and rationally, building a chemicals
warehouse and carrying out a drill once a year on “how to handle the
leakage of chemicals from warehouse”; a sewage treatment station was
built in the plant area for the effective control of sewage discharge; (4) it
proactively responded to China’s energy conservation and emission
reduction policies by optimizing energy efficiency in production and
operation processes, raising energy utilization efficiency while effectively
controlling greenhouse gas emissions; the water conservation system was
improved and water conservation indicators were refined. By means of
water usage supervision and technological innovation, the management of
water resources was optimized in three dimensional areas, namely
improvement at source, recycling and wastewater reuse, to advance water
conservation initiatives; (5) it strengthened internal inspection by
comprehensively carrying out a major inspection of the plant area; a major
inspection of the workshop environment; an environmental special
inspection of solid waste gas, hazardous waste and chemicals; and an
inspection of the surrounding environment of the plant area to make sure
that the discharge of pollutants reached the set standards and that there
was a good environment in the residential area; and by stepping up pest
disinfection, control and prevention in plant area and at workshops to make
sure that the environment of the plant area was hygienic and clean.
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Resource Integration

In terms of capacity planning, the Group transferred part of its product
series to the New Zealand factory in accordance with the requirements of
the Recipe Registration Requirement that one factory can only have three
product series at most, and actively searched for overseas OEMs to
outsource the production of tactical products, so as to secure profit
streams. Meanwhile, in response to the requirement of the Recipe
Registration Requirement on recipe differences, the Group allocated the
recipes to various factories in a rational manner, and made relevant
applications for such recipes in a tactical fashion. The Group’s supply chain
management center carried out its work according to the arrangements of
the project team to guarantee project progress.

In terms of factory operation, the supply chain management center
rationally used and allocated the Group’s internal resources to avoid waste
and loss of resources based on the production arrangements, developed
uniform performance measurement standards covering the Horinger factory
and the Shanghai factory, and regularly monitored the factories for
horizontal and vertical comparison of various factories in their operation
performance and seeking improvements. Through exchange of needed
resources and improvement of safety, quality and other systems, the Group
reduced its operating costs and improved its operational efficiency.

In terms of procurement integration, the Group drew on its strength to
gradually shift to centralized procurement in a hope to greatly reduce the
overall supply chain procurement costs. According to the integration needs,
the Group unified the specifications of raw materials to concentrate its
purchasing demands. In respect of the procurement system and process,
the Group set up a uniform bidding system and a supplier performance
assessment indicator system, laying a solid foundation for selection and
management of suppliers. In respect of procurement strategy, while
optimizing the procedures of overseas procurement, the Group developed
three procurement approaches, i.e. centralized procurement through
Mengniu Group, centralized procurement through Yashili Group and self-
procurement by companies themselves, and set up a contract framework
and a standard contract template, thereby standardizing the management
and operation of procurement contracts. As to supplier bidding planning,
the procurement by companies themselves was shifted to centralized
procurement, and improvement plans were made to unify supply strategy
and planning. In addition, the procurement organizational structure was
shifted to one that features specialized procurement by product category, i.e.
procurement of raw materials and imported finished products, procurement
of packaging materials, comprehensive procurement and procurement of
fixed assets and spare parts. With specialized functional division, the
procurement teams performed their respective duties to improve their
professional procurement skills, efficiency and service levels.
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In terms of planning and logistics, according to the business needs and
structure setting, the Group optimized the organizational structures of
planning and logistics and improved work procedures and communication
mechanism, thus achieving rapid response and improving working
efficiency and service level. The Group also Introduced the supplier
assessment system, developed a universal logistics KPI evaluation system,
and unified the standard operation procedures, operation manual and
quality standards of all logistics centers, realizing standardized management
and operation of the Group’s logistics centers and enhancing the synergy
of various warehouses. In respect of planning, the planning management
department was restructured to one aligned with the sales business, with
its business processes, staffing, communication platforms established in
coordination with the CBUs. As to business integration of the planning
department, sales forecast, production progress tracking and customer
orders were fit into the whole business system to satisfy the needs of sales
business integration to the fullest extent from the business perspective, and
to guarantee a clearly-established and sound product supply chain. In
respect of logistics, the existing logistics structures of subordinate
companies were consolidated into a unified logistics organization of the
Company. As to business integration of the logistics department, uniform
measurements were employed for such data languages as freight, KPIs
and warehousing costs to achieve performance measurement of all
elements under the same platform.

Management System

The management of the Group has developed the business strategy of
marketing model transformation and supply chain integration, and a
comprehensive IT system is the foundation for realizing the strategy. Guided
by the IT department of the headquarter of Mengniu Group, Yashili
developed a three-year roadmap for information construction, which is to
fully introduce Mengniu’s standard business information system through
unified planning and step-by-step implementation.
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In July 2016, Yashili launched the SAP ERP system implementation project
to build a new central information system for the Group’s business
operation. The project was carried out by a team of nearly 100 people,
including Yashil’'s management, business process leaders, key users,
Mengniu Group and Yashili’s IT and implementation partners, and January
2017 was set as the target deadline for the new system to come into
operation. The project will achieve for the Group the integration of such
functional modules as SAP ERP sales and distribution, production planning
and implementation, material management, quality management, financial
and management accounting, and unify the management data standards,
operational procedures and management policies of various business units,
so as to ultimately achieve efficient integrated operation of the Group’s
production, supply, sales and finance.

After the project commences operation, Yashili will continue to introduce
new systems in the coming years to create an information system
environment with a full range of business support systems, including SAP
CRM-TPM, SAP BI, SFA, quality traceability system (Phase Il) and Call
Center.

Financial Review

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s revenue amounted to
RMB2,203.3 million (2015: RMB2,761.6 million), representing a 20.2%
decrease compared to last year.
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As of 31 December 2016, sales revenue from infant milk formula products
amounted to RMB1,462.4 million (2015: RMB1,991.9 million), representing
a decrease of 26.6% from last year. Sales revenue from nutrition food
products amounted to RMB668.2 million (2015: RMB757.0 million),
representing a decrease of 11.7% from last year. Sales revenue from other
products amounted to RMB72.7 million (2015: RMB12.7 million),
representing an increase of 472.4% from last year, which was mainly
derived from the base powder sold by the subsidiary Yashili New Zealand
Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Yashili New Zealand”) to Danone.

The decrease in the Group’s sales revenue was mainly due to: (1) the
accelerated shrinking of the modern and traditional channels compromised
the Group’s existing competitive advantages in these channels; (2) during
the year, the Group continued to deal with the sales model transformation
of the mother-and-baby store channel and the e-commerce channel
whereby the implementation and effect of the new marketing strategies
require time and cost input; (3) the Group stepped up its promotion efforts
in the year to cope with the intensified market competition; and (4) the
Group was proactively consolidating its product lines in response to the
impact brought by the registration law on infant formula, and such
consolidation affected the sales of some products to a certain extent.

During the first half of the year, the Group introduced an experienced
marketing management team which accelerated the integration process
and adopted proactive initiatives, including reinforcement of internal
marketing management, optimization of sales model, channels
transformation and continuous focus on targeted products. At the same
time, the Group also achieved progress in the integration of back office
management and supply chain of the Group. It is anticipated that the
effectiveness and benefits of such integration will be gradually realized
during the next two years.

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group recorded a gross profit
of RMB1,037.3 million (2015: RMB1,402.3 million), representing a decrease
of 26.0% from last year. The gross profit margin was 47.1%, representing
a decrease of 3.7%, which was due to more gift products offered during
the year.
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Selling and distribution expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group generated selling and
distribution expenses of RMB1,171.0 milion (2015: RMB1,320.3 million),
representing a decrease of 11.3% from last year.

The Group’s selling and distribution expense as a percentage of revenue
increased to 53.1% (2015: 47.8%), representing an increase of 5.3% from
last year. The increase was mainly due to the decrease in sales revenue
which is not matched by a parallel decrease in relatively fixed expenses
including staff cost and market expenses.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2016, administrative expenses amounted
to RMB389.6 million (2015: RMB207.9 million), representing an increase of
87.4% from last year, mainly attributable to the inclusion of the costs arising
from underutilized production capacity of our plants in New Zealand and
Shanxi during the year as well as employee layoff compensation paid by the
Company.

Net finance income

For the year ended 31 December 2016, net finance income amounted to
RMB111.4 million (2015: RMB163.1 million). The decrease in net finance
income of 31.7% was mainly attributable to the acquisition of Dumex China
in June and the decrease in overall interest rate during the year.

Income tax expense/(credit)

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the income tax credit of the Group
amounted to RMB12.4 million (2015: Income tax expenses amounted to
RMB4.5 million) and the effective income tax rate was 3.7% (2015:
3.7%). The decrease in income tax expenses was mainly attributable to
the Group’s tax loss for the current period.
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Inventory

As at 31 December 2016, the balance of inventory of the Group amounted
to RMB619.9 million (831 December 2015: RMB641.0 million), and the
decrease in inventory was mainly attributable to the decrease in the price of
raw milk powder and the Group’s strategic reduction of raw material
stockpile.

Other financial assets

As at 31 December 2016, other financial assets included wealth
management products of RMB477.0 million, which were principal
guaranteed and with anticipated annualized yields of 3.1% to 4.0% (31
December 2015: 2.6% to 4.0%).

Trade and bills receivables

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s trade and bills receivables amounted
to RMB161.4 million (31 December 2015: RMB71.8 million). The increase
in the balance was mainly due to the increase in direct sales stores in malls
and supermarkets and the corresponding increase in the credit limit
granted. In 2016, the trade receivables tumover days were 27 days (2015:
9 days), representing an increase of 18 days as compared to 2015, mainly
attributable to the contribution of higher turnover days of Dumex China
acquired in June to the Group’s turnover days for the current period.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (31
December 2015: nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s total future capital commitment was
RMB36.3 million (31 December 2015: RMB21.5 million) which is mainly
related to the infant formula registration rectification project and milk
powder production equipment.
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Provision for doubtful debts

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had provision for doubtful debts of
RMBO0.7 million (2015: RMBO0.4 million). The provision was made for
impaired receivables relating to customers that were in default or
delinquency of payments. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over such amounts. The Group regularly reviewed
aging of receivables and considered making provision based on a number
of factors such as whether the debtors encounter significant financial
difficulties, the probability that the debtor will file for bankruptcy or be
subject to financial reorganization, and the possibility of default or
delinquent payments.

Provision for impairment and disposal losses of
inventories

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s balance of provision for impairment
of inventories was RMB31.4 million (2015: nil). In addition, the Group also
recorded losses on disposal of inventory of RMB56.1 milion (2015:
RMB15.0 million) which were primarily due to the disposal of deteriorated
inventory and disposal of unused packaging materials.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2016, bank deposits with an aggregate value of
approximately RMB803.1 million (31 December 2015: RMB595.0 million)
were pledged by the Group to secure certain borrowings and issuance of
letter of credit.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Group amounted to
RMB-320.2 million, a 370.7% decrease compared to the preceding year.
The decrease was mainly due to the drop in sales revenue and the increase
in proportion of selling and distribution expenses.
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Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s liquidity, including cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits to be released within one year, long-term
fixed bank deposits and investment deposits, amounted to RMB3,302.9
million in total (831 December 2015: RMB4,311.9 million), representing a
decrease of 23.4%. The decrease was mainly due to the payment of
consideration for the acquisition of Dumex China during the year.

Operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s net cash inflow
generated from operating activities was RMB-477.2 million (2015:
RMB80.0 million). The decrease in net cash inflow generated from
operating activities was mainly attributed to the significant decrease in
revenue during the period.

Investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2016, net cash outflow used in investing
activities amounted to RMB366.9 million (2015: RMB1,726.7 million). The
decrease in cash outflow used in investing activities was mainly attributable
to the recovery of investing bank deposits upon maturity.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2016, net cash inflow generated from
financing activities amounted to RMB94.6 milion (2015: RMB2,711.7
million), mainly attributable to the RMB3,468.6 million received from the
issuance and allotment of subscription shares to Danone Asia and
repayments of interest-bearing bank loans of RMB1,009.5 million in 2015.
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Loans and borrowings

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s loans and borrowings amounted to
RMB1,143.1 million (31 December 2015: RMB461.7 million). The
annualised interest rate for comprehensive borrowings was 2.19% (31
December 2015: LIBOR+0.9%), including borrowings denominated in US
dollar and Hong Kong dollar with annualised interest rate at LIBOR+0.9%
and HIBOR+0.9% respectively, borrowings denominated in RMB with
interest rate at 3.915% and subsidized borrowings denominated in RMB
with interest rate at 1.47%. The above loans shall be repayable on demand
upon maturity. As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s gearing ratio, which
is calculated by total interest-bearing bank loan at year end divided by total
assets at year end, was 14.3% (31 December 2015: 6.0%).

Use of net proceeds from Initial Public Offering

The Company’s net proceeds from Initial Public Offering amounted to
approximately RMB1,965.8 million after deduction of relevant expenses.
The Company had applied these net proceeds as disclosed in the section
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus dated 30 October
2010. Therefore, the use of net proceeds as of 31 December 2016 is set
out as below:
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Human Resources

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a total of 3,711 full-time
employees (31 December 2015: 4,641). The total staff cost for the year was
approximately RMB560.1 million (2015: RMB442.6 million).

In 2016, the human resources management center closely centered around
the five-year strategic plan and the must-win battles for 2016 to carry out
work in the following aspects:

In terms of organizational changes, in early 2016, the Company restructured
the “sales divisional structure” into 3+1 “marketing divisional structure”.
Afterwards, in order to promote product upgrading and channel
transformation and to motivate the teams via mechanism, the Group began
to explore the CBU business model based on product channels and
product categories, and introduced the marketing structure consisting of
four CBUs by the end of 2016 to provide a strong organizational guarantee
for quickly responding to market changes. In order to increase
organizational synergy and achieve economy of scale, in the middle of
2016, the Company integrated the production, procurement, planning,
logistics and quality functions of Yashili, Oushi Mengniu and Dumex China
to realize whole supply chain management. At the end of the year, the
Group optimized the organization and staffing of the functional back-offices
of the above three companies, and initially completed the integration of their
background functions.

In terms of talent management, in order to guarantee talent supply after the
integration and the Group’s sound development in the future, the Company
actively carried out a series of talent and organizational development
projects, such as identifying high-potential personnel through talent
filtration, and developed a program for succession of key positions, thus
providing support for future business development with talent reserves.
While vigorously attracting new talent for the marketing team through
campus recruitment, the Group organized a series of online and offline
training programs such as mother-and-baby-store training camp and
shopping guide training, laying a sound foundation for the organization
capacity of the Group especially the marketing team.
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In terms of cultural construction, the Company developed new corporate
vision, mission and core values at the beginning of the year. The human
resources management center carried out a series of cultural construction
activities to promote new corporate culture, including senior management
workshops in each quarter, “corporate culture workshops” for all the staff,
cross-department trainings and a number of corporate cultural activities
centering around the four values of “Integrity, Innovation, Passion and
Openness”. These activities effectively created cultural cohesion of
personnel.

In terms of construction of human resource basis, the human resources
management center gradually integrated the human resources management
systems of Yashili, Oushi Mengniu and Dumex China, basically standardized
labor contract management, human resources outsourcing management,
position ranking system, salary system and welfare system, and conducted
effective collaboration and resource sharing in recruitment and training. The
new human resources information system is also under construction. A
well-established and uniform human resources management system
promotes internal fairess to a certain extent, and more importantly,
promotes the Company’s consolidation and integration.

Social Responsibility

In 2016, the Group made persistent efforts in social welfare activities and
extensively spread the care of “Firefly Campaign”.

On Mother’s Day in May, the Group carried out the “Riding with Care on
Mothers’ Day” activity in Guangzhou to satisfy many mothers’ travel needs
by escorting them home for free from four hospitals, namely Guangzhou
Women and Children’s Medical Center, Guangzhou Children’s Hospital,
Guangzhou Woman and Baby Hospital and Guangdong Woman and Child
Health Institute. The activity lasted for 8 hours and offered a total of 281
trips to shuttle mother home, sending more than 1,000 mothers the
warmest festival greetings.

In June, as sponsor of Lang Lang’s solo recital in New Zealand, Yashili
donated 100 concert tickets to “HeartKids” for fundraising charity sale. In
addition, Yashili donated at least 200 cans of Yashily “Super «-Golden”
milk powder to the families of “HeartKids” on a monthly basis to satisfy the
milk powder needs of families with children diagnosed with congenital heart
disease.
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In September, Yashili donated food to children in an effort to contribute to
“Droplets New Special Foundation”. In the same month, “Droplets” turned
to Yashili for help, stating that the children covered by their programs were
in urgent need of food and they hoped that Yashili could offer help to them.
Yashili, who has long been an enthusiastic public-welfare contributor, took
immediate action to satisfy the foundation’s urgent needs by allocating 46
cartons of milk powder (276 cans) thereto.

In November, Yashili New Zealand received the title of “Charity
Ambassador” at the first anniversary of its opening. On 5 November, Yashili
New Zealand was granted the honorary title of “Charity Ambassador of the
Year” at the “Loving Heart” charity dinner which was hosted by Skykiwi.
com, the biggest Chinese website of New Zealand, and co-hosted by the
charity HeartKids and the Vision magazine. More than 300 guests were
present to show support for the event, including Zhan Yuhui, consul of
overseas Chinese affairs to Chinese Consulate General in Auckland, Zhang
Yu, news consul to Chinese Consulate General in Auckland, Dr. Yang Jian,
a member of the NZ National Party, Melissa Lee, a member of the NZ
National Party, and David Seymour, the leader of ACT New Zealand.

Besides, the Group cooperated with Information Times ({2 £.F5#R) to launch
the project of “Pay Attention to Troubled Children at the Frontline” in an
effort to show care for abandoned babies and those in lack of breast milk.
The Group intended to donate milk powder after discovering and confirming
their needs, so as to help them overcome difficulties and offer prompt and
timely care.

The Group worked with Chinese Red Cross Foundation to carry out free
distribution of over 12,000 cartons of infant formula (worth more than
RMB3 million) to the impoverished families in such places as Sishui and
Qufu of Shandong, which basically covered the locals precisely targeted by
national poverty relief programs and helped the infants of over 2,000 poor
families in 48 townships, thereby providing strong guarantee for the healthy
growth of infants from local poor families.

While vigorously developing domestic dairy business, Yashili has never
forgotten to give back to society as it plays an active role in public welfare
undertakings in a drive to carry forward the spirit of China’s dairy industry.
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Public Relations and Crisis Management

The Group maintains active and effective publicity means and
communicates relevant information to external parties in an open and
transparent manner. The Group also maintains good communication with
all publicity departments and institutions, publishes the Company’s latest
information on a timely basis, and takes an active part in various social
welfare and charitable activities.

The Group has developed a complete set of crisis management systems
and response mechanisms, and addresses complaints from consumers
and issues of the media’s concern via its crisis management center in a
timely and accurate manner. Meanwhile, the Group is highly concerned
with potential problems reflected by the market, and provides good
services for consumers in advance to prevent the occurrence of crisis. The
Group has established a news center to pay close attention to the trends
and news of the industry and monitor public opinions, in order to make
timely response to any incidents in the industry. The Group eliminates
negative impacts and maintains a good reputation in the industry through
effective communication and disclosure of information to the public and the
media.

Investor Relations

The Group believes that effective communication with shareholders,
investors and prospective investors is essential for enhancing investor
relations and enabling investors to understand the business performance
and strategies of the Group. The Group conducts communication and
exchanges with investors through various channels and means such as on-
site receptions, telephone conferences, non-deal roadshows and
investment summits of securities companies.

To facilitate effective communication, the Group has set up a website (www.
yashili.nk) to post the latest information on its financial information,
corporate governance practices and other data available for public
inspection.
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Future Prospect

Policy Implications

Recipe Registration Requirement officially came into force on 1 October
2016, which will have profound impacts on the industry. Recipe Registration
Requirement requires that each enterprise, in principle, must not have more
than three product series or nine product recipes. This policy is not to
simply require enterprises to reduce their number of recipes, but rather to
drive them to invest more in research and development and enhance
hardware and software management as well as recipe management, and to
steer dairy companies to focus more on quality of brand and product
operation, so as to benefit consumers by allowing them to make informed
shopping decisions. The implementation of the Recipe Registration
Requirement will heighten the entry barrier of infant formula industry, which
in turn will greatly clear away the chaos in recipes and brands, increase
brand and industry concentration, and lead to healthier market competition
environment. Large enterprises with national presence are likely to benefit
more from it and become stronger competitors in market shares, while
small enterprises and small brands will be phased out more rapidly. Year
2017 is expected to be the turning point for the infant formula industry.

On 8 April 2016, a policy on import of cross-border e-commerce retail
goods was issued. China offered a one-year grace period commencing
from 11 May 2016 for the relevant regulatory requirements on import of
cross-border e-commerce retail goods, which means that cosmetics, infant
formula, medical equipment and special food (including health food, formula
food for special medical use, etc.) will not be subject to the first import
license approval, registration or filing requirements until 11 May 2017. In
November 2016, the Ministry of Commerce issued an announcement to
extend the grace period to the end of 2017. In the long run, the new policy
will further standardize the cross-border e-commerce industry and is
expected to drive the industry to develop in a healthier and more orderly
manner.

In 2016, the first year of full implementation of China’s nationwide two-child
policy, the number of newborns during the year as high as 17.5 million is
still insufficient to restore the population pyramid. Official statistics show
that the number of newborns in 2016 increased by 5.7%, creating a
favorable footing for stabilizing market demands for infant formula milk
powder. As the nationwide two-child policy plays its role over time, the
third- and fourth-tier cities and townships with relatively low life stress are
likely to create a baby boom and boost local milk powder demands, which
will then shore up the sales of domestic milk powder brands with
competitive strength in the modern trade channel in these areas.

RERE

BREE

B A T4 B 72016 F10 A1 B IER /51T
HERMGEITEEEREFE - B 77 i: il
DRERECER ETSBASERA 59
BEMES  WBERWIFEEZRDERD
Bl 8= M EEMAERA
BEMHMEE MAERHFER 3/ EI Y
MEEENEIRERERELELEE BB
BEERBER ESHO EHIESHESE-
Bl s s B i BEHiGIRE 24 TR 3L
MITEHEAPIE BEH - REILRBEBERAKR
WE mMBETESPEE SR mi5
BERBEENMBREN  2EMEHREL
PEBERFZE KAMBNEEE NN
mEE MmN EDREMEDR 2017
FRERBEDTR T NDITESRT -

R2016F4A8H BHEEEHTEREOBE R
B 2016F5A1MAR AEHEBERERS
EHEONDEBUEEERE T —FHNBREL A
20175 AMMA 2R R ITE MG
BHOREFPH  BESW BFHRR(B1E
REBERD BHEZ2AREFIRAZ)NE
REOFFATHLAE - MR Bk 2016 F
MR BESBECELABRERE-—FTER
E0I7TFR-REXRE FHEHEERESY
TENE TSRS RSP HEERETES
MEMBE BEFOARAERE -

016F—TPHE2EEREE _JARRNE —
FoHAFTAHERTHSET,7508 @ BK
RTIBUNEEAN S FTE -BEHEEBER
2016 F FMERBEB/ LI NE7% B HEY
RRADHMBEREBERETERE -2/
ZRRIBER RS B W B B R R R
MG m R BENREEER—FHE
AD - RIREMPHF R BmEEEZE
WEFHBREZAERFELNALINNRIE
RISHE o



oy

WUk

HELFEREZERERATF

Wi

20165 F

39

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (conTiINUED)

B I8 2 5Y 5 B2 D T (@)

Industry Trend

China’s infant formula market takes on an increasingly consolidated trend,
featuring coexistence of domestic and overseas brands, integration of
online and offline channels, and a growing fleet of high-end products and
normalized prices. The entire infant formula industry is in a critical period for
reform and transformation.

With the implementation of Recipe Registration Requirement going further
in 2017, recipe approval and licensing will rapidly increase the industry
concentration and phase out a large number of unqualified brands, thus
quickly purging the industry. Those brands failing in recipe registration will
go for clearance sale, but distributors will choose brands for partnership
more prudently. Those brands that have national or even global presence,
sound brand strategy planning and channel strategy planning in advance
will enjoy more competitive advantages.

International brands are extending business channels to wider areas while
leveraging the advantages of their strong brands. Domestic brands are
drawing on their well-established channels, coupled with brand promotion
that well serves the national conditions, to gradually enhance their brand
images and consumer loyalty. The e-commerce channel is still dominated
by international brands, but such brands are undermined by market
disorder due to the lack of online and offline price control. Domestic brands
are still in the exploratory stage and need more efforts in exploring the
online and offline combination model for brand promotion.

The price increase of International raw milk powder will lead to general price
increases by enterprises. However, the hiking channel costs and brand
promotion costs will continue to squeeze profit margin of enterprises. With
the need for differentiated competition being further highlighted, high-end
functional products, organic infant formula and infant formula containing
pure goat milk protein will become new favorites of the market because of
their technical barriers and resource scarcity.
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Company Strategies

Brand strategies

In 2017, the Group’s brand strategies will be further upgraded. The Yashily
brand will focus on basic nutrition; Reeborne and Doraler are committed to
differentiated competition, with Reeborne going organic while Doraler
defining itself as a goat milk powder expert; Dumex is positioned to build up
a professional image and dedicated to discovering pediatric solutions; Arla
as a strategic brand of shareholders will highlight its privilege of serving
royal families. The Group will take 2-3 years to build up its differentiated
business model and brand network. While interacting with target consumer
groups through new media and offline brand promotion and services, the
Group will improve consumer experience and enhance customer loyalty
with strong channel-based promotion.

The Group’s overall brand strategy for 2017 is based upon Reeborne’s
model to conduct online brand communication and offline brand promotion
to approach mothers and ensure targeted spending of brand costs, so as
to generate cost effectiveness and achieve the dual goals for brand growth
and corporate profits. Meanwhile, the Group will leverage on Danone, Arla
and Yashili New Zealand to further strengthen its international brand image.
The Group will continue to carry out the research program on nutritional
composition of breast milk from eight major domestic cities, in an attempt
to showcase its ongoing effort in Chinese breast milk study via such public
welfare activity, and to convey its sense of social responsibility and care for
consumers, so as to enhance its brand reputation in an all-round manner.

Product R&D

The key task of the Group’s R&D management center is to smooth the
recipe registration of infant formula products, i.e. submit the scientific
development processes of safe and nutritional infant formula to China Food
and Drug Administration and actively coordinate with experts for the review
process, in an attempt to be among the first batch of enterprises to obtain
registration codes of infant formula products in China. In addition, the R&D
management center will continue to uphold the product innovation concept,
expand the Group’s product lines, and select foreign premium organic raw
materials to develop originally packaged imported organic infant formula,
organic maternal formula milk powder and organic whole milk powder, in
an effort to provide consumers with higher-quality products.
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The official implementation of Recipe Registration Requirement will also
speed up the reshuffle of domestic goat milk powder market and offer
development opportunities for new brands and well-established brands.
The Group will seize such opportunities to develop goat milk infant formula
products and enter the goat milk infant formula market, so as to expand its
product lines and create new driver for profit growth.

In 2017, the R&D management center will also put a lot of efforts in basic
nutrition research and apply for national funding on the key milk powder
technology task of the 13th Five-Year Plan to conduct basic research on
infant nutrition, so as to provide infant formula products with a more
scientific and rational nutrition mix.

Sales channels

In 2017, in response to the industry changes brought by the new policy on
milk powder, the Group will leverage on its strength in the established
global supply chain and multi-brand network, coupled with its newest CBU
business structure, to implement a series of combined strategies in channel
building.

The mother-and-baby-store CBU, which assumes the strategic objective of
brand upgrading and channel transformation, will distribute products of the
tactical brands and strategic brands to mother-and-baby chain stores to
achieve rapid and sustained growth. In order to expand the Group’s overall
market share, the tactical brands shall not compete with each other.
Nevertheless, overlapping between the strategic brands and tactical brands
is allowed to supplement each other against real competitors.

The modern trade CBU, which is responsible for tackling the long-formed
problem of “channel, product category and price decline”, will withdraw
from the chain stores with negative contribution, retain the KAs with profit
contribution, and vigorously expand to single mother-and-baby stores and
retail stores, in order to reduce channel costs. Low-margin products will be
drawn out of modern trade, and Mengniu’s high-margin adult milk powder
is proposed to enter modern trade with special shelves and special offer to
boost sales. Distribution of adult milk powder and dissolvable products to
retail stores will be increased, and there will be foretaste in school districts
and order-placing meetings prior to peak seasons. The upgraded products
and the introduction of new nutritional products will be able to cover the
growing channel costs and promotional costs, thus returning to the leading
position in competition.
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The high-end mother-and-baby-store CBU is positioned to regain Dumex’s
leadership as one of the top four foreign brands and help Arla stand out
among a long list of brands. This objective primarily relies on the downward
development of the sales channels of existing products (from first- and
second-tier cities to third- and fourth-tier cities), and requires strengthened
control over channels, introduction of system platform, targeted use of
costs, improved cost efficiency, and sound anti-goods-fleeing and price-
control management. Dumex and Arla will duplicate the superior channel
operation capacity of domestic brands, which, coupled with their strong
brand influence as foreign brands, can create strong competitive strength.

The innovation CBU is to expand community marketing, integrate internal
market resources and develop TP business to capture new consumers
based on the existing e-commerce network. On the basis of the booming
e-commerce sector, it will explore Internet-based new business models to
lay a foundation for developing the Group’s future business models.

The Scient Project Department adopts a new model featuring new business
development jointly by the brand business, distributors and sales teams.
With the Group focusing on brand operation and delegating channel
marketing to mother-and-baby chain distributors, it is believed that the dual
incentives of operating profit and dividend from shareholding will definitely
motivate the distributors to carry out better product operation.

Supply chain

In 2017, while maintaining safety and quality, the Group’s supply chain
management center will focus on cost reduction, integration of standards
and processes, and improvement of efficiency. These goals complement
and promote each other.

As for cost reduction, the Group will center on fine management to discover
cost mitigants while strictly controlling the budget expenditure. The Group
will control costs and reduce spending through cost control, project
management improvement and technical improvement.
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As for procurement, the Group will continue to increase the weight of
centralized procurement to reduce purchasing costs. With the SAP system
in operation and the procurement bidding system implemented, the
procurement management system and process will be improved to
enhance effectiveness and efficiency. As to raw material procurement, the
Group aims to unify 80% of the specifications. As to procurement of bulk
materials, the Group will draw on Mengniu’s strength in centralized
procurement and monitor market opportunities to lock purchase prices or
stock up, in order to avoid the impact of price fluctuations on the costs. As
to procurement of key materials, the Group will screen the suppliers and
select strategic suppliers, and carry out direct procurement from
manufacturers to establish long-term relations with suppliers. As to
procurement of packaging materials, the Group will conduct benchmarking
within the Group for 90% of the packaging materials and concentrate the
demands for materials with uniform specifications to organize procurement
bidding, so as to reduce costs and improve efficiency. The dissolvable
products will be shifted from self-production to outsourced production to
ensure their supply and reduce the complexity of non-strategic product
management. As to market procurement, the Group will screen the
suppliers considering their prices, services and quality, achieve 100%
centralized procurement for Yashili and slash more than 50% of suppliers,
in order to realize economy of scale of centralized procurement, motivate
suppliers, cut costs, improve services and reduce daily management costs.
As to fixed asset procurement and comprehensive procurement, the
Group’s priority is to set up and promote the working procedures for
comprehensive procurement and provide professional supplier sourcing,
bidding, price bargaining and contract services for various departments
with purchasing needs. The Group will conduct benchmarking to reduce
the items to be purchased and screen suppliers to eliminate 30% suppliers,
and optimize and share the supplier resources within the Group to reduce
purchasing and operating costs.

As for warehousing and logistics, the Group will select appropriate re-
distribution centers based on the sales concentration areas to improve the
overall distribution efficiency and reduce transportation costs. The logistics
service model and the existing carrier network will be optimized to improve
the capacity and efficiency of their support for business. The priority of
warehousing is inventory control. As for planning, the Group will strengthen
sales forecast and coordination between production and sales and set a
reasonable safety inventory for both products and raw materials, in order to
ensure the stability of inventory turnover days and reduce inventory costs.
By working with the procurement department to advance the VMI and JIT
projects, the Company’s inventory will be converted into suppliers’
inventory, thereby reducing the inventory level of raw and auxiliary materials
and packaging materials, lowering inventory costs, accelerating inventory
turnover, and improving the utilization of funds.
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Human resources
The human resources management center will support the Group to
stabilize sales and improve efficiency in the new year in multiple aspects.

Staffing to promote transformation. The Group will actively promote
the implementation of the marketing structure consisting of four
CBUs, facilitate the sustained and sound operation of the
consolidated organizations, strive to supply the right talents for the
Group under the new circumstances, increase the input of human
resources in key positions and key channels, and employ a distinctive
incentive system to promote business growth and reform. Meanwhile,
the Group will speed up the training of new personnel, implement a
tutor system, gradually improve the high-potential talent development
and training program, and promote the construction of learning
organizations, so as to guarantee adequate talent reserves in the
process of its transformation.

Optimize procedures to increase efficiency. In terms of organizational
structure, the Group has initially completed the restructuring of
marketing structure, supply chain and functional back-offices. In
2017, the Group will rely on the new organizational structure to
constantly conduct benchmarking between internal and external
organization, optimize personal allocation, reduce costs, perform
downsizing and streamline administration to build capable and
efficient teams. Meanwhile, the Group will review and improve the
distribution of powers and responsibilities and speed up
decentralization to improve the efficiency of business decision-
making.

Improve capabilities to support business growth. The Group will hold
strategy consensus meetings to strengthen the promotion of
strategies and improve the consensus on strategies, so as to unite all
personnel for cohesion. In 2017, the human resources management
center will focus training and development on fostering high-potential
talent, improving the capabilities of marketing teams and training new
employees, seeking to promote business development more
effectively.

Strengthen cultural construction to improve cohesion. The cultural
construction for 2017 will focus on two important values, i.e. “passion”
and “openness”. The Group will organize distinctive staff activities on
an annual and quarterly basis to better promote its corporate culture’s
core values, and continuously maintain communication and
exchanges with employees to strengthen the cultural characteristics
of Yashili Group, in an effort to improve cohesion with culture and
build a passionate team of officers and executives. Meanwhile, the
Group will set up, improve and implement culture-related rules, and
develop uniform culture and awareness, so as to foster corporate
culture featuring passion, teamwork and responsibility.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is dedicated to ensure high standards of corporate governance
with an emphasis on a diligent Board, sound internal control, and increasing
transparency and accountability to shareholders. The Board acknowledges
that good corporate governance practices and procedures are beneficial to
the Group and its shareholders.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31 December
2016, the Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), except that
certain director of the Company was unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 3 June 2016 due to other business
engagements.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and to
reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply with
statutory and professional standards and align with the latest development.

The Board of Directors

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the management and
conduct of the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performance and
is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. The directors make decisions
objectively in the interest of the Company. The Board has delegated to the
senior management the authority and responsibility for the daily
management and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has
established board committees and has delegated to these board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.
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All directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine members, consisting of four non-
executive directors, two executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2016 and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Board comprises the following directors:

Non-executive directors

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman) (appointed as the Chairman of the
Board, re-designated as a non-executive director and ceased to be the
Chief Executive Officer with effect from 15 September 2016)

Mr. Qin Peng

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Huang Xiaojun (appointed on 29 January 2016)

Mr. Wu Jingshui (resigned on 29 January 2016)

Ms. Sun Yiping (resigned on 15 September 2016)

Executive directors

Mr. Chopin Zhang (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 January 2017)

Mr. Hua Li (appointed as an executive director on 25 August 2016 and
as Chief Operating Officer on 1 January 2017)

Mr. Li Dongming (Vice President) (resigned on 25 August 2016)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from
time to time. The independent non-executive directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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The biographical information of the directors including relationships among
the members of the Board are set out under “Directors and Management
Biographies” on pages 67 to 73 of this Annual Report.

All directors, including the non-executive directors and the independent
non-executive directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Through active participation at board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of
interest and serving on board committees, all non-executive directors make
various contributions to the effective management of the Company.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”)

During the period between 1 January 2016 and 15 September 2016, the
positions of the Chairman of the Board and CEO were held by Ms. Sun
Yiping and Mr. Jeffrey Minfang Lu respectively. With effect from 15
September 2016, Ms. Sun Yiping resigned as non-executive director and
the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu was appointed as
the Chairman of the Board. Immediately following his appointment as the
Chairman of the Board, Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu ceased to be the CEO of
the Company. Mr. Chopin Zhang was appointed as an executive director
and the CEO of the Company with effect from 1 January 2017.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The CEO focuses on the
Company’s business development and daily management and operations
generally. The Board considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and
CEO respectively are clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof
are not necessary.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Board at all times met the
quallification of independent non-executive directors with at least one
independent non-executive director processing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise
under Rules 3.10 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all independent non-executive directors to be
independent.
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Non-Executive Directors

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election,
whereas CG Code provision A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment and that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

During the year ended 31 December 2016,

—  Mr. Wu Jingshui resigned as a non-executive director on 29 January
2016

—  Mr. Huang Xiaojun was appointed as a non-executive director on 29
January 2016

— Ms. Sun Yiping resigned as a non-executive director and the
Chairman of the Board with effect from 15 September 2016

—  Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu was re-designated as a non-executive director
with effect from 15 September 2016

Each of the non-executive directors of the Company is appointed for a
specific term of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation every
three years.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development of Directors

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction includes
visits to the Company’s key plant sites and meetings with senior
management of the Company.

Directors are required to keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for directors would be arranged and reading materials
on relevant topics will be provided to directors where appropriate. All
directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company organized a
training session conducted by legal adviser of the Company for all directors
on directors’ fiduciary duties. To summarize, the directors attended the
following seminar(s) and training session(s) and/or reviewed the following
training materials:
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Training topic(s) attended and/or
materials reviewed by
respective directors

BERESESER HEMH

Directors 2= EINEBER AP
Non-executive directors kHTES

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu® Bk EY (1][2]
Mr. Qin Peng =k AE (1]
Mr. Zhang Ping oK A& (1]
Mr. Huang Xiaojun® EEELEC (1]
Mr. Wu Jingshui® REKEED —
Ms. Sun Yiping® BHFEEzLO -
Executive directors BITES

Mr. Hua Li® EHEEY (1]
Mr. Li Dongming™ FRAALEE 2]
Independent non-executive directors BIUKHITES

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben R ks (11[4]
Mr. Cheng Shoutai B ARREE (1]
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway THEEE (1][3]

*

In addition, relevant reading materials including directors’ manual and seminar
handouts have been provided to the directors for their reference.
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Notes:

(1) Directors’ Fiduciary Duties and Obligations

) Fruitful Business Operation Simulation and Leading Successful Change

©)) New Auditor’s Report Standards

4) Guideline on the Continuing Obligations of the Issuer and its Directors

5) Re-designated as a non-executive director with effect from 15 September 2016
6) Appointed on 29 January 2016

(7) Resigned on 29 January 2016

8) Resigned on 15 September 2016

(©)] Appointed on 25 August 2016

(10)  Resigned on 25 August 2016

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision of all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular to those that may involve conflict of interest), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant financial and operational
matters.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to ensuring
that board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations are followed.
Each director is normally able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.
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Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All board
committees of the Company are established with defined written terms of
reference which are posted on the websites of the Company (www.yashili.
hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are available to
shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 8 October 2010 with revised
written terms of reference (adopted on 26 August 2015) in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. As at 31 December 2016, the Audit
Committee comprises two independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway (Chairman) and Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and one
non-executive director, namely Mr. Zhang Ping (including one independent
non-executive director who possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise).

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial information and reporting process, risk management and
internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope
of audit and appointment of external auditors, and making arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise issues in secret about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Audit Committee held three
meetings and reviewed the Group’s interim and annual financial results and
interim and annual reports, significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit functions, scope of work and
appointment of external auditors, connected transactions and arrangements
for employees to raise issues in secret about possible improprieties and re-
appointment of the external auditors. One of the meetings was attended by
the Audit Committee and the external auditors without the presence of
executive directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 8 October 2010. As at
31 December 2016, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
(Chairman), Mr. Cheng Shoutai and Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway and two
non-executive directors namely Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (replacing Ms. Sun
Yiping since 15 September 2016) and Mr. Qin Peng.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are set out in its
terms of reference. Its main duties are to evaluate and make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all directors and senior management of the Group; and
establish transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates will
participate in determining his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages as well as the
annual bonuses of the executive directors and the senior management
during the year ended 31 December 2016. In addition, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the remuneration level of the new directors, namely
Mr. Huang Xiaojun, Mr. Hua Li and Mr. Chopin Zhang, who were appointed
on 29 January 2016, 25 August 2016 and 1 January 2017 respectively.

The Remuneration Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31
December 2016.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 8 October 2010.
The Nomination Committee comprises one non-executive director namely
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman) (who replaced Ms. Sun Yiping with
effect from 15 September 2016), and two independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr. Cheng Shoutai.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are set out in its
terms of reference. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors,
making recommendations to the board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors.

FMEES

AKRAIER2010F10A8HE KL HME &
€ o R2016F12A31H FMEZESRKER
Bo2BUINTEEZ DRAEHELEE
(XEE) BIFALEERTBEEHLE UAEW
HIEMITE R EHNELE(E2016F915H
BESRFYLL)REEEE -

FHZBemBBERBERNERESE
N-HETZRAEAREAEEZREELS
REEEARANERTMERR MEBFEL
BRABEFEFHER  URRBYABZHE
MEEFUGITEREFTHBR LGRS BRE
FRECABBAYLESEITERNGHH
B -

FTHMEZEeE BN AR A M H BB LG
B URRTESLaRERERE E2016
FI2ANBILEFEAMNFTHSFBRFRIE
fotih HZEESEEBEH BIN20164F
1H29H 20168 A25H K&20174F1A1H
EZIMNTIESEETLE ENAER
3k F (Chopin Zhang) %t A& #9 & B 7K F -

REZE2016F12A3IBHIEFERN  HFMEE
SRITTHREE -

REEZES

AR A B R2010F510A8H K YRR £ B
T REZECRE—RBIFNTEZTERN
A (%) (B2016F9 A 15 B BEE RFE
ZE) UEMEBIFRATEZTEGE LA
MABSF R L -

REZBENBBLBERNEBRERLE
N-REZEENIZREEERIESS
MK EYRBTEBRERZEESEN
HEREF REFZERETFIRNESS
FHEZE UWARFRBLFATEENEL
1 o



T g

U

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
% =P ﬁ o (&)

In assessing the board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the board diversity policy, including
but not limited to business experience, skills, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations.

During the year ended 31 December 2016 and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the independence of independent non-
executive directors and considered the qualifications of retiring directors
standing for election at the annual general meeting held on 3 June 2016
and recommended the appointment of Mr. Hua Li and Mr. Chopin Zhang
as executive directors.

The Nomination Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31
December 2016.

Board Proceedings

Board practices and conduct of meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally
made available to the directors in advance. Notice of regular board
meetings is served to all the directors at least 14 days before the meeting.
For other board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least three days before each board
meeting or committee meeting to keep directors apprised of the latest
development and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make decisions. The Board and each director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management where necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular board meetings and
where necessary, other board and committee meetings, to advise on
business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of
the Company.

The Company’s memorandum and articles of association contain provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
quorum at the meetings for approving transactions in which such directors
or any of their associates have a material interest.
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The secretary of the mestings is responsible for taking and keeping minutes & %
of all board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally & 8
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time after each %

meeting and final versions are open for director’s inspection.

Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board held seven meetings during the year ended 31 December 2016.
The attendance records of each Director at board meetings, board
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committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during 12831 H It FER{Ty EE g% 2EE 5

the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out below: e KRR AT

Number of Attendance in Person/Number of Meeting(s)
BEHERE B RH
Extra-
Annual ordinary
Audit Remuneration Nomination General General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting™ Meeting®
BRAFT KRR35
Name of director EERR BExg EXZES FMEEE REZEES rxgn Ag®
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu' B &£ 7/7 — 1/ 1/1 11 1/2
Mr. Qin Peng =W kE 7/7 - 4/4 - 1/1 0/2
Mr. Zhang Ping ok 7/7 3/3 — — 11 0/2
Mr. Huang Xiaojun® EEEE £ AP 5/6 — - - 1/1 0/2
Mr. Wu Jingshui® BEKLEES 0/1 — — _ _ _
Ms. Sun Yiping® BEmLLY 5/6 — 3/3 3/3 0/1 0/1
Mr. Hua Li® ENEEY 2/2 - - - 0/1
Mr. Li Dongming® ZEBA AL 4O 4/5 _ _ _ 1/1 11
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben REWESE 777 3/3 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/2
Mr. Cheng Shoutai ESFREE 6/7 — 2/4 2/4 0/1 0/2
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway 2= & 31 5¢ 4 6/7 3/3 3/4 - 11 2/2
Notes: Bt =

(1) Appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the (1)
Remuneration Committee on 15 September 2016. One Remuneration Committee
meeting and one Nomination Committee meeting were held on or after 15

September 2016.

2) Appointed on 29 January 2016. Six board meetings, an annual general meeting )
and two extraordinary general meetings were held on or after 29 January 2016.

) Resigned on 29 January 2016. One board meeting was held on or before 29 (t©)]

January 2016.
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(4) Resigned on 15 September 2016. Six board meetings, three Remuneration
Committee meetings, three Nomination Committee meetings, an annual general
meeting and one extraordinary general meeting were held on or before 15
September 2016.

5) Appointed on 25 August 2016. Two board meetings and one extraordinary general
meeting were held on or after 25 August 2016.

(6) Resigned on 25 August 2016. Five board meetings, an annual general meeting and
one extraordinary general meeting were held on or before 25 August 2016.

(7) The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 3 June 2016.

8) The extraordinary general meetings were held on 19 May 2016 and 14 December
2016 respectively.

Apart from regular board meetings, an independent non-executive
directors’ meeting was also held without the presence of the executive
directors on 10 May 2016.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as the Group’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. All the directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) on no less exacting terms than the Model Code for
securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company. No incident of non-
compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was
noted by the Company.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of directors and senior management
of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the directors for the
year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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The details of the five individuals with highest emoluments are set out in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of the five members of the senior management fell within
the following bands:
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AB

2015

Below RMB1,000,000
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A F#1,000,0007T LA T~

A K #1,000,0007C & A K #2,000,0007T
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and Employee
Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this corporate governance report.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ responsibilities for financial reporting in
respect of financial statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, announcements
relating to disclosure of insider information and other disclosures required
under the Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.
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The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems, and that it has the responsibility to review their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that there will be
no material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The Board is the
highest decision-making authority for overall corporate risk management,
and is mainly responsible for performing the following risk management
duties.

During 2016, the Audit Committee reviewed whether or not the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company were effective
and adequate on behalf of the Board, submitted a report to the Board on a
proposed increase in the number of internal audit staff and established a
risk control committee composed of the members of the Board and the
department heads of the Group pursuant to the guidelines of the Listing
Rules. By establishing a comprehensive risk management organizational
system, the Group carried out risk management effectively, decision-
making clearly, execution, supervision and other risk management
responsibilities, having formed a scientific and effective system with division
of duties and set up three lines of defense for risk management. The first
line of defense consisted of the centres, marketing and sales affairs
divisions and factories directly in charge of each of risk management; the
second line of defense comprised the risk and internal control management
committee and the risk management division of the audit centre in charge
of the overall planning and supervising of risk management; and the third
line of defense composed of the Audit Committee and the internal audit
division of the audit centre in charge of verifying risk management.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee is the
supervisory and evaluation office of risk and internal control management,
which guides and supervises the Group in carrying out risk management.
The risk and internal control management committee as a committee
established under the Audit Committee is the highest coordination and
business affairs office for risk management. The committee is composed of
the first officials in charge of various centres, marketing and sales affairs
divisions and factories, and chaired by the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. The risk management division is directly under the audit centre of
the Group, reporting to the head of the audit centre. As the centralized
management department of the Group’s risk management, the risk
management division is responsible for the Company’s day-to-day
arrangement, coordination, supervision, analysis and reporting of risk
management.

The risk management division has developed a “Risk Management
Workflow”, which divides the workflow into five major sections, namely ()
risk identification, (Il) risk assessment, (lll) risk response, (IV) risk monitoring
and (V) risk management reporting, and clarifies and unifies the workflow
trend of risk management as well as the roles and functions of relevant
departments, implementation steps and so on. To regulate the system and
set out unified management requirements for workflow execution, the
department has specifically set out work requirements for each section of
the workflow as follows:

() Risk identification

Risk identification is the first step and the basis for risk management.
It refers to the process of analyzing and discovering, by the staff in
each business area and at each level of the Company, the potential
factors that may impact on the achievement of business objectives.
The Group may take the initiative to select appropriate, effective ways
to cope with and handle risks only if it is able to identify its own risks
comprehensively and correctly.
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The Group’s risk identification is carried out in two main lines. The first
one is a routine check on risk identification arranged and initiated by
the risk management division once a year, and the second one is a
temporary risk identification initiated by each of the centres, marketing
and sales affair divisions and factories in line with the management
needs. The job requirements for risk identification are as follows:

(1)

Time of risk identification: the Group will initiate routine risk
identification for the coming year in the fourth quarter of each
year. The risk management division will issue the relevant notice
and collect internal and external information (such as changes
in China’s relevant policies or industry regulatory requirements,
Company’s strategic and operational objectives for the current
period as well as major findings on the risk management and
internal audit supervision for the previous year) for the
preparation of annual risk alerts;

Scope of risk identification: there are inherent risks in
conducting any business activities: all the centres, marketing
and sales affairs divisions and factories are required to organize
risk identification on a unified basis according to the required
dates of starting and ending the risk identification as notified by
the risk management division. Management staff and risk
counterpart staff at each level are the main organizers of risk
identification and are required to boost the risk management
awareness among all staff internally and to comprehensively
identify various internal and external risks which impact on the
achievement of objectives;

Areas of risk identification: in commencing a risk identification
process, each centre, marketing and sales affairs division and
factory are required to sort out and collect risks
comprehensively and systematically in line with the Group’s risk
management framework which consists of seven dimensional
areas including strategy, market, finance, operations, law and
compliance, quality and food safety as well as sustainable
development, taking into account the factors that impact on the
achievement of the Company’s business objectives;

Principle of risk identification: it is necessary to follow the three
basic principles including comprehensiveness, systematicness
and continuity;
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Method of risk identification: employ the risk identification
methods commonly used by enterprises as well as a variety of
ways and methods to collect a wide range of risks associated
with the Group’s business areas;

Summarizing and submitting findings on risk identification: risk
counterpart staff of each centre, marketing and sales affairs
division and factory are required to describe each risk identified
strictly in accordance with the Company’s common risk
language and compile a list of risks identified at the centre/
marketing and sales division/factory level which, after being
verified and confirmed by the centre, marketing and sales
division and factory manager, shall be submitted by the risk
counterpart staff of centre, marketing and sales affairs division
and factory to the risk management division of the Group’s
audit centre;

Organization of risk seminars: specifically for the findings on risk
identification submitted by each centre, marketing and sales
affairs division and factory, the risk management division is
required to sort out the differences regarding the unclearly
defined leading role in risk management and incomplete
description of risks;

Establishment and improvement of the risk database: the risk
management division is required to establish and improve the
risk database of the Group as an essential basis for risk
management based on the findings on risk identification
submitted by each centre, marketing and sales division and
factory annually;

Other requirements: in addition to the routine risk identification
carried out by the Group each year, the centres, marketing and
sales affairs divisions and factories are required to carry out
temporary risk identification in line with their own internal actual
situations. The workflow and methods shall be carried out with
reference to the above criteria.
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Risk assessment

Risk assessment refers to the risk assessment conducted on the
basis of the possibility of occurrence and the degree of impact of a
risk. In particular, possibility refers to the probability of occurrence of
a risk, and the degree of impact means the degree of impact of the
occurrence of a risk created on the target. The scope of impact
covers daily operations, laws and regulations, financial loss, food
hygiene and safety, environmental protection, corporate reputation
and so on. By comparing various risks, the significant risks are
arranged, and the priority to manage these risks in chronological
order and the strategies to cope with them are determined initially.
The specific job requirements include:

(1) the cycle of a risk assessment (conduct regularly once a year);

(2) carry out a risk assessment at different levels;

(8) assess and identify significant risks at different levels;

(4)  build up a team of risk assessment experts;

(5)  set risk score weight across centres/marketing and sales affairs
divisions/factories.

Risk response

Risk response refers to the strategies and plans determined by each
level of the management for responding to risks in line with the
Company’s own conditions and the external environment, with a
focus on the management intent determined in the Company’s
development strategy upon assessment of the relevant risks. Risk
response shall take into account the growth objectives and the
balance between risk and opportunity, and focus on emphasized
management of and response to significant risks at each level. The
specific workflow includes:

(1)  to determine the main unit in charge of the Group’s significant
risks;

to make preparations for responding and notifying to risk;

to develop strategies for analyzing and responding to risks;

to execute and modify measures for responding to risks.
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(IV) Risk monitoring (P9) = B BE 2=
Risk monitoring is a mechanism or method used by the management ﬁ EXEREREEARER BRE
to understand and determine whether risk management is functioning K B I{E E‘E YT AN R BR 3 /9 1 B

BOBRREPRE AR REERAH
%MH& = — 8 5 5 E R B 12 5

continuously and effectively under the changing internal and external
environment. It is a continuous process aimed at evaluating the

effectiveness of risk control, detecting control deficiencies and making B BRI BrE - W REEITH
improvement in a timely manner. The specific work requirements are ERNEEBARE AR TEERkWOT
as follows:

(1)  Division of duties in risk monitoring: significant risks at Group
level are monitored by the risk management division throughout
the process. The risk management division conducts random
checks while significant risks of centre/marketing and sales
affairs division/factory level are monitored by the risk counterpart
staff of the centres/marketing and sales divisions/factories
throughout the process;

(2)  Frequency of risk monitoring: significant risks at Group level are
monitored quarterly, while significant risks at centre/marketing
and sales affairs division/factory level are monitored quarterly or
monthly by the centres/marketing and sales affairs divisions/
factories on a selective basis;

(8) Particulars of risk monitoring: risk monitoring covers the
implementation and effectiveness of strategies for responding
to significant risks at each level as well as the monitoring and
early warning of significant risk events and related risk
information within the industry.

Risk management reporting

Risk management reporting includes the report submitted to the
superior risk management division annually as well as the information
and communication details generated in each part of the process of
carrying out risk management. The specific requirements for risk
management reporting are as follows:

(1) Risk management reporting to the Audit Committee: report at
least once a year, as required by the Audit Committee;

(2)  Reporting to the risk and internal control committee: report at
least twice a year, as required by the risk and internal control
committee;
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Other risk management forms and reports: while the risk
management system and workflow (refers to risk identification,
assessment, response and monitoring) are being carried out,
the centres/marketing and sales affairs divisions/factories shall,
as required by the risk management division, submit all kinds of
process management form and information report in a timely
and quality manner to ensure that the Group’s risk management
information is communicated and reported smoothly.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

External Auditors and Auditors’ Remuneration

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditors’ Report” on pages 102 to 108 of this Annual Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s auditors, Ermnst & Young, Certified Public Accountants,
are set out below:
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Fee paid/payable

Category of services PR 75 38 Bl e ENER
RMB’000

AREF T

Annual audit service FEEZRS 2,260
Interim review services Fh B2 B AR 15 380
Other assurance services HmEER 550
3,190

Other assurance services provided by Ernst & Young during the year ended
31 December 2016 mainly include the special audit in relation to the
acquisition of Dumex China.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Li Yuejin and Ms. Ho Siu Pik are the joint company secretaries of the
Company following the appointment of Mr. Li Yuejin as the company
secretary on 11 October 2016. Ms. Ho Siu Pik is a director of the Corporate
Services Department of Tricor Services Limited and is not an employee of
the Company, Ms. Ho Siu Pik will contact the management of the Company
and report to the board chairman and/or the chief executive through Mr. Li
Yuejin, Mr. Eric Fang or Ms. Gigi Zheng of Investment Management
Division, when necessary. Both Mr. Li Yuejin and Ms. Ho Siu Pik have
confirmed that each of them has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional trainings during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Communication with Shareholders and
Investor Relations

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman of
the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Audit Committee or, in their absence, other members of
the respective committees, are available to answer shareholders’ questions
at general meetings.

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman of the
board of directors should attend the annual general meeting (“AGM”). Ms.
Sun Yiping, the former Chairman of the Board of the Company, was unable
to attend the AGM of the Company held on 3 June 2016 due to other
business engagements. Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben, an independent non-
executive director, chairman of Remuneration Committee and a member of
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, acted as the chairman of the
AGM of the Company held on 3 June 2016.

The Company has not made any changes to its memorandum and articles
of association in the year of 2016. The Company’s memorandum and
articles of association is available on the websites of the Company (www.
yashili.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(www.yashili.hk), where up-to-date information and updates on the
Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each separate substantial issue at general meetings, including
the election of directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for
election as a director are available on the Company’s website (www.yashili.
hk).

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposal at General Meeting

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that any one or
more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of
the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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A shareholder may lodge a notice of his intention to propose any person (other
than himself/herself) for election as a director together with a notice signed
by the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be elected to the
head office of the Company or at the register of members of the Company
for the relevant general meeting provided that the minimum length of the
period, during which such notice(s) are given shall be at least 7 days and
that (if the notices are submitted after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgment of
such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the despatch of the notice
of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than 7
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

Other than the above concerning a proposal of a person for election as a
director, shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene
an extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such written
requisition.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the Company:

Address: 13/F Nova Tower
No. 185 Yuexiu Road South
Yuexiu District, Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province
the PRC

Tel: +86-20-37795190

Fax: +852 2845 1231

Email: ir@yashili.cn

Contact person: Mr. Eric Fang

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as
the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu

Aged 48, was appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Board on 15 September 2016, and was
redesignated as a non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Lu is also an
authorized representative of the Company. Mr. Lu was a director for each
of the following subsidiaries of the Company, namely Yashili International
Ltd., Yashili International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong International
Co., Limited and Scient International Group Limited from 27 April 2015 to 9
January 2017. Mr. Lu is currently an executive director and the CEO of
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (@ company listed on the main
board of Stock Exchange, stock code: 2319 (“Mengniu Dairy”) and a
controlling shareholder of the Company). Mr. Lu was the Vice President
(Greater China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China and had been
with the Danone Group and Dumex China for over 10 years. During the
tenure at the Danone Group, he demonstrated strong strategic business
and market planning capabilities. With strong leadership, management skills
and in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr. Lu contributed significantly to the
success of the Danone Group’s baby nutrition business in China. Prior to
joining the Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9 years with Johnson & Johnson
(China) Company Limited and almost 4 years with General Electric
Company (China). Mr. Lu has over 18 years of experience in sales and
marketing and has been serving in general manager or executive level roles
for over 7 years. He has extensive experience in the management of fast-
moving consumer products and dairy companies and has an excellent
grasp and the in-depth knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained his
Bachelor’s degree from Shanghai Fudan University.

Mr. Qin Peng

Aged 61, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company and a
member of the Remuneration Committee on 27 April 2015 and 5 June
2015 respectively. Mr. Qin has been appointed as the Chairman of China
division of the Danone Group since 2007, and has a deep knowledge and
understanding of international and Chinese business and culture. Mr. Qin
joined the Danone Group in 1983. Mr. Qin was appointed as the vice
president of the China Operation division of the Danone Group from 1997
to 2006 and as the vice president of the Corporate Development division of
the Danone Group in Asia Pacific from 1995 to 1996. Mr. Qin served as the
general manager of Amoy Foods Limited in Hong Kong from 1991 to 1994
and as the general manager of Guangzhou Danone Yoghurt Company
Limited from 1988 to 1990. Mr. Qin was engaged in Danone’s marketing
and sales operations in France when he joined the Danone Group and has
moved to Asia since 1988. Mr. Qin graduated from the Rene Descartes
University with a bachelor’s degree and from the Paris Institute of Political
Sciences with a master degree.
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Mr. Zhang Ping

Aged 52, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company and
a member of the Audit Committee on 27 April 2015. He is also a director of
Yashili International Group Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, since 27
April 2015. Mr. Zhang joined Mengniu Group in 2014 and is currently the
Chief Financial Officer of Mengniu Dairy. He has over 24 years of experience
in the industry of fast-moving consumer goods, specializing in the
management of operation, finance and audit as well as risk control. Mr.
Zhang successively worked as the manager of internal audit and system
development, finance director in Swire Beverages Co., Ltd., general
manager of its bottler manufacturing company and chief executive officer in
Coca-Cola Bottler Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang graduated
from Beijing Information Science and Technology University with a Master
degree in management engineering.

Mr. Zhang has also been a non-executive director of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1117) since 22 March 2016.

Mr. Huang Xiaojun

Aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 29
January 2016. Mr. Huang was also appointed as a director of Yashili
International Group Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, on 29 January
2016. Mr. Huang received his Bachelor’'s degree from Fudan University,
majoring in International Economic Law, and his LL.M. degrees from
Hitotsubashi University in Japan and Columbia University Law School in the
United States. From 1997 to 1999, he worked in the legal department of a
Chinese local governmental authority, responsible for reviewing
administrational punishment documentation and other legal matters. From
2001 to 2002, he served in the legal department of the headquarters of
Minolta Co., Ltd. in Osaka. He worked in Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe’s
Beijing, New York and Tokyo offices from 2002 to 2010, mainly focusing on
M&A, IPO, VC/PE investment, foreign direct investment, employment and
other corporate matters. From 2010 to 2014, Mr. Huang worked in Broad
& Bright Law Firm and AllBright Law Offices as partner providing long-term
services to clients such as Siemens. In November 2014, Mr. Huang joined
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia
Mengniu”) as senior legal director. Mr. Huang speaks Chinese, English and
Japanese.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Chopin Zhang

Aged 52, was appointed as the CEO and an executive director of the
Company on 1 January 2017. Mr. Zhang is also a director for each of the
following subsidiaries of the Company, namely Yashili International Ltd.,
Yashili International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong International Co.,
Limited and Scient International Group Limited since 10 January 2017. Mr.
Zhang has over 30 years’ experience in production and supply chain
management and has extensive management experience in the food and
beverage industry. Mr. Zhang served as the chief executive officer of Food
Union (China) Co., Ltd. from August 2015 to December 2016 and devoted
to the establishment and development of Food Union’s business in China.
Food Union is a global manufacturer of dairy products and ice cream. Prior
to joining Food Union, Mr. Zhang served as the operation director of Dumex
China from March 2010 to July 2015 and was responsible for the operation,
supply chain and procurement of Dumex China, and has made important
contribution to the development of Dumex China’s business. Prior to joining
Dumex China, Mr. Zhang held positions in a number of famous multinational
corporations, including serving as the supply chain director (Greater China)
of Starbucks and the General Manager of Starbucks China Trading
Company, and holding various positions with Owens Coring (a global
leader in the development and production of construction materials and
fiberglass composites), Nike (leading global sports brand), Johnson &
Johnson (the world’s leading manufacturer of medical devices,
pharmaceutical and consumer healthcare products) and American
Standard (the world’s leading manufacturer of bath and kitchen products),
specializing in production and supply chain consolidation and management.
Mr. Zhang obtained his Bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering from
Shanghai Medical Instruments College and his Master degree of Business
Administration from Maastricht School of Management in the Netherlands.

Mr. Hua Li

Aged 40, was appointed as an executive director and the authorized
representative of the Company on 25 August 2016. He is also a director for
each of the following subsidiaries of the Company, namely Yashili
International Ltd., Yashili International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong
International Co., Limited and Scient International Group Limited since 25
August 2016. With effect from 1 January 2017, he was appointed as the
Chief Operating Officer of the Company. Mr. Hua received his Bachelor’'s
degree from Sichuan Economic Management Institute (now renamed as
Xihua University), majored in Marketing. From August 1997, he served as
the manager of the Chengdu Branch of Shanghai McCormick Foods Co.,
Ltd. From September 2002 to August 2004, he served as the manager of
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the marketing department of New Hope Dairy Holdings Co., Ltd., and was
re-designated as the marketing director of Suzhou Tianxiang Dairy Co., Ltd.
in August 2003. From August 2004 to January 2007, he served as the
regional marketing manager of the liquid milk department and the national
supervising manager of the marketing department of Inner Mongolia Yili
Industrial Group Co., Ltd.. From January 2007 to October 2008, he served
as the director of the marketing department of Suzhou Su Ayi Foods Co.,
Ltd.. From November 2008 to September 2013, he served as a deputy
general manager of the milk powder business department of Yashili
International Group Limited. From September 2013, he served as the
general manager of the milkk powder segment of Mengniu Dairy (i.e. Oushi
Mengniu). From 1 January 2016, he has been serving as the general
manager of the sales department of the Company as well as the general
manager of the sales departments of Oushi Mengniu and Scient. He has
been serving as the Vice President of the Company responsible for sales
and marketing from 24 August 2016 till now.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of
each of the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee on 15
November 2013. Mr. Mok was appointed as an executive director of Max
Sun Enterprises Ltd. in Hong Kong since 2013 and served as a senior
consultant for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited in 2012. Mr. Mok had
served as a general manager of Beijing Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. from
2002 to 2011. From 1993 to 2001, he was a general manager of Hangzhou
BC Foods Company Limited and Nanjing BC Foods Company Limited. Mr.
Mok also served as the general manager of Swire Beverages Limited
responsible for overseeing bottling plant of Swire Beverages Limited in
China. Mr. Mok was awarded a Bachelor's degree of Economics from
McGill University, Canada in 1975.
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Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee on 15 November 2013. Mr. Cheng is a qualified
lawyer of the People’s Republic of China, the chief partner and director of
Tahota Law Firm, a law firm based in China. Mr. Cheng also serves as a
director of the All China Lawyers Association (FH 32 B2 &IEE), an
arbitrator of the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (CIETAC) (FRIBIBR&EE SHREZES(FEE), a vice
president of Sichuan Province Lawyers Association (PU)|| & 282 Ele &)
and a legal advisor of the People’s Government of Sichuan Province. Mr.
Cheng holds a Doctorate’s degree in civil and commercial law from
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics. Mr. Cheng is honored
with the titles of National Outstanding Lawyer, Chambers Asia-Pacific
Asia’s Leading Lawyer for Business (#2111 HT 35 A @ 4E H pE 7542 EM), Top
Ten Influential Lawyers of Asia Legal Business (ALB) (SEiM &/24E:E). He
has been nominated for the Best Managing Partners of the Year of ALB for
two times and was one of the Fangyuan Top Ten Elite Lawyers of the Year
as well as the First Session of Top Ten Outstanding Lawyers Graduated
from Southwest University of Political Science and Law.

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 27 November 2013. Mr. Lee has over 30
years of experience in public accounting and auditing, corporate finance,
merger and acquisition and initial public offerings. Mr. Lee served at Emst &
Young from September 1980 to September 2009. Mr. Lee was a partner of
Ermnst & Young and held key leadership positions in the development of
Ernst & Young in China. Mr. Lee is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in Australia and New Zealand, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants respectively. Since
2007, Mr. Lee has been a member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Hunan Province.

Mr. Lee is an independent non-executive director of Chaowei Power
Holdings Limited (stock code: 951), China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (stock
code: 1117), China Greenland Rundong Auto Group Limited (stock code:
1365), GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451), GOME
Electrical Appliances Holdings Limited (stock code: 493), NVC Lighting
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Holding Limited (stock code: 2222), Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (formerly
known as Tibet 5100 Water Resources Holdings Ltd.) (stock code: 1115),
West China Cement Limited (stock code: 2233) and WH Group Limited (stock
code: 288) (the above companies are all listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange). From July 2014 to September 2015, Mr. Lee also served
as a non-executive director of China Environmental Technology and
Bioenergy Holdings Limited (formerly known as Merry Garden Holdings
Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1237). From November 2011 to May 2016, Mr. Lee was also an
independent non-executive director of CITIC Securities Company Limited (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6030) as well as the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600030)). Mr. Lee was an
independent non-executive director of China Taiping Insurance Holdings
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 966) from October 2009 to August 2013. Mr. Lee
was an independent non-executive director of Sino Vanadium Inc. (a
company which was delisted on the TSX Venture Exchange in December
2011, stock code: SVX) from September 2009 to December 2011.

Mr. Lee graduated from Kingston University (formerly known as Kingston
Polytechnic) in London with a Bachelor’s degree in Arts in July 1980 and
further obtained his postgraduate diploma in business from Curtin University
of Technology in Australia in February 1988.

Senior Management

Ms. Wen Jieping

Aged 40, is the chief financial officer and the general manager of the
financial management center of the Company. Ms. Wen joined the Group in
May 2011 and is primarily responsible for the internal financial control and
overseas investment projects. Prior to this, Ms. Wen was the department
head and a senior manager of the audit department of KPMG (Guangzhou
office). She obtained her dual Bachelor’'s degree in International Commerce
English and Accounting from Guangdong University of Foreign Studies and
her Executive Master of Business Administration degree from Sun Yat-sen
University. Ms. Wen is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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Ms. Ho Siu Pik

Ms. Ho Siu Pik was appointed as the joint company secretary of the
Company on 20 June 2012. Following the resignation of Mr. Wu Xiaonan
as the joint company secretary, Ms. Ho has become the sole company
secretary of the Company since 25 March 2014. Ms. Ho, is a director,
Corporate Services of Tricor Services Limited (“Tricor”), a global
professional services provider specializing in integrated Business, Corporate
and Investor Services. Ms. Ho has over 20 years of experience in the
corporate secretarial field and has been providing professional corporate
services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as multinational, private
and offshore companies. Ms. Ho is a Chartered Secretary and a Fellow
member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (“HKICS”)
and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United
Kingdom. Ms. Ho is a holder of the Practitioner's Endorsement from
HKICS.

Mr. Li Yuejin

Aged 30, was appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company
on 11 October 2016. Mr. Li graduated from Norwegian University of
Science and Technology (NTNU) with a Master of Science degree. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Li had worked in the Norwegian Academy of
Science (Det Kongelige Norske Videnskabers Selskab), Alliance PKU
Management Consultants Ltd. (b A#4tiEEIE4:H%EE), and had held
various positions including junior researcher, senior advisory consultant and
project manager. Mr. Li joined the Group in 2014 and has served as
strategic manager and deputy investment director of Yashili International
Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd. (HE+FIEERLHREERERAT), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Li is currently the
secretary of the Board and is the person-in-charge of the Company’s
Department of Strategic Investment, responsible for matters such as Board
and general meeting affairs, investor relations, information disclosure,
governance framework and asset restructuring as well as equity investment.
Over the years, Mr. Li has been closely involved in various transactions of
the Company, thereby acquiring a sound understanding of the Listing Rules
and other laws and regulations applicable to the Company and also gaining
rich experience in related areas.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2016.

Business Review and Performance

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year under review and a discussion on the
Group’s future business development and outlook of the Company’s
business, possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing
and important events affecting the Company occurred during the year
ended 31 December 2016 are provided in the “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 14 to 44 of this annual report. An account of the
Company’s relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
paragraphs headed “Emolument Policy”, “Retirement Benefits Schemes”
and “Major Customers and Suppliers” of this Directors’ Report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31
December 2016 using financial performance indicators is provided in the
section headed “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” on pages 14 to
44 of this annual report.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance by reference
to environmental and social related policies, as well as compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Company will be provided in the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” which will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.yashili.hk) and a printed copy
of the same will be despatched to the shareholders of the Company upon
request.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year under review.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the state
of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 218 of this Annual
Report.
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Final Dividends

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2016 (2015: RMBO0.75 cent per share).

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year under review
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to
approximately RMB5,301.3 million, which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and
when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Charitable Donations

Donations made by the Group during the year under review amounted to
approximately RMB4.46 million.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group held property, plant
and equipment of approximately RMB1,788.66 milion. Movements in
property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2016 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2016
and during the period from the end of the year of 2016 to the date of this
annual report were:

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman)"”
Ms. Sun Yiping®

Mr. Qin Peng

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Huang Xiaojun®

Mr. Wu Jingshui®

Executive directors:

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu®”

Mr. Li Dongming®

Mr. Chopin Zhang (Chief Executive Officer)®
Mr. Hua Li?

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
Mr. Cheng Shoutai
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Notes:

(1) Ceased as the Chief Executive Officer, appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee
and re-designated as a non-executive director on 15 September 2016.

) Resigned on 15 September 2016.

) Appointed on 29 January 2016.

(4) Resigned on 29 January 2016.

5) Resigned on 25 August 2016.

6) Appointed on 1 January 2017.

(7) Appointed on 25 August 2016.

2

KRB REE2016F12A8318 I F E &
016FFREAFRAPHENEET A

FHITES :
B E (EE)D
BF¥ZL?

=i E

ok 5t

EEELEC

REKEEY

HITES

B E"

ZHPLEEY

3K F (Chopin Zhang) 5t 4 (77 B 48 ) ©

£ 54D

BYKBITES:

S AT A

B REHE

TEEEE

B E -

(1)  HR2016F9ARGHTBETITHRAER  BEE
REFEIF REZESXIF FMZEEK
eRERATAIERITES -

(20 HR2016F9A15A BT °

(3) H2016F1H20BEZ T -

4 H2016F 120 B f »

(5) R20164F8A25 A BT ©

6) H2017F1A1HEZRET-

(7)  HR2016F8H25BEZL (T -



T g

HELFEREZERERATF

e

20165 F

77

U

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (cONTINUED)
EEERE®

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles of Association adopted by the
Company on 8 October 2010, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting, and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

Each of Mr. Chopin Zhang and Mr. Hua Li, being a Director appointed by
the Board after the last annual general meeting, shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-
election.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 67 to 73 of this Annual Report.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Save as disclosed below, there was no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors in the Board has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial fixed term of three years which will continue thereafter unless
otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the service contract,
including by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other. The existing service contract between the Company and
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (as a non-executive director) will continue to be
effective and is for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 27
April 2015. No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every Director shall
be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout
the year.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

As at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests and short
positions which the Directors and the chief executives of the Company are
taken and deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which are
required to be and are recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing
Rules.

At no time was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and chief executives of
the Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to
hold any interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme”) on 8 October 2010, and adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 8 October 2010. Details of the Share Option
Scheme are as follows:

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme for the purpose of
motivating eligible participants to optimize their future contributions to the
Group and/or reward them for their past contributions, attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going relationships with such eligible
participants who are significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at 1 November 2010 (the “Listing Date”), that is, 350,000,000
Shares, which represented approximately 7.38% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at the date of this report. No option may be granted to any
participant of the Share Option Scheme such that the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and
to be granted to that person in any 12-month period up to the date of the
latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share capital from time
to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board
and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay the
Company HK$1.00 upon acceptance of the grant on or before the 28 days
after the offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the
highest of:

(@  the nominal value of a share;

(b)  the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c) the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the Listing Date, after which no further options will be granted or
offered.

On 23 July 2018, Mengniu International made a voluntary general offer to
option holders of the Company (“Option Offer”), to cancel the outstanding
options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share
Option Scheme. Please refer to the composite offer and response
document issued by the Company, Mengniu Dairy and Mengniu
International relating to, among other things, the Option Offer dated 23 July
2013 for further details.
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On 13 August 2013 (being the final closing date of the Option Offer), the
Option Offer was accepted in respect of 52,088,266 options. The
underlying options together with all the rights attached thereto were
cancelled and given up and all the outstanding options automatically lapsed
upon acceptance of the Option Offer.

No option was granted by the Company nor was there any outstanding
option granted by the Company from 1 January 2016 to 31 December
2016. As at 31 December 2016, there is no outstanding option granted by
the Company.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Schemes”
above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year.

Arrangement for Directors to Purchase Shares
or Debentures

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” above, at
no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

So far as is known to the Director or chief executives of the Company, as at
31 December 2016, the persons or corporations (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had interest or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporation(s) which were required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
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were as follows: AB)WAT
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares shareholding®
RAEQF 1 B% &
=g B MY ZBEREAE BHOFH
Mengniu Dairy" Interests in a controlled corporation 2,422,150,437% 51.04%
S EY ZYESLEE R E =
Mengniu International Beneficial owner 2,422,150,437% 51.04%
Eaaleiliy BEmBEAA
Danone SA? Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
EREP SR A E B 7
Danone Baby and Medical Holding® Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
SESLEE R E =
Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV®  Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074" 25.00%
SEGLEE R E
Nutricia International BV® Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
SR A E B
Danone Asia® Beneficial owner 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
ERE N EmEA A
Zhang International Investment Ltd.® Beneficial owner 303,462,119% 6.39%
RKBIEREBRAAY EmBEAA

Notes:

B &L

(1) As at 31 December 2016, Mengniu Dairy held 99.95% interest in Mengniu (1)
International and Mengniu International directly held the relevant Shares.

(2)  As at 31 December 2016, Danone SA held 100% interest in Danone Baby and  (2)
Medical Holding. Danone Baby and Medical Holding held 100% interest in Danone
Baby and Medical Nutrition BV. Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV held 100%
interest in Nutricia International BV. Nutricia International BV held 100% interest in
Danone Asia and Danone Asia directly held the relevant shares.
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Zhang International Investment Ltd. was held by Mr. Zhang Lihui, Mr. Zhang Likun,
Mr. Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo and Ms. She Lifang as their
wholly-owned investment holding company to hold their shares in the Company.

All the shares are held in long position.

The total issued Shares as at 31 December 2016 was 4,745,560,296.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, the Directors are not
aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company'’s Listed Securities

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Connected Transactions

The equity transfer agreement in relation to the
disposal of certain assets to Guangdong Yashili
Investment Co., Ltd. (BERELTRIREBRAT)
(“Guangdong Investment”)

On 12 November 2015, LT FBEEEBRER A (Yashili
International Group Ltd.) (a company incorporated in the PRC) (“Yashili
(Guangdong)”) entered into an assets transfer agreement (the “Assets
Transfer Agreement”) with Guangdong Investment, a connected
person of the Company, to sell the property interests, land parcels,
equipment and construction in progress of Yashili (Guangdong) (the
“Disposed Assets”) to Guangdong Investment for a consideration of
RMB72.1 million (equivalent to approximately HK$87.7 million),
payable in cash (the “Disposal”).

The Directors consider that the Disposal will enable the Company to
strengthen its resource allocation, optimize its production capacity
allocation and enhance its overall efficiency.
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By the end of 2015, Yashili (Guangdong) has received the full
consideration from Guangdong Investment and has executed a
transfer confirmation letter with Guangdong Investment, upon which
Guangdong Investment shall be entitled to all rights to the Disposed
Assets and bear all the obligations, liabilities and risks, etc. of the
Disposed Assets. The relevant procedures required under PRC law
for the perfection of the transfer of the Disposed Assets were
completed in April 2016. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 12 November 2015 for further details.

Mr. Zhang Lidian was a director of the Company in the last 12
months preceding the signing of the Assets Transfer Agreement,
therefore, Mr. Zhang Lidian is a connected person of the Company
pursuant to Rule 14A.07A(2) of the Listing Rules. Guangdong
Investment is a subsidiary of a wholly-owned company held by Mr.
Zhang Lidian and his family members, and hence it is an associate of
Mr. Zhang Lidian and a connected person of the Company.
Therefore, the Disposal constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The equity transfer agreement in relation to the
entire equity interest in Dumex China and the
reimbursement for marketing and promotion
expenses incurred by Dumex China

On 1 December 2015, #E+F|BEIREEFR A 7] (Yashil International
Group Limited) (the “Purchaser”) and Danone Asia Pacific Holdings
Pte. Ltd. (“DAPH”) (the “Seller”) entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase and the Seller has
conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued capital of Dumex China
(including the rights to be licensed or assigned to Dumex China
pursuant to a trademark license agreement, a patent license
agreement and a trademark assignment agreement) for a
consideration of €150 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,230
million), subject to adjustments, payable in cash (the “Dumex
Transaction”). The Directors (other than the independent non-
executive Directors who were advised by the independent financial
adviser to the independent board committee and the independent
shareholders of the Company and whose views were set out in the
circular to be despatched to the Shareholders) are of the view that
the Dumex Transaction will benefit the Company and its Shareholders
as a whole as the Dumex Transaction may benefit the Group in the
following areas: (1) obtaining the “Dumex” trademark which is highly
recognized in the PRC; (2) obtaining access to Dumex China’s sales
network which enable the Group to penetrate into the markets of
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first- and second-tier cities; (3) optimizing the Group’s production P EMEERSE  BPRAERR
network and reducing production costs by acquiring advanced B— Z@Wmmi5: Q@BUWEILE
production facilities; (4) obtaining the Danone Group’s continuous MEERE BIEAEENEERE R

support in research and development which in turn would enhance
the Group’s research and development capabilities; and (5)
broadening the product portfolio of the Group. Please refer to the
joint announcement of the Company and Mengniu Dairy dated 1
December 2015 for further details.

The Dumex Transaction was completed in May 2016, upon which
Dumex China became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Dumex China is a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Danone SA dedicated to the IMF business
in the PRC. It is primarily engaged in the manufacture, sale and
import of dairy products and other related nutrition products.

As of the date of the signing of the Equity Transfer Agreement,
Danone Asia has a 25.0% shareholding interest in the Company and
each of Danone Asia and the Seller is a member of the Danone
Group, therefore, the Seller is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. As the Purchaser is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and the highest applicable percentage
ratio (as defined under the Listing Rules) in respect of the Dumex
Transaction is more than 25%, the Dumex Transaction constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

On 22 March 2016, Dumex China and the Seller entered into a
memorandum of understanding (the “MOU”) pursuant to which the
Seller agreed to reimburse certain marketing and promotion expenses
incurred by Dumex China for the purpose of advertising and
promoting the Dumex brand in the amount of RMB70,000,000 as
part of its effort to promote the Dumex brand after completion of the
Dumex Transaction. In addition, pursuant to a confirmation letter (the
“Confirmation Letter”) entered into between the Seller and the
Purchaser, the Seller agreed to pay an additional amount of
RMB26,323,933 to the Purchaser provided that such amount should
then be paid to Dumex China for the purpose of reimbursing certain
marketing and promotion expenses incurred by Dumex China for the
purpose of advertising and promoting the Dumex brand.
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The Supply Agreement

On 21 April 2016, Yashili New Zealand, a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a supply agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) with
Danone Nutricia NZ Ltd, a subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of
the Danone Group, pursuant to which Yashili New Zealand agreed to
sell and Danone Nutricia NZ Ltd agreed to purchase whey powder at
a consideration of 800,000 NZD (equivalent to HK$4,256,000). The
Directors are of the view that the Supply Transaction enables Yashili
New Zealand to optimize its raw material inventory level and achieve
greater synergies between the Group and the Danone Group. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6 May 2016 for
further details.

Yashili New Zealand is a company incorporated in New Zealand and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. It is principally
engaged in the production and sale of dairy products. Danone
Nutricia NZ Ltd is a company incorporated under the laws of New
Zealand and an indirect subsidiary of Danone SA. It is primarily
engaged in the manufacture of infant formula.

As of the date of the signing of the Supply Agreement, Danone Asia
has a 25.0% shareholding interest in the Company and each of
Danone Asia and Danone Nutricia NZ Ltd is a member of the Danone
Group. Therefore, Danone Nutricia NZ Ltd is a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules. As Yashili New Zealand is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the highest
applicable percentage ratio (as defined under the Listing Rules) in
respect of the Supply Agreement is above 0.1% but below 5%, the
Supply Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Processing Agreement by Oushi Mengniu

On 1 August 2016, Oushi Mengniu, a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a processing agreement (the “Processing Agreement by
Oushi Mengniu”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of
Mengniu Dairy, pursuant to which Oushi Mengniu agreed to provide
processing services and production of whole milk powder and other
products by Oushi Mengniu to Inner Mongolia Mengniu from 1 August
2016 to 31 December 2016 at a consideration of RMB29.15 million.

The transactions contemplated under the Processing Agreement by
Oushi Mengniu enable the Group to meet the production needs for its
milk powder products as well as fully utilise and better allocate the
Group’s production capacities which in turn generate additional
revenue to the Group.
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The White Sugar Purchase Contract with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu

On 20 November 2015, QOushi Mengniu entered into a purchase
contract (the “White Sugar Purchase Contract with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu
Dairy, pursuant to which Oushi Mengniu agreed to purchase and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu agreed to sell white sugar and other raw
materials from 20 November 2015 to 31 December 2017. The
consideration under the White Sugar Purchase Contract with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu for the year ended 31 December 2016 shall be
RMB4.94 million.

The Directors are of the view that the White Sugar Purchase Contract
with Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the transactions contemplated
thereunder enable the Group to achieve greater synergies with the
Mengniu Group.

Procurement Agency Agreement with Arla
Import & Export

On 1 January 2016, Oushi Mengniu entered into a procurement
agency agreement (the “Procurement Agency Agreement”) with Arla
Dairy Products Import & Export Co., Ltd. B K EREILE5E D HR
~a] (“Arla Import & Export”), a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, pursuant
to which Oushi Mengniu appointed Arla Import & Export as its
exclusive agent for the procurement of dairy products from Arla
Foods from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016. Pursuant to the
Procurement Agency Agreement, Arla Import & Export shall be
responsible for, among others, negotiating the terms of the
procurement on behalf of Oushi Mengniu, and Oushi Mengniu shall
pay for the dairy products procured by Arla Import & Export on behalf
of Oushi Mengniu to Arla Import & Export. For the year ended 31
December 2016, the total value of the dairy products procured by
Arla Import & Export on behalf of Oushi Mengniu pursuant to the
Procurement Agency Agreement shall be RMB105.32 million.

The Directors are of the view that the Procurement Agency
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder enable the
Group to utilise the well-established overseas procurement system of
Arla Import & Export, thereby achieving greater synergies with the
Mengniu Group.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Connected Persons

(a)

(b)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu

Mengniu International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds 51.04%
of the shares of the Company and is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a connected person of the
Company. As Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a subsidiary of Mengniu
Dairy, Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a connected person of the
Company.

Danone Trading ELN B.V. (“Danone Trading”),
Danone Asia-Pacific Management Co. Ltd. (GZ&E5z X
(L®EEBMRATE) (“DAPM”), Nutricia Early Life
Nutriction (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. (&£ RHE &
REBR(LB)BRAT(“NELN”), DAPH and Nutricia
Research B.V. (“Nutricia Research”)

Danone Asia, a subsidiary of Danone SA, has a 25.0% shareholding
interest in the Company. Therefore, Danone SA is a connected
person of the Company. As each of Danone Trading, DAPM, NELN,
DAPH and Nutricia Research is an indirect subsidiary of Danone SA
and a member of the Danone Group, each of Danone Trading,
DAPM, NELN, DAPH and Nutricia Research is a connected person of
the Company.

Continuing connected transactions

1.

The Framework Purchase Agreement

On 11 December 2014, Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Yashili
(Heilongjiang)”) and Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Yashili (Shanxi)”),
each a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a framework
purchase agreement (the “Framework Purchase Agreement”) with
Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, pursuant to
which Yashili (Heilongjiang) and Yashili (Shanxi) agreed to purchase
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu agreed to sell whole milk powder from
time to time from 1 December 2014 to 31 December 2016. The
pricing terms shall be specified in individual purchase orders and shall
be determined upon mutual agreement between the seller and the
purchasers with reference to the CIF (cost, insurance and freight)
price of the relevant whole milk powder at the time the relevant
purchase orders were made. The purchase transactions enable the
Company to procure whole milk powder it needs for its manufacturing
of milk powders and nutritious products through a reasonable source
and at a price that the parties may negotiate from time to time. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11 December 2014
for further details.
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Due to the continuous growth in the PRC adult milk powder market
which provides an opportunity for the growth in the Group’s adult
milk powder business and coupled with the Group’s positioning in the
adult milk powder business and channel penetration, the Company
expects that there will be significant growth prospects in the Group’s
adult milk powder business in 2016 and the amount of whole milk
powder to be purchased by the Group will be increased. Accordingly,
the Board concluded on February 19, 2016 that the annual cap for
the year ending December 31, 2016 in respect of the transactions
contemplated by the Framework Purchase Agreement will not be
sufficient and decided that the annual cap for the year ending
December 31, 2016 in respect of the transactions contemplated by
the Framework Purchase Agreement shall increase to RMB140 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$167 million). Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 19 February 2016 (the “February
2016 Announcement”) for further details.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the purchase from Inner
Mongolia Mengniu under the Framework Purchase Agreement was
RMB7.69 million, which was less than the cap as disclosed in the
February 2016 Announcement.

The Processing Agreement by Yashili (Shanxi)

On 21 May 2015, Yashili (Shanxi), a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a processing agreement (the “Processing Agreement by
Yashili (Shanxi)”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of
Mengniu Dairy, pursuant to which Yashili (Shanxi) agreed to provide
processing services and production of whole milk powder and other
products by Yashili (Shanxi) to Inner Mongolia Mengniu from time to
time from 6 April 2015 to 31 December 2016. For each tonne of
whole milk powder processed by Yashili (Shanxi) which fulfils the
prescribed quality standards set by Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a
processing fee will be charged by Yashili (Shanxi). Such processing
fee shall be calculated with reference to general industry standards
and rates as well as Yashili (Shanxi)’s actual production levels. The
transactions contemplated under the Processing Agreement by
Yashili (Shanxi) enable the Group to meet the production needs for its
milk powder products as well as fully utilize and better allocate the
Group’s production capacities which in turn generate additional
revenue to the Group. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 21 May 2015 (“May 2015 Announcement”) for further
details.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Processing Agreement by Yashili (Shanxi)
was RMB7.58 million, which was less than the cap of RMB80 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$101.442 million) as disclosed in the
May 2015 Announcement.
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The Trademark Licensing Agreement

On 25 September 2015, as one of the conditions precedent to the
completion of the equity transfer agreement in relation to the entire
equity interests in Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi
Mengniu and Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a trademark
licensing agreement (the “Trademark Licensing Agreement”) pursuant
to which Inner Mongolia Mengniu (as licensor) agreed to grant Oushi
Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and its affiliates (as licensees) a non-
transferable and non-exclusive right to use and sub-license certain
registered trademarks (the “Trademarks”) of Inner Mongolia Mengniu,
which are subject to change by Inner Mongolia Mengniu from time to
time in the PRC, for a term commencing from the date of the
Trademark Licensing Agreement for a period of (i) 50 years, or (i) the
operation period of Oushi Mengniu, whichever is later. The Trademark
Licensing Agreement may be renewed subject to the negotiations
among the parties in the future. The annual license fee is equal to (a) 3%
of the net sales revenue arising from the sale of the infant milk formula
products and milk powder products for adults for which the
Trademarks are used by Yashili (Guangdong) and its affiliates during
that respective year, and (b) (i) 3% of the net sales revenue arising
from the sale of the Products by Oushi Mengniu during that respective
year, or (i) RMB18.0 milion, whichever is higher. The net sales
revenue of Oushi Mengniu shall start to accrue (i) following the
completion of the registration of the capital reduction as further
described in the joint announcement of the Company and Mengniu
Dairy dated 21 September 2015 and the circular of the Company
dated 29 October 2015, or (iij from January 1, 2016, whichever is
earlier. The annual license fee shall be paid by Oushi Mengniu, Yashili
(Guangdong) and its affiliates within two months after the end of each
year.

The Directors are of the view that the entering into of the Trademark
Licensing Agreement will benefit the Company and its Shareholders
as a whole in the following respects: (i) the Company can benefit from
the brand of Mengniu Dairy, the “Mengniu” trademark is highly
recognized in the PRC and the use of the “Mengniu” trademark would
be beneficial to the sale of the Company’s adult milk powder
products and maintain the market share of Oushi Mengniu’s infant
milk powder; and (i) through the “Mengniu” trademark license, the
Company could access more support from Mengniu Dairy in terms of
brand resources. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 25 September 2015 (“September 2015 Announcement”) for
further details.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016, the aggregate license fees
payable by Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and its affiliates to
Inner Mongolia Mengniu under the Trademark Licensing Agreement
was RMBO, which was less than the cap of RMB35 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$42.6 million) as disclosed in the September
2015 Announcement.

The Transition Services Agreements

On 27 May 2016 (after trading hours), Dumex China entered into a
series of transition services agreements (the “Transition Services
Agreements”) with members of the Danone Group, pursuant to which
the relevant members of the Danone Group agreed to provide certain
transitional services to Dumex China in respect of IT support, lab
sharing, accounting service, procurement support and office sharing
during the respective terms of the Transition Services Agreements.

A. IT Support Transition Services Agreement

Pursuant to an IT support transition services agreement (the “IT
Support Transition Services Agreement”) entered into between
DAPM and Dumex China, DAPM will provide, or cause to be
provided (including subcontracting any of its affiliates to provide)
to Dumex China, certain IT services from the completion of
Dumex Transaction until the date on which all of the individual
transition periods for the services provided by DAPM under the
IT Support Transition Services Agreement have expired. The
consideration for the services shall be the aggregate amount of
the cost of the services plus a 5% markup and the applicable
value added tax at the time the written invoice from DAPM is
issued to Dumex China.

B. Lab Sharing Transition Services Agreement
Pursuant to a lab sharing transition services agreement entered
into between NELN, Dumex China will grant, or cause to be
provided to NELN access to and use of the analytical laboratory
and research and development laboratory equipment and the
office space in Dumex China’s Shanghai factory from the
completion of Dumex Transaction to 31 December 2017. NELN
will pay to Dumex China per lab test pursuant to the access
granted, the office rental services, actual cost of any other
services that it may request from Dumex China from time to
time, and one-off cost of decoration and recovery.
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Accounting Services Transition Services Agreement
Pursuant to an accounting services transition services
agreement (the “Accounting Services Transition Services
Agreement”) entered into between Dymex China and NELN,
NELN will provide, or cause to be provided to Dumex China, tax
services, treasury services and accounting services during each
individual transition period from the completion of Dumex
Transaction until the date on which all of the individual transition
periods for the services provided by NELN under the
Accounting Service Transition Services Agreement have
expired. The consideration for the services provided pursuant to
the Accounting Service Transition Services Agreement shall be
the aggregate amount of the cost of the services plus a 5%
markup and the applicable value added tax at the time the
written invoice from NELN is issued to Dumex China.

Procurement Support Transition Services Agreement
Pursuant to a procurement support transition services
agreement (the “Procurement Support Transition Services
Agreement”) entered into between DAPH and Dumex China,
DAPH will provide, or cause to be provided to Dumex China,
procurement support with respect to certain ingredients/raw
materials from the completion of Dumex Transaction to 31
December 2016. The services will be charged at cost calculated
at a man-hour basis. The consideration for the services
provided pursuant to the Procurement Support Transition
Services Agreement shall be the aggregate amount of the cost
of the services plus a 5% markup and the applicable value
added tax at the time the written invoice from DAPH is issued
to Dumex China.

Office Sharing Transition Services Agreement

Pursuant to an office sharing transition services agreement (the
“Office Sharing Transition Services Agreement”) entered into
between NELN and Dumex China, NELN will provide, or cause
to be provided to Dumex China access to certain offices during
each individual transition period from the completion of Dumex
Transaction until the date on which all of the individual transition
periods for the services provided by NELN under the Office
Sharing Transition Services Agreement have expired. The
consideration for the services provided pursuant to the Office
Sharing Transition Services Agreement shall be the aggregate
amount of the cost of the offices plus a 5% markup and the
applicable value added tax at the time the written invoice from
NELN is issued to Dumex China.
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The Directors are of the view that the Transition Services
Agreements ensure the smooth transition and operation of
Dumex China following the completion of the Dumex
Transaction. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 27 May 2016 (“May 2016 Announcement”) for further
details.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the IT Support Transition
Services Agreement was RMB4.67 million, which was less than
the cap of RMB5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$5.92
million) as disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Lab Sharing Transition
Services Agreement was RMBO0.77 million, which was less than
the cap of RMB1 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1.184
million) as disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Accounting Service
Transition Services Agreement was RMBO0.64 million, which
was less than the cap of RMBO0.8 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$0.947 million) as disclosed in the May 2016
Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Procurement Support
Transition Services Agreement was RMBO, which was less than
the cap of RMBO.6 million (equivalent to approximately HK$0.71
million) as disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Office Sharing Transition
Services Agreement was RMBO0.13 million, which was less than
the cap of RMBO0.3 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$0.355 million) as disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.
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The Manufacturing and Supply Agreement

On 27 May 2016 (after trading hours), Dumex China entered into a
manufacturing and supply agreement (the “Manufacturing and
Supplying Agreement”) with Danone Trading, an indirect subsidiary of
Danone SA, pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to purchase and
Danone Trading agreed to sell certain products for infant nutrition
from time to time during the term from the completion of Dumex
Transaction to 31 December 2027. The prices shall be negotiated
each year prior to the start of the year and shall be calculated based
on the cost of the relevant infant nutrition products supplied plus a
markup of 10% and with reference to the volume forecasts provided
by the Dumex China to Danone Trading.

The Directors are of the view that the Manufacturing and Supply
Agreement enables Dumex China to secure a long-term supply of
four tailored nutrition products from the Danone Group, which would
complement the existing product portfolio of the Yashili Group and
enhance the bargaining power the Yashili Group in channel
distribution. Please refer to the May 2016 Announcement for further
details.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Manufacturing and Supply Agreement was
RMBO, which was less than the cap of RMB9 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$10.656 million) as disclosed in the May 2016
Announcement.

The Milk Powder Purchase Contract with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu

On 1 December 2015, Oushi Mengniu entered into a purchase
contract (the “Milk Powder Purchase Contract with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu
Dairy, pursuant to which Oushi Mengniu agreed to purchase and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu agreed to sell the skim milk powder and
whole milk powder from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017. The
price of the skim milk powder and whole milk powder under the Milk
Powder Purchase Contract with Inner Mongolia Mengniu will be
negotiated on an arm’s length basis and determined in the ordinary
course of business on normal commercial terms and specified in
individual purchase orders.

The Directors are of the view that the Milkk Powder Purchase Contract
with Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the transactions contemplated
thereunder would enable the Company to achieve greater synergies
between the Group and the Mengniu Group. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 12 August 2016 (“12 August
2016 Announcement”) for further details.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Milk Powder Purchase Contract with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu was RMB60.36 million, which was less than the
cap of RMB100 million (equivalent to approximately HK$117 million)
as disclosed in the 12 August 2016 Announcement.

The Purchase Contract with DAPH

On 17 August 2016, Yashili New Zealand, a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a purchase contract (the “Purchase Contract
with DAPH”) with DAPH, a subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of
the Danone Group, pursuant to which Yashili New Zealand agreed to
sell and DAPH agreed to purchase base powder products from 17
August 2016 to 31 December 2016. If the parties to the Purchase
Contract with DAPH enter into a strategic cooperation supply
agreement before 31 December 2016, the strategic cooperation
supply agreement shall supersede the Purchase Contract with DAPH,
and all the purchase orders still performing under the Purchase
Contract with DAPH shall be automatically be subject to the strategic
cooperation supply agreement. The price of the base powder
products under the Purchase Contract with DAPH will be negotiated
on an arm’s length basis and determined in the ordinary course of
business on normal commercial terms and specified in individual
purchase orders.

The Directors are of the view that the Purchase Contract with DAPH
and the transactions contemplated thereunder would enable Yashili
New Zealand to improve its utilisation rate, thereby achieving greater
synergies between the Group and the Danone Group. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 19 August 2016 (“19
August 2016 Announcement”) for further details.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Purchase Contract with DAPH prior to the
entering into of the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement (upon
which the Purchase Contract with DAPH was superseded) was
RMB20.48 million, which was less than the cap of RMB90 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$105.31 million) as disclosed in the
19 August 2016 Announcement.

The Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement

On 4 November 2016, Yashili New Zealand, a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a strategic cooperation supply agreement (the
“Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement”) with DAPH and Danone
Trading, each a subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of the
Danone Group, pursuant to which Yashili New Zealand agreed to sell
and DAPH and Danone Trading (on behalf of themselves and their
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Affiliates) agreed to purchase base powder products and dairy
ingredients during the term of the Strategic Cooperation Supply
Agreement. The Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement shall take
effect upon: () the approval of the independent shareholders of the
Company of the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereunder, and (i) consultation with the
DAPH and Danone Trading’s shareholders. The Strategic Cooperation
Supply Agreement shall be effective until 31 December 2018 (the “Initial
Term”). The term of the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement
shall be extended for one year upon the expiry of the Initial Term
unless any party gives notice to refuse to extend the term of the
Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement beyond the Initial Term at
least six months prior to the expiry of the Initial Term. The price of the
base powder products and dairy ingredients will be specified in
individual purchase orders and shall be determined on a cost plus
pbasis with reference to the applicable Incoterms and payment terms,
which is consistent with market practice. The prices for the base
powder products and dairy ingredients may be revised upon mutual
agreement between Yashili New Zealand and DAPH and Danone
Trading every calendar trimester.

The Directors (excluding the independent non-executive Directors
(whose views were set out in the letter from the independent board
committee included in the circular despatched to the Shareholders))
are of the view that the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder would enable Yashili New
Zealand to improve its utilisation rate, thereby achieving greater
synergies between the Group and the Danone Group. As disclosed in
19 August 2016 Announcement, upon the taking effect of the
Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement, the Purchase Contract will
terminate automatically, and all the purchase orders under the
Purchase Contract will be automatically be subject to the Strategic
Cooperation Supply Agreement.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4 November
2016 (“November 2016 Announcement”) and the circular of the
Company dated 23 November 2016 (“November 2016 Circular”) for
further details about the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement.

The Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 14 December 2016 (the “EGM”). The Strategic
Cooperation Supply Agreement became effective on 31 December
2016.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement
was RMB32.46 million, which was less than the cap of RMB70 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$80.305 million) as disclosed in the
November 2016 Announcement and the November 2016 Circular
and approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at
the EGM.

Other than the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions set out above, in respect of which the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
have been complied with, no contract of significance has been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2016.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed that such
transactions were entered into:

— inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

— on normal commercial terms or better; and

— according to the agreement governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company’s
shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this Annual Report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance has been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2016 and up to and including the date
of this Annual Report.

Management Contracts

Other than the service contracts disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Service Contracts” above, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2016.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of Cayman lIslands where the Company is
incorporated applicable to the Company.

Emolument Policy

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit, qualifications and
competence of individual employees and are reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee periodically. The emoluments of the Directors are recommended
by the Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has previously adopted two share option schemes to
motivate and reward its Directors and eligible employees. Details of the
schemes are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes”
above.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31
December 2016.
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Retirement Benefits Schemes

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentages of basic salaries of the employees to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. The contributions are charged to the consolidated
income statements as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s total contributions to
the retirement benefits schemes charged in the income statement
amounted to RMB38.6 million. Details of the Group’s retirement benefits
scheme and the basis of calculation are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
customers were 8% and 13% of the Group’s total sales respectively.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
suppliers were 10% and 29% of the Group’s total purchases respectively.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2016 did a Director, his/her
associate(s) or a shareholder, which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have an interest in
any of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the identity of shareholders who are entitled
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 26 May 2017 to
Friday, 2 June 2017, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 2
June 2017, all duly completed and signed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 25 May 2017.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed, with the Company’s
management and the external auditors, the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company and discussed auditing, risk
management, internal control, whistleblowing policy and system and
financial reporting matters, including the review of the Group’s financial
statements’ for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2016 have been audited by Ermnst & Young, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution for its re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this Annual Report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not less than
23.42% of the Company’s issued shares pursuant to a waiver granted to
the Company by the Stock Exchange for the period from the Listing Date.
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Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of short-term and long-term bank loans of the Group as at 31
December 2016 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements. Other than such bank loans, the Group had no other bank
loans.

Corporate Governance

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 45 to 66 of this Annual
Report.

Summary Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the five financial years ended 31 December 2016 is set out on pages 219
to 220 of this Annual Report.

Event After the Reporting Period

The Group had no significant event after the reporting period.

On behalf of the Board

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
3B 1% B BT ¥R &S

Ernst & Young TKETHEIER AT Tel E5E: +852 2846 9888

22/F, CITIC Tower EERBREE1SE Fax fEE: +852 2868 4432
§* 1 Tim Mei Avenue RERE221E ey.com

Central, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Yashili International Holdings Ltd
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 109 to 218, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section
of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed

FEETEE
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Key audit matter

the key audit matter
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Acquisition of Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd.

On 31 May 2016, the Group acquired
100% equity interest of Dumex Baby
Food Co. Ltd. (“Dumex China”) from
Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte.
Ltd., at a cash consideration
equivalent to RMB1,027 million.
Management engaged external
appraisers to evaluate the fair value of
identifiable assets and liabilities of
Dumex China. The accounting for
business combination relied on
significant management estimation in
respect of fair value assessments.

We also examined the adequacy of
the related disclosures included in
note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

We obtained and read the share
purchase agreements and checked
to the payment of considerations.
We assessed the objectivity,
independence and competence
of the external appraiser engaged
by the Company to perform
the valuation. We also involved
our internal valuation specialists
in evaluating the valuation
methodologies adopted and the
assumptions used in valuation of
the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Dumex China, in particular,
trademark, land use right and
property, plant and equipment,
whose fair values were determined
by using the income approach for
the trademark, the market
approach for the land use right and
the depreciation replacement cost
approach for buildings, plants and
machinery.
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How our audit addressed ZBEEESP
Key audit matter the key audit matter BAEEITEE M EHH :
Impairment testing of goodwill EEREAIR

Goodwill amounting to RMB1,236
million represented 12% of the
Group’s total assets as at 31
December 2016. During the year, the
Group changed the groups of cash-
generating units (“CGU groups”) for
goodwill impairment testing purposes,
and this exercise was undertaken to
align the CGU groups to the Group’s
operating segments which were
changed following the Group’s
restructuring following the acquisition
of Oushi Mengniu at the end of 2015
and Dumex China in 2016. The
impairment tests performed by
management involved significant
estimation of the value in use of the
CGU groups to which the goodwill is
allocated for impairment test. The
accounting policies, significant
estimates and related disclosures are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

We also focused on the adequacy of
the Company’s disclosures
concerning goodwill impairment
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included,
among others, evaluation of
management’s identification of
CGU groups to which goodwill is
reallocated for testing impairment,
the reallocation of goodwill and
assessment on the management’s
impairment model and underlying
assumptions. We involved internal
valuation experts to assist us in
benchmarking key assumptions in
valuation models with actual results
of prior periods including revenue
trends, gross margin, expected
perpetual rates and discount rates,
and comparing to external data
where available. We also assessed
management’s sensitivity analysis
to ascertain the impact of
reasonably possible changes
including, for example revenue
growth and discount rates.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

BEREBRERERAT 2016F FH
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Impairment testing of trademarks with indefinite lives

Trademarks amounting to RMB283
million represented 3.5% of the
Group’s total assets as at 31
December 2016 identified in the
acquisition of Dumex China. The
impairment tests performed by
management involved significant
estimations of the useful life of
trademarks that is not being
amortised still reassessed as indefinite
and the value in use of the CGUs to
which the trademarks belong. The
accounting policies, significant
estimates and related disclosures are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements. We
also focused on the adequacy of the
Company’s disclosures concerning
those key assumptions included in
note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

We also focused on the adequacy of
the Company’s disclosures included
in notes 2.4, 3 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included,
among others, an assessment on
the management’s impairment
model of the underlying CGUs to
which trademarks belong and
review of the key assumptions used
in the valuation model. We involved
internal valuation experts to assist
us in corroborating, among others,
operating profit forecast, expected
perpetual rates and discount rate
by evaluating recent performance,
comparing to external market
expectations to understand the
drivers of the forecasts, and
benchmarking to external data
where available.

Other Information included in the Annual

Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. TONG KA YAN, AUGUSTINE.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
29 March 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
SHERR

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F 12 31 H L F &

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR F T
REVENUE WA 5 2,203,315 2,761,571
Cost of sales S5 A 7 (1,166,015) (1,359,274)
GROSS PROFIT ER 1,037,300 1,402,297
Other income and gains H b Ug A K W %5 5 227,396 178,496
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RAAHEAZ (1,170,950) (1,320,277)
Administrative expenses TE R X (389,555) (207,878)
Other expenses Hth B 52 6 (148,230) (92,888)
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS KEEE (444,039) (40,250)
Finance income 51 75 Wg A 7 130,238 187,266
Finance costs B 765 B AN 8 (18,825) (24,249)
Net finance income 5 B 75 g A 111,413 163,017
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BEBLATER, (&) 7 (332,626) 122,767
Income tax credit/(expense) Fr 8 % #R (FA %) 10 12,408 (4,511)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR EERAN(FE) (320,218) 118,256
Attributable to: BER
Owners of the parent NAEIREREAE A (320,218) 118,256
RMB cents RMB cents
ARESD AR S
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BAREERES AEML
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY &RER (&E#8)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic and diluted AN R0 2.6
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SHEDNWER

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F 12 31 H L F &

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

FEBRMN(BHE)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Hitt 2 H W=
AR AR BIE E 3 0 1
ERBZHMEEES

Exchange differences on translation BIMNE N R
of foreign operations hE=%
Cash flow hedges: RensEH:
Effective portion of changes in fair value of FREHTEEHEBS
hedging instruments arising during the year AREBEEEZD
Amounts transferred to the initial carrying EEWEHIER
amount of hedged item FHREENSSE
Income tax effect sz e
Loss transferred to the consolidated statement of AR FIERER
profit or loss due to early termination B i 3k T R

Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to

ARNEREEERSRE

profit or loss in subsequent periods Bm 2 FHM 2R E
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) EEZENE(BX)EHE
FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to: BER:
Owners of the parent NRIRERE A

2016
RMB’000
AR®T R

(320,218)

(243,551)

(243,551)

2015
RMB’000

ARETT

118,256

62,966
62,966

(21,057)

23,851
(1,257)

6,851
8,388

71,354

189,610

189,610
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31 December2016 2016412 A31 H
2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M 3E AR® T AR F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE k& 13 1,788,658 1,714,570
Construction in progress EEIR 14 38,812 33,151
Investment properties L&Y 15 67,486 20,078
Land use rights + b {5 A A 16 93,734 51,868
Intangible assets mEEE 17 297,801 12,651
Goodwill Ha 18 991,236 272,760
Deferred tax assets RETRIEE E 19 202,950 163,655
Long-term bank deposits REIRITFER 24 379,927 363,227
Prepayments, deposits and ERNFIE - Aek
other receivables H fth & W 58 22 5,496 =
Total non-current assets M EELRTE 3,866,100 2,621,960
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories 7E 20 619,876 641,019
Trade and bills receivables B REWAREE 21 161,391 71,8156
Prepayments, deposits and FENFRE #ek
other receivables H fth fE W FR I8 22 191,230 92,249
Other financial assets EmemEE 23 476,994 873,859
Pledged deposits RESFENK 24 803,123 594,981
Cash and bank balances WE NIBTES 24 1,642,818 2,479,856
3,895,432 4,753,779
Assets of a disposal group classified DERBEFEDN
as held for sale BEMAEE 31 204,459 287,950
Total current assets MEEERE 4,099,891 5,041,729
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables g 5 ENR 25 237,621 272,104
Other payables and accruals HEMENRLREGTER 26 862,233 901,812
Interest-bearing bank loans FHEIRITIE K 28 1,143,091 461,696
Tax payable FERFR 1S HE 5,602 28,892
2,248,547 1,664,504
Liabilities directly associated with HAYBARREGEEE
the assets classified as held for sale EHEHENAE 31 4,988 10,294
Total current liabilities mMEB A GBS 2,253,535 1,674,798
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 3,366,931
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERRB AR
LIABILITIES 5,712,456 5,988,891
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (conTiNUED)
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31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mo 3E AR T AREF T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBAE
Deferred income % & W = 29 4,412
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIEE & 19 3,837
Total non-current liabilities ERE B EHEE 8,249
NET ASSETS EEFE 5,701,614 5,980,642
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to owners of BAREEA
the parent PE AL RE 2=
Share capital B& 7 30 399,352 399,352
Reserves e 5,302,262 5,581,290
TOTAL EQUITY S 5,701,614 5,980,642
Mr. Chopin Zhang Mr. Hua Li
iRk ¥ (Chopin Zhang) % 4 EhxE
Director Director

BF EF
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Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F12 431 H L F &
Capital PRC Other
Share Share redemption  statutory capital Translation Contributed  Hedging Merger  Retained
capital  premium reserve  reserves reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve  earnings Total
B4 TE it
BRE RAEE BBERE AekE EARE EXRE EHEB EORE  AHNRE REEN @t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR¥ETRL
Notes  (note 30)  (note 40() (note 40(ii))  (note 40(if)  (note 27)
W (MEEs0) (BIsE40) (Wsdoqiy)  (Bisrdoi)  (MisEor)
Asat 1 January 2015 201561 A1A 305,532 580,825 818 163,019 (41,282) (82,566) 1,367,204 (8,388) = 888,600 3,173,762
Business combinationunder [l — 2414
common control - = - - - - - = 199,496 77,019 276,515
At 1 January 2015 (Restated) #2015F1A1H
(BEim) 305,532 580,825 818 163,019 (41,282) (82,566) 1,367,204 (8,388) 199,496 965,619 3,450,277
Profit for the year FREF = = = = = = = = - 11825 11825
Other comprehensive income  E i 2 &
Cash flow hedges, netoftex ~ BEFEEH (BH%) = = - - - - - 8,388 - - 8,388
Exchange differences on NP REINERE
tranlation of foreign hEZES
operations - - - - - 62,966 - - - - 62,966
Total comprehensive income 2 [ It & 4 4
for the year - - - - - 62,966 - 8,388 - 118,256 189,610
Business combination under  [Fl — iR 4 A £ A 6
common control - - - - (3,333) - - - (1,050,000) - (1,083,333)
Dividends approved in respect A7 B8R A &2
of the previous year 11 - (74,505) - - - - - - - - (74,509)
Appropriation to statutory BANEERE
reserves - - - 19,002 - - - - - (19,002 =
Issue of shares BITRA 30 93820 3,374,773 - - - - - - - — 3,468,593
At 31 December 2015 R2015512831 8 399,352 3,881,093 818" 182,021* (44,615 (19,600  1,367,204" —* (850,504 1,064,873" 5,980,642
At 1 January 2016 R2016E1A1R 399,352  3,881,093* 818*  182,021* (44,615 (19,600)*  1,367,204* (850,504)* 1,064,873* 5,980,642
(Loss)/profit for the year ERREF - (320,218  (320,218)
Other comprehensive income  E 2 F I
Exchange differences on BNFREINE TR
translation of foreign HEEE
operations
Total comprehensive (loss)/) 2 E W %45
income for the year (320,218)
Dividends approved in respect A €% 7 5 &
of the previous year 1
At 31 December 2016 20165128318 399,352  3,845,616* 818*  182,021* (44,615 57,067  1,367,204* *  (850,504)*  744,655* 5,701,614

These reserve amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB5,302,262,000 (2015: *3E
RMB5,581,290,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

*

LF B EAXOIETBEMRRE RPN
#® # A K #5,8302,262,000 T (201564 : A K &
5,581,290,000 7T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SHRAETRE

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F 12 31 H L F &

2016
Notes RMB’000
Hf 5t ARBTR

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHEESHE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax i B A8 (332,626)
Adjustments for: FEIER -
Depreciation and amortisation e REH 7 169,713
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BENMKE
plant and equipment B (W), /B8 F 5 6 2,392
Impairment write-down of construction in EEIREMNBE
progress 14 1,712
Provision for/(write-back of) impairment of B 5 K H R
trade and other receivables BB, (B E) 2,876
Provision for inventories GFERERX 31,147
Interest income F 2 WA 7 (103,522)
Interest expense B X 8 18,825
Foreign exchange difference, net ME 5 18 & F 5 (15,591)
Gain on other investments H b 3% & W 7 (26,716)
(251,790)
Decrease in inventories FERD 86,170
Increase in trade receivables B 5 JfE W HR B8 N (27,349)

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables

Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits
related to letters of credit

Decrease in trade payables, other payables
and accruals

BNRE B kEf

JE Y TR R 4, (4 hn)

EBEHREREENX
PR AR ITFERR D,
(3% 1)

B RNER - HiEM

FRIA AN E & & R

(49,161)

80,406

(256,515)
(1,083)

(419,322)
(57,917)

Decrease in deferred income i JE UK 2 Rk >

Cash generated from operating activities KETEAMEIRE

Income tax paid B ER

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating &% T8 T8 7
activities REFHE

(477,239)

2015
RMB’000

ARETT

122,767
157,488

(24,035)

2,155
217
(122,540)
24,249
(25,071)
(64,726)

70,504

178,106
(25,047)

93,792

(79,287)

(57,761)
(2,985)

177,322
(97,290)

80,032
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
SEHEENRER @

Year ended 31 December 2016 &, £2016F 12 31 H L F &

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR AREFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest and gain on investment received 2 Y F B 120,384 187,266
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE BELKERS
plant and equipment A 7,539 29,394
Proceeds from disposal of investment property & % & %) 2 FT 15 2018 1,306 —
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets & & 2 & &= Fr 15 5818 - 6,379
Proceeds from disposal of construction HEEEIZIEEMBRIE
in progress - 4,356
Proceeds from sales of other financial assets & H fith & &b & &= Fr 15 70 18 2,913,765 5,549,964
Receipts of bank deposits with original maturity E b 8 17 17 3% 1) 51 69 U 5%
of more than three month 1,071,892 4,848,639
Payment of bank deposits with original H AR 1T1F AT 3K
maturity of more than three months (977,619) (5,824,166)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment B E ¥ % - B E M &G (25,176) (19,407)
Payment of construction in progress EEIEEBEENNK (46,360) (324,705)
Acquisition of intangible assets BERTAE 17 (535) 611)
Acquisition of other financial assets BEHEMERMEE (2,516,900) (5,133,860
Receipts of acquisition of a subsidiary I B8 F R R BT 2 A9 B9 5008 (987,624) —
Payment of acquisition of a subsidiary W BE F 1~ ) AT i B 8 SR IE 32 72,437 —
Business combination under common control  [& — & I N> - (1,050,000)
Net cash flows used in investing activities % & 5 & fif i 3 & 9 48 (1,726,751)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEETHESRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank loans EXFE A 772,932 704,453
Receipts of pledged deposits at maturity in H3 R 17 15 20 AE 8 A9 2 AR K 4R
relation to bank loans e gl /4 510,357 150,413
Payment of pledged deposits in relation to BT EFABE IR ER
bank loans 7 15 3% (798,905) (510,356)
Repayments of interest-bearing bank loans BEETEER (335,714) (1,002,663)
Interest paid EXNEPER (18,586) (24,249)
Dividends paid BT E (35,477) (74,505)
Proceeds from issue of shares Fra&E&ZA - 3,468,593
Net cash flows from in financing activities R & EEFEHE £ T 2,711,686
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH BeRBESEEYEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OR2) E88 (749,523) 1,064,967
Cash and cash equivalents FNRERBELEEY
at beginning of year 24 1,307,556 239,868
Effect of exchange rate changes ExgnHBEeRES
on cash and cash equivalents EBYNETE 23,458 2,721

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERBRERALEEY
AT END OF YEAR 24 581,491 1,307,556
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S {7 A1 35 B R BT 5%

31 December 2016 2016412 A 31 H

Corporate and Group Information

Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands on 3 June 2010 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22, (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy
and nourishment products.

Particulars of the principle subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

RAREEER

HEFBEEZERERAR(ARA]
MR2010F6 ABARIBEH E H 5 A A
EBENEAWIFEE=ZFEH K&
HRE)ERERETMMKL AE
HEARAA  EFMPEEMIU R
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands °

AEEFTERFERERFEEARDR

BEG -

ANABETAAMBENT :

Place of
incorporation/  Particulars of
registration and registered/

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

operations issued capital to the Company Principal activities
AL gmERS A EGH
BREREEND BRITREFSE BEE DL TEEH
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
DNREB Bt = HE B
Yashili International Ltd. BVI US$1 100% — Investment holding
(“Yashili (BVI)")
HTFIERARA A HBERRES 1% 100% - REZERK
(%A BVN))
Yashili International Group Hong Kong HK$1 = 100% Investment holding
Limited (“Yashili (HK)" )
HEMBEEREEBR AR 5 1% 7T - 100% ®EZER
(MELF (FH)D)
Newou Hong Kong International Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Import and export of dairy products
Co., Limited and related materials
(“Newou Hong Kong”)
MBREBRBRERAA B 18T - 100% #E i A FLE & RARRE M A
(R E ]
Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., New Zealand NzD287,032,059 — 100% Production and sale of dairy products
Limited (“Yashili New Zealand” )
MABKETAAERRAAF A 31 78 1 71.287,032,059 7T - 100% AERHEIA M
(FrEmzlEl
Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) (ii) PRC RMB470,000,000 — 100% Production and sale of dairy products
Dairy Products Co., Ltd (“Oushi
Mengniu”)
AEEBRERSFAERERE el A R # 470,000,000 7T — 100% AERHEIAHEM
FERE (Bt S4)])
Yashili International Baby ) & (i) PRC RMB531,815,600 — 100% Production and sale of dairy products
Nourishment Co., Ltd
(“Yashili Nourishment”)
HETHEERENZEERBR HE AR #531,815,6007C = 100% HERHEIHR

AR ([HLFEEM])
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHYUBRRM&E @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

nz

1 Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Particulars of
registered/

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

AEIREBRER @

operations issued capital to the Company Principal activities
MR EmERS A F AR
BRREE MY SBRTREFES RET DL FTEXEHB
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
DEER i & HE [GE:
Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) (i) & (v) PRC RMB20,000,000 — 100% Wholesale and retail of dairy products
Trading Limited
(“Maanshan Trading”)
HERAE (BRI HEEFR HE A K # 20,000,000 7T = 100% HERBPEFRTE
REITHBRILHEE]D
Yashili International Group Ltd. (i) & (i) PRC RMB1,126,105,300 — 100% Production and sale of dairy products
(“Yashili (Guangdong)”)
HEHEREEFRA A el AR #1,126,105,300 7T - 100% AERHEIA KM
(M A (B3R 1)
Scient (China) Baby Nourishment (i) & (i) PRC RMB155,000,000 — 100% Production and sale of dairy products
Co., Ltd. (“Scient (China)”)
ER(E) B RERR R A R #155,000,000 7T = 100% “HERHEIEM
BRAR (TR (R E)])
Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., (ii) PRC RMB20,080,000 - 100% Production and sale of dairy products
Ltd (“Yashili (Heilongjiang)”)
BRIBLIMNAZBRRA FE A R # 20,080,000 7T = 100% H£ERHEAHR
(ML A (BT D
Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (ii) PRC RMB300,000,000 — 100% Production and sale of dairy products
(“Yashili (Shanxi)”)
WEELHIARERAR el A R 300,000,000 7C - 100% AERHEIA KM
(M A (L FE) 1)
Chaozhou Chaoan Bisheng (ii) PRC RMB10,800,000 — 100% Production and sale of dairy products
Decoration and Printing Co.,
Ltd. (“Yashili (Bisheng)”)
R T 0 2 [ 4 s 5 0% EN TS el AR #10,800,0007C - 100% H£ERHEBDEME
BRAR (AR ()]
Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (iii) PRC RMB2,226,000,000 — 100% Production and sale of dairy products
(“Dumex China”)
SEUEBRNRRBERRA EalEd AR #2,226,000,0007T = 100% HERHEA R
(IZx%+BE])
Shanghai Yashili Food Co., Ltd. (ii) PRC RMB2,000,000 - 100% Sale of food products
(“Yashili (Shanghai)’)
LERLIMNRBBRADA FE A R #2,000,0007T = 100% $HERM
(M A (&)1
Yahui E-commerce Co., Ltd. (iv) PRC RMB50,000,000 — 100% Wholesale and retail of dairy products
(“Yahui E-commerce”)
HEEFEBERLIA el A R #50,000,0007C - 100% AEHRPBEFRTE

(== T



Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2016

WU

Wi

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHUBRRMEE @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.1

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

(i) These companies are wholly foreign invested enterprises established in the
PRC.

(ii) These companies are limited liability companies established in the PRC. The
official names of these companies are in Chinese and the English names are
for reference only.

(i) In May 2016, Yashili (Guangdong) acquired Dumex China from DAPH.

(iv) In October 2016, Yahui E-commerce was absorbed by Maanshan Trading.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Basis of Presentation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include
all International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention except
for derivative financial instruments and other financial assets which
have been measured at fair value. Disposal groups held for sale are
stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs
to sell as further explained in note 2.4. In addition, these consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016.

1

2.1

PAREBEER @

) ZERRRRPBERKIMIERE -

(i) ZERRAARPBEKLINBEREER
Al ZERANEREZB AP ME
BNELAEHS2E -

(i) 2016457  # £+ F (& &) #tDAPH UL 88
TEEBFH -

(vy 2016108 S&ILEERKE O T 5

==
=B

EEARLRBIZARAFRAE
EHASEARFEEEBRTE B
KRASBEEEFECERFD EFR
REREMTRAZFBCEHFE
BRITE -

2EE

ZEVHRR TR E A B S ER
BEERMBIERY S REER (B
MumEE]) (AT 2R MERE
AAmEEA - BREFEARERE)
MRENRBEBRAENKEZRR
H-BRUTESMTIAMEMESBEEN
NABEFEIN ZFFHHRERDRE
BELARNENRE -HEREREEE
HRBREEmMEEEAABERER
EEAMFEAKI T FR24- 1t
o ZEAMMBHRERRAAREZY

RRBEAN AEBELOHAERERE
IR RV
aprEE

EHUBRERBELREERE E2016
FI2ABIEFENTBHBRE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHYUBRRM&E @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued) 21 25 E %

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing right that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

& Bt E % )

T RABREAA R EE K RE
MER(BERGEBILER) EAXAKEHEA
SHEERECENESMAENERE
SR ENH BAENBEHREKE
CETERNZEMFSILDRERNSE
(IR EEEHRRECEEBED R
MEENREEN) AR ARNEEER
THZWREDRE -

EARAERAHEHEAARRELE
FRSFBUTHRRE FAEEEE
BATHHEZTERETERDHER
BEOERERFES

@ HRRECFHOREETEE
Z T EY 17 5%

b)) REMGEMERNER
© AEEBORERMBERZRE-

FRAMMBRERLVER BN ES
R - I iR K A B AR R A RS B AR
e FRAMEERKBERRBIAE
EERGENEZB)EAHRERR
WiHESHEEZENRILEZR -

1B MHE M2 W e % AR B D A
EEBEBRRMNMEEMIEERER
ZHEETOR  BEEEEEYHER
BaELRT MASEAKE ZMHE
EWEE BE @ WA RAXK
BenlBENX58 EEHER TN
HH -

MR EE R E B LR =
OE P R ) — B S B B B T
g REEEWLTRHLTFAME
TEE A o ER KR EY TR AR
RTM A% SN REWEE AR

HUERF -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTINUED)
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31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.1 Basis of Presentation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS Investment Entities: Applying
12 and IAS 28 (2011) the Consolidation Exception

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to IAS 16 and Clarification of Acceptable Methods
IAS 38 of Depreciation and Amortisation

Amendments to and IAS 41 Agriculture: IAS 16 and Bearer
Plants
Amendments to IAS 27 (2011)  Equity Method in Separate Financial

Statements

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of IFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle

2.1

2.2

2 5l & % ()

& ot E % )

W AN B k= — 7 A F e
AEBERROZTARNEE(RTE
FE)REE  (VEMEERERNE
HELIRERZNCHOEFINE =
B RBEROMBREN A EAE - ()
FTRBETMEBEN AR EE KB
BRPEMALLEED B EIE - AT
REMZEKENERNASEEEGL
HhEHH»BEABRNERENE  £%
EEZEENMBEAENABENBRT
thEEHER A E & o

ETBREERESTEANE
B

A BB R AR ORI T T R
R RS

BRI B HEER KETE
FE109% - F129% A B
1EET AR BB & 5
ERIF 2885 (55T K
(2011 ZK)

EESERERN BB BEH
ENRBETE 2R A

BRI S IREER W EEELKRE
F1458

REEERIE 1S RKEXEM

B &t ERIE 16 EFITER#H
S FIGHEET A RIA[ERX

B &2t ERIE 4155 RF¥ B &

CEIEN BRI E 1655 %
EEMEEY

REFERFE27TH BLAEIRE A
EET AN (2011 FIRA) #axk

2012F 22014 F B & T IR 51 7% 3
ZFENE &ERIBIEET
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

SHUBBRENE @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures (Continued)

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of amendments
to IAS1, the adoption of the above new and revised standards has
had no significant financial effect on these financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in respect
of the presentation and disclosure in financial statements. The
amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in IAS 1;

(i)  that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and the
statement of financial position may be disaggregated;

(i)  that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present
the notes to financial statements; and

(iv)  that the share of other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must
be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified
between those items that will or will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply
when additional subtotals are presented in the statement of financial
position and the statement of profit or loss. The amendments have
had no significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

22 EBSTHERMESTHENE
)

B T AT B AR B R R B BE 0 BB B RS
BELEUNFIREFTREPTHRENN
FE HORRBHEIELRMESL
MERMNUBREBEBRETE -

R ENFE1RNETH A H Y
BHRREZJ RRBEORE - EFTES -

) BEERSHENFIFHNENEER
Sk

i) APINEBEDZERRFBRRKFD

FEEE

(i) E A EIEIRTE 2 B R M
AEEIER &

(v) EREZENENDEEZ QA
ket nmmEM2ERavA
EAREBI K WiKHERKIREGE
I TEEFTHBEEERI R -

BESN  ERTEBR M BN R RBER
2O RBEINNETRPTE M A B - ER]
AEENTHEREBEAEATE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHUBRRMEE @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

IFRS 9*

Amendments to IFRS 10 and

IAS 28 (2011)

IFRS 15

Amendments to IFRS 15

IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 7

Amendments to IAS 12

IFRIC Interpretation 22

Amendments to IAS 40

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions?

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts®

Financial Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and )its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?

Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers?

Leases®

Disclosure Initiative'

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses'

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration®

Transfers of Investment Property?

Amendments to a number of IFRSs'"?

% g

-

AEBEREZSE

23 E R RERNERE S

81 7% & B 30 R R

P51 B 28 {8 iR R A AR #T AT MR
CHELE R e U

B B 75 ¥R & 2 R
F24SRERT AR

8] % B 75 ¥ 5 ZE A
E L ACIN

[ B B 75 ¥ 5 ZE A
5%

B B 75 ¥k & 2 R

F105RIE 5] AN R B
R s B 2857

1E 5T 2N (2011 4 ik
)

B B B T R 45 #E R
£155

B B B 75 3 45 YE Al
B & EThR
B B B T R A #E R

£165

BIFR & 5t ERIFH 757
CHI

B BR & R 2 B S5 12557

1B ET R
IFRIC#: £ 55225}
W@ o 2 BI| 55 4057

1B 7T hix
2012 £ 2014 F A &
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HFEAFE9
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EEt
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

SHUBBRENE @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective International

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

1 Effective for Annual Periods Beginning on or After 1 January 2017
2 Effective for Annual Periods Beginning on or After 1 January 2018
3 Effective for Annual Periods Beginning on or After 1 January 2019

4 No Mandatory Effective Date Yet Determined but Available for Adoption

* In September 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 (“IFRS 9 (2014)"),
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments project to replace
IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The Group early adopted IFRS 9
(2013) on 1 July 2014, while the Group expects to adopt the full text of IFRS
9 from 1 January 2018.

Further information about these IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key judgements
and estimates. The standard will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under IFRSs. In April 2016, the IASB issued
amendments to IFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on
identifying performance obligations, application guidance on principal
versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and transition. The
amendments are also intended to help ensure a more consistent
application when entities adopt IFRS 15 and decrease the cost and
complexity of applying the standard. The Group expects to adopt
IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018. During the year ended 31 December
2016, the Group performed a preliminary assessment on the impact
of the adoption of IFRS 15.
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2.3 Issued but not yet Effective International 23 AMAENMNE R

Financial Reporting Standards (continued) Z Bl (@)

The Group’s principal activity consists of the manufacture and sale of RNEBH B LS EHEFEEEME
dairy and nourishment products. The expected impacts arising from ENERNEER RRABFTEL
the adoption of IFRS 15 on the Group are summarised as follows: MEEENERTEE&ENT

Variable consideration on the sale of dairy and nourishment products. A BAMEE RHEEIARNEEHE
The Group provides a right of return, trade discounts or volume NEBESRSIERZNEESRHNEE
rebates for some of the sales contracts of dairy and nourishment with ARFEETERERE  HEHNMN
customers. Currently, the Group recognises revenue from the sale of HENMEEEKT AEEBRERZF
goods measured at fair value of the consideration received or BERRERIA - LAB U B =k FE I /9 Ug A
receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume WAL BERERKA T8 EHATE
rebates. If revenue cannot be reliably measured, revenue recognition REMARERNOREEENHEETN R
is deferred until the uncertainty is resolved. Under IFRS 15, a HEFH - MEW AN S THE LA S
transaction price is considered variable if a customer is provided with 2 WASREEER B THEES
a right of return, trade discounts or volume rebates. The Group is BREEHMK - ERIFRS15 - IR T F I
required to estimate the amount of consideration to which it will be BYEEGRENER KSR
entitled in the sales of its dairy and nourishment and the estimated HENN  AIXIBRITE—FEAET
amount of variable consideration will be included in the transaction T - EREBRAEB(HEHEEL
price only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant BIEMES BEREAENRE  Z4
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not M EREETHEMEBO THETE
ocecur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration =M A MR RN KA g B R A
is subsequently resolved. The Group is in the process of making an AOWAELBEZEN TS
assessment of the application of IFRS 15 and it is not practicable to RZGEERP - REBEIREEFTG
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until a detailed KEIFRS1GENTE - EAEBTHE
review is performed by the Group. The impact to the Group is B RLIE R BEHEE—ESEN
expected to include more comprehensive disclosure as requested by BEF -G AEENTEEI T IRNE
the new standard. A ERBERENGEEEZEMEER -
IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an BT REED B0 EE 2
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases — HEBF17HEAE BERBFHRER
Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions BLEeRBFABETTERESRE
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the HE FRABZESREBFEIRLE
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and HE —EENFRREZTESRES
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and R HESHENZEZEANRS
liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two recognition AR % E0&EHVEBBEERER 5
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term £ 2V EBENFEL - I ESRKETE A
leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise BRERBRABLHEEENBEE - %8|
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset BIEAAARCRERNWNIEEIE: HE
representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease RKEBEEENMNCHEE NHEERKA
term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is B ABEARBERBEMEREEEN K
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and (BIFEEERE)  mMEEHENBHEAE
any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the FEENEN(BEMEREEE) - FH#E
definition of investment property in 1AS 40. BEEHBEKNANBRETITE REMAR

EEERE BKIFECAREETARE
REFERFARTREVENES -
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31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective International 2.3

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on
the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease
liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.
Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the
occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term and
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally
recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as
an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under
IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under IAS
17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between operating
leases and finance leases. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 16 on 1
January 2019 and is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 upon
adoption.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of other new and revised IFRSs upon initial application but is not yet
in a position to state whether these new and revised IFRSs would
have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and
financial position.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

24

EAMRERNEBR S
%E Bl (@)

HEARBERRERIEZEMARKRERME
EREBEMBYRAXNBEEMNFKMEBD -
EERAKBEEBRAEHEERER
MNERXRERERAREENTES -
EBATGARELEETE M4 (ANEY
5 BREERKBEN R EHX
MERBPHERNZENRES) KFER
AEHEAB - AEAR —REREN
AENEAGEER (FRAYUERREEE
R - BRI IS &S R F 1657 H
MEEASTEEER G ERF17HR
BT ALLEARRE - HEA
BEEFEREER G ERE17THEPH
HRESRASSMERAERE D&
EHEMBMEMRE - AKEFEHRN2019
FIATRRMNBEERE RS ERIF16
5% - B AT IE RV SR A B R B A5 R A
F1GRERMFTE -

AEBDEHEMHFT REEFTHE
R BREENEBY T ERELN
BRI BX RERE ZFHA]
ERETHNBRMEREENRTY
AEBWNELEMBPBERAREBEERY
LR FHA o

TEEHBRBE

EBEHREE

XA IUBEEIAKR BEINKE
TTAWB AR AR BEFE  Z2R
BERASHEEENEENWEA Y
MAaRBE NEBBAREES ZAE
BENAENEE  RAKEETNE
R A7 W B 75 47 I 4 0 B AN 25 O AR A ©
REXBEHT AKEEEELUR
AEHWKETAIENEERTFE
MM St E W TREES A%
A AR IE BB IR L ] 0 15 B BB 0 F
BEMIFERBIRE D - JFIERBRE
B Y EMK D DRAAERTE - W
BRAREERI R -



Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2016

(2) ¢ Wl 4

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHUBRRMEE @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 24 T ESH RERHE &

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 T E€iH BHEHE @)

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 X ES€iH BRERE @)

(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax
assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 X ES€iH BRERHE @)

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

@)

or

()

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

U

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

M

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 24 FE€x BHEHE @

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified
as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as
held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of
property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Plant and buildings 13-47 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years
Office equipment and others 3-5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in buildings held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value.
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of investment properties. The
estimated useful lives range from 27.5 to 50 years. Depreciation
methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each
reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the
case, the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale
must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary
classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale
regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in
its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial assets)
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are not
depreciated or amortised.
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(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised
over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Office software

Office software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 5
years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use
or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria
is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products, commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production.

BREE (BERM)

ERURBNEREERVTEARR
KAFTE REBAHEMEBEETLE
ENRARSERKBEEHROAAE &
WEEMAERFHAFGERAERL
ER -FHARNEBHLEENAIERL
BEMREE YTNERRBRNELE
ER e R ER A RE - A ERF
HERNELEENHIEFH R #EH
TEEIREVRFELEEAER —

R e

FHERNELEESFHEBNMNU
ReMmEVETAR - ZEBEEED
ETHE FHERNEVEESFH
ETERFHAANBEEARTES
HEFHERNGEE - MRFANE £
AERKESKIEROKERRAR
KiERAZE -

N
FIT B B 1 01 452 PR AN JRL A {0 0L (B 98 5%
SRR » I 354 HA R AR R B -

TF % A A<
FrAM R A REER S AIBR-

EAKENERTKELEENHRE
R EERM BT BEAETK
WEENERXLEZEE  LHBEE
EEERREENa T ERERR
WHEIRIATKIAR » MM EGE
MERRNFEXE  TetRENER
MEBRXENMEABEERIE - TFE
AR A B E AR B B S R E B G
EBERMX -

i KT B R R 7S R AR AE fR]ORE (B 1B AR
AR YR ABERRABREEZAR
HREHEBMEFHANEREHE -



HEFIERZERERAT 2016F F3)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHYUBRRM&E @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 24 FE€x BHEHE @

(Continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where
the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
The Group recognises financial assets at which the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value though profit or loss are expensed in the
statement of profit or loss.

This classification depends on whether the financial asset is a debt or
equity investment.

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as debt
instruments at amortised cost, debt instruments, derivatives and
equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss and equity
instruments designated as measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (with gains and losses remaining in other
comprehensive income, without recycling).
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(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
A financial asset is classified as debt instruments at amortised cost, if:

o the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to
hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on
specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest.

All other financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or
loss, except that for investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, the Group may elect at initial recognition to present
gains and losses in other comprehensive income(“OCI”).

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Debt instruments at amortised cost

A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised
in profit or loss when the financial asset is derecognised or impaired
and through the amortisation process using the effective interest rate
method.

Debt instruments, derivatives and equity instruments at fair
value through profit or loss

A gain or loss on a debt investment, derivatives and equity
instruments that are subsequently measured at fair value and are not
part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and
presented in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arise.

BREREMEMEE @)

VEERINTE @)
—HeRMEERDEARB WK A
EMEKRTE %

s REREEMEBRIUAERNER
BREER &

s ZREEMARBRRAEXRKFTE
FHMESRAERRASNHE
B2 AT o

HREENTEXZORBRE L
NEERAKEERAABEESTA
Hitralmih HbeMEER AR
EBEZHTABATE-

‘ETE
PREEMNRESEDRRESHEN
T

LBer At ENEBMEITA
HERBHERAFERLLIFH AR
—HMoMEBRENEZLER R
BB E BUH FE R SO B £ B i
R WA B ERF RLHEH -

MAREEEBDFABENEHM
TTESREEMTA
HERAARBEFEBRLIFEE HHEE—
MOWBEBRRE TETARERTE
MRmEENBaTERANEE
EHRRBERTE -



HEFIEBRZERERAT 2016F F3)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHYUBRRM&E @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 24 T E€H BE N E (&

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value.
Where the Group’s management has elected to present unrealised
and realised fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent recycling of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as long as they represent a
return on investment.

The Group is required to reclassify all affected debt investments
when, and only when, its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset;
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Group has retained.
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(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they
will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in
a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).
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(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred
to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses
in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or
as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include payables, other payables,
interest-bearing bank loans, other loans and other financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial

liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group
that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The net fair
value gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. No financial liabilities
have been designated as at fair value through profit or loss by the
Group.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at
the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts, currency collars and interest rate swaps, to
hedge its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair
value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss, except for the
effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other
comprehensive income and later reclassified to profit or loss when the
hedged item affects profit or loss.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting only if all of the
following criteria are met:

° the hedging relationship consists only of eligible hedging
instruments and eligible hedged items.

° At the inception of the hedging relationship, there is formal
designation and documentation of the hedging relationship and
the entity’s risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge. That documentation shall include
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the
nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess
whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness
requirements (including its analysis of the sources of hedge
ineffectiveness and how it determines the hedge ratio).
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting (Continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

the hedging relationship meets all of the following hedge
effectiveness requirements: there is an economic relationship
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument; the
effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that
result from that economic relationship; and the hedge ratio of
the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the
quantity of the hedged item that the entity actually hedges and
the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually
uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item. However, that
designation shall not reflect an imbalance between the
weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that
would create hedge ineffectiveness (irrespective of whether
recognised or not) that could result in an accounting outcome
that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge
accounting.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the
fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised
firm commitment; or

cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in
cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly
probable forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in an
unrecognised firm commitment; or

hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.
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(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting (Continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

Fair value hedges

The gain or loss on the hedging instrument shall be recognised in
profit or loss, or other comprehensive income, if the hedging
instrument hedges an equity instrument for which an entity has
elected to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive
income.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, the
adjustment to carrying value is amortised through the statement of
profit or loss over the remaining term of the hedge using the effective
interest rate method. Effective interest rate amortisation may begin as
soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the
hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value
attributable to the risk being hedged. If the hedged item is
derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in
the statement of profit or loss.

The hedging gain or loss on the hedged item shall adjust the carrying
amount of the hedged item (if applicable) and be recognised in profit
or loss. If the hedged item is a financial asset (or a component
thereof) that is measured at fair value through profit or loss, the
hedging gain or loss on the hedged item shall be recognised in profit
or loss. However, if the hedged item is an equity instrument for which
an entity has elected to present changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income, those amounts shall remain in other
comprehensive income.

When a hedged item is an unrecognised firm commitment (or a
component thereof), the cumulative change in the fair value of the
hedged item subsequent to its designation is recognised as an asset
or a liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss.
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(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting (Continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

Cash flow hedges

The separate component of equity associated with the hedged item
(cash flow hedge reserve) is adjusted to the lower of the following (in
absolute amounts): (i) the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging
instrument from inception of the hedge; and (i) the cumulative change
in fair value (present value) of the hedged item (i.e., the present value
of the cumulative change in the hedged expected future cash flows)
from inception of the hedge.

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is
determined to be an effective hedge (i.e., the portion that is offset by
the change in the cash flow hedge reserve calculated in accordance
with above mentioned) shall be recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred
to the statement of profit or loss when the hedged transaction affects
profit or loss, such as when hedged financial income or financial
expense is recognised or when a forecast sale occurs. Where the
hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or
non-financial liability.

Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability, the amounts recognised in other comprehensive
income are transferred to the statement of profit or loss in the same
period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed
affects the statement of profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting (Continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

Cash flow hedges (Continued)

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised
without replacement or rollover (as part of the hedging strategy), or
when the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
remain in other comprehensive income until the forecast transaction
occurs or the foreign currency firm commitment is met.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective hedging
instruments are classified as current or non-current or separated into
current and non-current portions based on an assessment of the
facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows).

o Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an economic
hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting) for a period
beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting period, the
derivative is classified as non-current (or separated into current
and non-current portions) consistently with the classification of
the underlying item.

° Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host
contract are classified consistently with the cash flows of the
host contract.

° Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are effective
hedging instruments, are classified consistently with the
classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative
instruments are separated into current portions and non-current
portions only if a reliable allocation can be made.
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(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis and, in the
case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

B8 @

BRAEANNREREZERREERN
ARREEREARRERBRE  FHK
BRRREBERRHEANE - I BRAENZ
SAMBERMEER ABNARAARRA
HeFRBHREBED RRETHEE
E—AEERAR - HETHFERRIN

e WEBBAAUMBYREEZEENE
EHRBEEMREHE BELERNIE
E¥GAHRHIPEERBEN
R MAERSE Hgaf
FENERRAESIEELEY
2. &

o HRFRFRAHIKRENA N
TRUEZR RAEERMUEEZR
Bt E BERBRER  MA
RRBEARELRERHEMNE 7
AUABINZEEREZREF 7
CHRETEHBEEE -

BEREFRAEENREE EREHAKRT
AR - AT B A RAERTEANE
AAEMEEHBREENZ BRI
T AREERAEEREE I
BERNELEHRAEE EREHRE
et ERRAEAERRANBEA
WEINREHRIEEE - B THER -

BREEXFERENFERENER
MR EREFEEEHBAEERA
B AURERARECBEMIEL LR
BB R (RBR) BEE -

ERFERR LA HRITRORER - FE A
R EHREEAFENBAEHRA
B MEEHRALER—ERHEERF
—MBERMER - AEEHAEENE
EHBEREMEEEHE -



Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2016

(59) ¢ g Ve

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHUBRRMEE @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 X ES€iH BRERE @)

(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold.

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.
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(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Dividends

Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the
payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC except for Hong Kong
(“Mainland China”) participate in a central defined contribution
retirement benefit plan managed by the local municipal government in
the locations in which they operate. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the companies’ payroll costs and are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central defined contribution
retirement benefit plan.

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under
short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result
of past services provided by the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

Share-based payments

The Group operates share option schemes for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model.
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(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An
additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the equity-settled transactions or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where a share-based option award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards
are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph. Any payment made to the
employee on the cancellation or settlement of the grant shall be
accounted for as the repurchase of an equity interest, i.e. as a
deduction from equity, except to the extent that the payment exceeds
the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the
repurchase date. Any such excess shall be recognised as an
expense.
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(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
based on the assessment of its specific facts and circumstances.
Once the functional currency is determined, it can be changed only if
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions. As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is
used as the presentation currency of the Group. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised
in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
retranslation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain entities comprising the Group are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and
own-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualified as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately
or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts
for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services
are so significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.
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estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.
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3.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and
at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further details,
including a sensitivity analysis of key assumptions, are given in note
17 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences and the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, which affects the
probability of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the calculations.
Details of deferred tax assets are contained in note 19 to the financial
statements.
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3.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of the
receivables. This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and the current market condition.
Management reassesses the provisions at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the impairment of trade receivables are contained in
note 21 to the financial statements.

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of
items of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charges where useful lives are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated residual
values. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and residual values and therefore depreciation expenses in the future
periods.

When the Group completes a business combination, the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value. Management estimation is required to determine the fair values
of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and the purchase
consideration, and on the allocation of the purchase consideration to
the identifiable assets and liabilities. The fair values of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are determined using
valuation technigues including the discounted cash flow model. The
inputs to these models are taken from observable market where
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement and
estimation is required in establishing fair values. Management must
estimate the expected future cash flows and discount rate in order to
calculate the fair values.
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4,

Operating Segment Information

Since the acquisition of Oushi Mengniu in 2015 and of Dumex China
in 2016, and the operation of Yashili New Zealand at the end of 2015,
the Group underwent various group reorganization, including the
purchase and sales function.

In the second half of 2016, the Group is reorganized into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@ Production and sale of infant milk formula products — this
segment includes the development, manufacture and sale of
infant milk formula products in the PRC and overseas.

(b)  Production and sale of nutrition products — this segment
includes the development, manufacture and sale of milk powder
for adults and teenagers, soymilk powder, rice flour and cereal
products in the PRC and overseas.

(c) Other operations mainly include the production and sale of
packing materials which mainly serve the Group’s internal use,
the sale of surplus raw materials and the sale of base-powder.
The results of these operations are included in the “others”
column.

The change was made to improve the way in which the business
units can be managed. Comparative figures have been adjusted
retrospectively.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources among segments, the senior executive management team
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of “reportable segment profit”, i.e., “revenue less cost of
sales and selling and distribution expenses”. The Group does not
allocate other income and gains, net finance costs, expenses other
than certain selling and distribution expenses to its segments, as the
senior executive management does not use this information to
allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the operating
segments. Segment assets and liabilities are not regularly reported to
the Group’s senior executive management and therefore information
of reportable segment assets and liabilities are not presented in these
financial statements.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
seling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. RETHBER @

Year ended 31 December 2016
B Z2016F12A31BILEE

Infant milk
formula Nutrition
products products Others Total
By RES
LR E R EEm Hiy &ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE AR%BTR AR¥Tr AR®TR
Segment revenue: DEUWA :
Sales to external customers $HE FINILEF 1,462,414 668,150 2,203,315
Intersegment sales DEEHEE 20,436 25,274 45,710
1,482,850 693,424 2,249,025
Reconciliation: HER -
Elimination of i D 2BEEE
intersegment sales (20,436) (25,274) (45,710)
Total revenue PNl 2,203,315
Segment results D EHEE (164,950) 71,531 (16,589) (110,008)
Reconciliation: Bl
Finance income B 75 U A 130,238
Finance costs B 75 B X (18,825)
Other income and gains = NS & 227,396
Unallocated other expenses >k 7 it 9 £ 5% H (561,427)
Loss before tax & %5 A B 18 (332,626)
Other segment Hihn HER
information
Depreciation and I EE T gy
amortisation 130,442 166,578
Unallocated amounts Ao B A 3,135

Total depreciation and e R ERE
amortisation 169,713
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4. BEFTHEFE @)

Year ended 31 December 2015
HE20156F12A31BIEFE

Infant milk
formula Nutrition
products products Others Total
LY RET
W13 FEE =& H ity =X
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREFTT AR®ETT AREFTT
Segment revenue: DEBULA :
Sales to external customers §4 & F 4N 5B = B 1,991,882 756,982 12,707 2,761,571
Intersegment sales 7 20 S 54,983 29,586 = 84,569
2,046,865 786,568 12,707 2,846,140
Reconciliation: R -
Elimination of intersegment 1 8 43 2 i $5 &
sales (54,983) (29,586) — (84,569)
Total revenue [N N 2,761,571
Segment results o EB B 232,136 33,982 311 266,429
Reconciliation: E) 2
Finance income B 7S U A 187,266
Finance costs B 75 B 2N (24,249
Other income and gains H i A K = 178,496
Unallocated other expenses 7k % it B9 £ # 5% H (485,175)
Profit before tax B A% Al 4 A 122,767
Other segment Hfth 5 & H
information
Depreciation and e REH
amortisation 85,029 65,100 — 150,129
Unallocated amounts KO BLHIA 7,359
Total depreciation and mEREHBE
amortisation 157,488
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4,

Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4,

Geographical information

Mainland China
New Zealand

B K
iy

KEFHER @
i EE R

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%Tx BN
2,146,045 2,761,571
57,270 —
2,203,315 2,761,571

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

Revenue, Other Income and Gains 5.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is as
follows:

FHRBAGEEREPAE RS S -

WA~ Eibi AR WS

AEEUA - EUA R a8

-

2016

Notes RMB’000
Bt AR® T
Revenue ON
Sales of goods 7 on H B (@) 2,203,315
Other income and gains H i A & i
Government grants BT # B
— Compensation for expenses incurred —HEELETHNHE 3,582
— Compensation for acquisition of assets ~ — %} & B & 7= 1) #H (& 1,084
— Taxes refund — R 14,120
Compensation income E KA (b) 2,252
Rental income HE WA 6,053
Consigned processing income ZEEMI A © 36,731
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant &% - = L& E
and equipment, net I (d) =
Foreign exchange gains, net B 5 U &5 )5 58 16,649
Promotion service income HE RS A C) 134,090
Exempted interest expense XHEHNHEEHR =
Others HAh 12,835

227,396

2015
RMB’000

ARETT

2,761,571

2,891
2,985
29,325
3,057
9,127
68,694

24,035
25,071

10,656
2,655

178,496
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5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains (Continued)

Notes:

@)

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy and
nourishment products. Revenue, represents the sales value of goods
supplied to customers. Revenue excludes sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and no revenue from transactions
with a single customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue during the year.

Compensation income mainly represented forfeitures received from
distributor customers during the year for cross territorial sales that breached
the terms of distribution agreements.

This mainly represented consigned processing income and cost of sales
from processing milk powder for Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a fellow subsidiary
of the Company.

The gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment was mainly
due to Yashili (Guangdong)’s disposal of one of its industrial zones in 2015
to Guangdong Yashili Investment Company Limited. The assets disposed of
include land use right, property, plant and equipment.

This represented promotion service income from DAPH and Arla Foods
amba during the year.

6. Other Expenses

5. WA - Hitdr A R IR @)

GEE

@

AEETFEREANGREEREER
HE-EXBA AREFPHENER
MHEEE - RATBREHEENR LK
MR HETH -

AEBNTEFERZ T RERN - I
BEME-FPNRZ M RERALL
REEHEEFENI0%EIA L -

BERATEZRERFAREREHT#
TREVZ AT (L AS $H 78 B PR MO 3ROR -

ZAMTRARKRARBEZARTF (KR
NAH[E F B AR ZFEN T I A4
AR SHERA o

BENX BELRRBIUREEIZAM
=M (ER) R20154F M 7 + 7 (B R) 1%
BREBRAREBE-—EIXE REEE
TERELH FEREMRERRSE -

% 7B R &R A DAPH AN Arla Foods amba &)
HEERBHEA -

6. HAMpx

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B AR¥ T ARETT
Loss on disposal of items of property, REY¥ - ME & FE
plant and equipment, net K —
Losses on disposal of inventory GFERERX (@) 14,955
Impairment of inventory GEREER 217
Donations 8 R 4,701
Cost of consigned processing ZFE I TRCA 5(c) 65,394
Others Hith 7,621
148,230 92,888
Note: M3 -
(@)  Losses on disposal of inventory mainly represented losses arising from @ TFTERBEAXTIZEEREBHBELR HEF

stocktake loss, disposal of damped or deteriorated inventory and disposal of
packaging.

ASREZRBENTERBELEY
LB 2 A A 1B o
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31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

7. Profit/(Loss) Before Tax

7.

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

BB RS R, (5 18)

AEBENBA (BER)/FEYENGER/
(&) T3 B IREFE RIS

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE ARET T ARBTT
Cost of goods sold EmEEKAR 1,166,015 1,359,274
Depreciation of items of property, plant and #71% - k& R & EiT &~
equipment* 13 159,375 139,598
Depreciation of investment properties KEYMENE 15 2,457 3,043
Amortisation of land use rights + b {55 PR AR 16 2,031 2177
Amortisation of other non-current assets H At 3E R B) & B 8 3,078 7,411
Amortisation of intangible assets BT A 17 2,772 5,259
Total depreciation and amortisation P& N SH 8RR 169,713 157,488
Minimum lease payments under operating EEMLLHAERZEKRA S
leases of buildings 11,791
Auditors’ remuneration % ELED B & 2,930
Employee benefit expense* EERANE"
(excluding directors’ and chief executive’s (T"EHEEEN T E1T
remuneration): A B E ) -
Wages, salaries and allowances TE& - HekER 447,331 374,955
Termination benefits Bt BBk A 2 74,132 29,118
Pension scheme contributions RIS T B
(defined contribution schemes) (EFEHtHErED 38,644 38,570
560,107 442 643
Interest income &2 WA (103,522) (122,540)
Gain on other investments H 1% & & s (26,716) (64,726)
Total financial income B 5 U A 4 5B (130,238) (187,266)
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 i W R TR E 21 146

*

disclosed above.

8. Finance Costs

Part of these costs and expenses were included in “Cost of goods sold” as

O ZERANERCESE LR
MIEmEERA]F -

8. HBRA
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBET T
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable AR AFABHEENR
within five years TEFRRFE 26,730
Less: Interest capitalised (note 14) B BRI S (K eE14) 2,481

24,249
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9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 9. EERITHART M
Remuneration
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERITEHA R F
remuneration
The Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the years BIEEE RN B KN £3831&(1)@) -
ended 31 December 2015 and 2016, disclosed pursuant to the ) CAMOHLRE XD (MR ESE
Hong Kong Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the RITHEHZFTMOEE)  REE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies 20164 K&2015F12H31H Ik F
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) E BEERTHEZEOEZ RE
Regulation, is as follows: e
2016
Salaries,
allowances, Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
R 3.1 HEEHE BREHE
we REWAE kA "3 e Pk
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR TR AR TR AR¥TR
Executive directors HITES
— Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu i)~ — & &5 4 4 (i)
— Mr. Li Dongming (v) —FRALEV
— Mr. Hua Li (vi) — E J1 5% K (Vi)

Non-executive directors  FHTES

— Ms. Sun Yiping () —BEHERZL()

— M. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (i)~ — [ 85 5% 4 (i)

— Mr. Wu Jingshui (iii) — R A i)

— Mr. Qin Peng —RiEEE

— Mr. Zhang Ping —RkEEE

— Mr. Huang Xiaojun (i) —EBEELAW
Independent non-executive B3I FHTEE

directors

— Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben —RERLE

— Mr. Cheng Shoutai —-BIFALE

— Mr. Lee Kong Wai —ZRETE

Conway




HEFIERZERERAT 2016F F3)
SE WUl N~ 165
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTINUED)
PaN = -
S H W BRI EE @
31 December2016 2016412 A31 H
9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 9. EERTHATTFMHN @
Remuneration (continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERITHARTHN @
remuneration (Continued)
2015
Salaries,
allowances, Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
He MRk HEERH W BRREiE
we EMME ok 5% Hhas
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%TR ARETR
Executive directors HITES
— Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu ()~ — & 813 5 & (i) 1,728 1,152 57 2,937
— Mr. Zhang Lidian — RAMAEE = 294 151 18 463
— Mr. Li Dongming (v) —ZRAPLEVY - 960 540 57 1,557
— Mr. Zhang Yanpeng —REBLE = 107 - 9 116
- 3,089 1,843 141 5,073
Non-executive directors  FE#{TE=
— Ms. Sun Yiping (i) —BFEEZL() — = — — —
— Mr. Wu Jingshui (i) — S 2K % (i) - - —~ - -
— Mr. Bai Ying —BELE - = - _ _
— Mr. Qin Peng —&fEaaE - - - - -
— Mr. Zhang Ping —REEE = = — — _
Independent non- BUEHTES
executive directors
— Mr. Mok WaiBunBen  — B & %L+ 200 - - - 200
— Mr. Cheng Shoutai —BFAEE 200 - - - 200
— Mr. Lee Kong Wai —EEHEE
Conway 200 - - — 200
600 — — - 600
600 3,089 1,843 141 5,673

(i) On 15 September 2016, Ms. Sun Yiping resigned as a

non-executive director.

(i)  On 15 September 2016, Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu was re-

designated as a non-executive director.

@iy~ On 29 January 2016, Mr. Wu Jingshui resigned as a non-

executive director.

() 20165 9H15H @ FRFEF L &

EFMTTEE -

(i) F2016F9H15H * E B L

ERFENTESR

(i) F 201641 F29H » BB /K L L&

EFMITE=E -
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9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Remuneration (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s

(b)

remuneration (Continued)
(v)

as a non-executive director.

(a)

On 29 January 2016, Mr. Huang Xiaojun was appointed

(vy  On 25 August 2016, Mr. Li Dongming resigned as an

executive director.

(vi)

executive director.

Five highest paid employees

On 25 August 2016, Mr. Hua Li was appointed as an

(b)

Two (2015: none) of the five highest paid individuals were
directors whose emoluments are shown above. Details of the
emoluments paid to the three (2015: five) highest paid
individuals who are neither a director nor chief executive of the

Company for the year were as follows:

9. EERTHAREM @

EERTHARETHN @

(v) 201651 A208 =B =E
FEBRETRIERTES -

() M201648HA25H  E R H
FTEBERTES -

(vi) PM2016F8A25H  E S ik
EREREZEAERMITES -

IEBRaMEREE

e #H ATFHBEEMAL (2015
F-EM)EF BHURSHHS
ERERLEXERZE - AFE XM
F=(L(2015%F : AfL)FEES - I
BEEATENES T RITEHA
BERMESNT -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Performance related bonuses
Pension scheme contributions
(defined contribution schemes)

¥e - RMMEDMNR
HEEFENESD
BREEHER

(E B 5kET &)

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
5,767

1,656

208

7,631

The number of the non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

M ALTHERNNFEERIFER
HTENRSHFHNEEHRBENT

Number of employees
EEHE
2015

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

75 ¥ 500,001 7T & /8 % 1,000,000 7T

78 1,000,001 7T = /& # 1,500,000 7T
785 1,500,001 7T 2 7% ¥ 2,000,000 7T
785 ¥ 2,000,001 7T 2 7% ¥ 2,500,000 7T
75 ¥ 2,500,001 7T 2 7% ¥ 3,000,000 7T

4

!
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10. Income Tax Expense/(credit)

10. F S BL B X, (3K 3RL)

2016
RMB’000

AR® TR

9,722

13,194
(35,324)

Current income tax B ER B 15 B¢

Adjustments in respect of current tax of IR R HERR A 1 5 7 #Y B B
previous periods i T8 B

Deferred income tax BEEET

Tax charge/(credit) for the year REEZRIBZ M

(12,408)

A reconciliation of the income tax (credit)/expense applicable to (loss)/
profit before tax at the PRC statutory income tax rate and the income
tax (credit)/expense at the Group’s effective income tax rate for the

year is as follows:

2015
RMB’000

ARET T

53,575

2,836
(61,900)

4,511

EFER sthRBia(ER), 8 f R
FEAEMSHRBERAENMEHGE
B /FX - ERRAEEERMREHR
BEFFERMSHGER) X 8

LI

2016
RMB’000
ARBTR

(Loss)/Profit before tax B i AT (&5 18), i 7
At the PRC statutory tax rate of 25% = BE E L E25%
(2015: 25%) (i) (20154 : 25%) (i)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of RERNERAEFEED

previous periods BV A 7% 18 57 B
Effect of non-deductible expenses AP AZ T E
Effect of tax rate difference (i) NGRS 0p-2-10)!
Unrecognised tax losses RIERTIEE 18
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax HANERERER
losses
Effect of non-taxable income TEBRANEE

(83,157)

13,194
10,703
(40,800)
158,485

(50,254)
(20,579)

Tax (credit)/charge for the year at
the effective rate

AEERERVERGFHE
B S

(12,408)

2015
RMB’000

ARET T

122,767

30,692

2,836
7,078

(15,153)
5,861

(6,755)
(20,048)

4,511
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10. Income Tax Expense/(credit) (continued)

0

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC passed by the Tenth
National People" s Congress on 16 March 2007 (the “New Tax Law"), the
statutory income tax rate of the Group ' s PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1
January 2008, except for Oushi Mengniu which is subject to a preferential
tax rate of 15%, in accordance with “The notice of tax policies relating to the
implementation of Western China Development Strategy " .

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax in the
Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2016 is calculated at 16.5% (2015:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of New Zealand, the Group is subject
to income tax rate of 28% in New Zealand.

11. Dividends

The dividends for the year are set out below:

)

10. FT BB BE (KR (@)

BEEF+TEZEARNKE ARG R2007F
SA16EEBBM(PEAREMBE M EAN
BREYTHBRD  AEETHKEA
AIE2008F 1 A1 BEETEMEHHE X
£25% o R ECE R R A E B 78 50 oK B %
HEAHEGKEREEMENRN) Bt S
FEHI%MEERRE -

BEHREREMABREAES(HEBR
TEBDMRERER AEEREAE
HEREMABRELBESHNEIMME
i e

REB206FHEBEFNESHBHERUALTF
ER G ERBE R - R R16.5% (2015
F 116.5%) (T REHE ©

REFOFERORERER  A&H
T 37 78 B BR 0 VA TE 28% Y AT 1S B B o o

1. K2

AERNBEHIMAT

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T AREFTT
Dividends: i E
Declared and paid during the year KETRMRZA
— Equity dividends on ordinary shares (i) — TR AR 2 () 74,505
Proposed: #EK -
— Final dividend: Nil —REIRE &
(2015: RMBO0.75 cents per (20154 : GRREARK
ordinary share) (ii) AR¥0.75%) (i) 35,477
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11. Dividends (Continued) 1. B E @

Notes: P -

0] The final dividend of RMB 0.75 cents per ordinary share in respect of the 0] MR2016F6 ASHRARABREEAF AL L
previous financial year was approved at the Company’s annual general HEERE-—BMBRFERAREFRE
meeting on 3 June 2016. BIRAREE0TED ©

(ii) The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the (ii) BEFERARSBAAERDARRRE
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. IEl G SR SN =9

12. Earnings/(Loss) Per Share Attributable to 1RBLAAEEEEEAARE
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent EHNERERN(FHE)
The basic earnings/(loss) per share for each year is calculated by REREN(EBE)VREERNEA
dividing the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity T EEREAE AEGHNE (B8 K%
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary A REBETERRAMET S S
shares outstanding during the year. & o
The parent has no dilutive potential shares. NAEBIEEERAK -
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are HESREAMBERN (BB L5
based on: EANMTE

Earnings: B :

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity ARG ESREARTNEE (B
holders of the parent, used in the basicand ~ 18) /B H & A & L EER
diluted (loss)/earnings per share calculation — #48 A FE(E (E18), /5 E

Shares: Mt
Weighted average number of ordinary shares &t 2 5 % £ 78 A1 58 (&518)
for the purpose of the basic and diluted Z A B A 9 3 A8 AR hn

(loss)/earnings per share calculation 15

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARET T

118,256

Number of shares
BAEE
2016 2015
’000 000
T B T

4,745,560 4,612,295
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment

2016 2016
Cost: B
At 1 January 2016 M2016%F1A1H
Additions NE
Transfer from construction in progress &% 5 £ 2 T 12
(note 14) (P E14)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 32) WE—RFANa
(Fi7£32)
Transfer from assets of disposal group B # B & B & H)
classified as held for sale (note 31) REHREE
(P 7£31)
Assets of disposal group classified as 5 ¥ A EHFE
held for sale (note 31) REHREE
(Fiz£31)
Transfer to construction in progress B EZEZ TR
(note 14) (FffzE14)
Disposals BE
Transfer to investment properties HRTREANE
(note 15) (Fffz£15)
Exchange realignment B % 5 2
At 31 December 2016 R2016F 12 A31H
Accumulated depreciation and R EREE:

Impairment:
At 1 January 2016

R2016%1 818

Depreciation provided during the year & TR E) T &
(note 7) (i E7)
Transfer from assets of disposal group E& B EEFER
classified as held for sale REHEE
(B 7E31)
Disposals BE
Transfer to investment properties BRERENE
(note 15) (it 3E15)
Assets of disposal group classifiedas 5 A &HE
held for sale (note 31) REMAEE
(HzE31)
Transfer to construction in progress ~ ERZEEZ T2
(note 14) (P E14)
Exchange realignment [ & 5
At 31 December 2016 R2016E12 A31H
Net carrying amount: BREFE:

At 31 December 2016

M2016412 A31H

At 1 January 2016

»2016%1 A1 H

13. 9% BEERE

Freehold Plant and
land buildings

BRtE HERET
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR¥TZ

37,095 832,862
7,419

13,625 11,036

59,241

35,083

(2,002)

(1,017)

(52,175)
19,074

909,521

(142,709)

(36,294)

(13,973)
210

1,554

(775)
(191,082)

54,513 718,439
37,095 690,153

Machinery
and
equipment

BERRE

RMB’000
AR®TR

1,438,808
8,926

46,225

8,263

49,156

(9,060)
(4,319)

78,311
1,616,310

(474,926)

(113,037)

(33,316)
4,709

2,386
(3,190)
(617,374)

998,936
963,882

Motor
vehicles

BaE
RMB’000

ARBTR

42,465
398

(15,412)

(31,074)

(8,171)

(4,505)
12,948

304
(25,498)

7,593
11,391

Office
equipment
and others

WAER
Hit %
RMB’000
AR TR

63,862
7,883

84

13,657

(610)

(40,014)

45,789

(651,813)

(6,873)

(11,556)
32,964

148
(36,612)

9,177
12,049

Total

B%
RMB’000
ARBT T

2,415,092
24,626

70,970

68,290

103,462

2,612)

(9,060)
(60,762)

(52,175)
101,393

2,659,224

(700,522)

(159,375)

(63,350)
50,831

1,554

1,423

2,386
(3,513)
(870,566)

1,788,658
1,714,570
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 13. ¥ - MERREm@
Machinery Office
Plant and and Motor  equipment
Freehold land buildings  equipment vehicles  and others Total
WAER
BT BELREF BBERERE EEED Hpth % At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2015 2015 ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR ARETRT ARETR
Cost: BOAS
At 1 January 2015 R2015%1 18 40,103 623,574 763,372 69,392 96,760 1,593,201
Additions NE — 3,526 8,651 4,134 3,096 19,407
Transfer from construction in progress 82 & 5 7£ 2 T 32
(note 14) (Pt &E14) - 363,181 735,312 = 726 1,099,219
Disposals BE - (19,804) (26,998) (21,811) (10,736) (79,349)
Transfer to investment properties BRERENE
(note 15) (Pt 3E15) = 41,932 = = = 41,982
Exchange realignment & % (3,008) 8,098 16,628 (58) (47) 21,613
Assets of disposal group classifiedas D EAZHEFE
held for sale (note 31) RERBE
(Pt 3E31) - (187,645) (58,157) (9,192) (25,937) (280,931)
At 31 December 2015 RK2015%F12 A31H 37,095 832,862 1,438,808 42,465 63,862 2,415,092
Accumulated depreciation and R ERAE:
Impairment:
At 1 January 2015 H2015%1 418 —  (170177)  (442,605) (51,306) (60,305 (724,393)
Depreciation provided during the year £ &1 5+ £ 47 &
(note 7) (Bt &E7) = (32,138) (83,464) (5,532) (18464)  (139,598)
Disposals RE - 14,526 13,611 19,476 7,200 54,813
Transfer from investment properties ~ E & B REME
(note 15) (P £ 15) - (5,777) - - - (5,777)
Exchange realignment B RF{R - 62) (221) ©) (117) (409)
Assets of disposal group classifiedas S fE A EEE
held for sale (note 31) REHEE
(P 7E31) - 50,919 37,753 6,297 19,873 114,842
At 31 December 2015 #M2015%12 A31 A —  (142,709)  (474,926) (31,074) (51,813  (700,522)
Net carrying amount: HR [ A
At 31 December 2015 R2015%12 A31H 37,095 690,153 963,882 11,391 12,049 1,714,570
At 1 January 2015 R2015%1 818 40,103 453,397 320,767 18,086 36,455 868,808

On 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016, there were no
property, plant and equipment of which the ownership was pledged.

R20164F 12 A31 B & 201512 A31H -

AEEENE EFMKBOMBAER

BB -
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14. Construction in Progress

14. T2 I =

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B & AR® TR AREFTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1BREREE 33,151 835,983
Additions b=y}l 66,300 377,992
Acquisition of a subsidiary W —RF AR 32 7,473 —
Transfer from property, plant and equipment % 5 ¥ % - M E L& H 13 6,674 —
Transfer from Assets of disposal group HEARAETENEREEMA
classified as held for sale BE 41 =
Transfer to property, plant and equipment =¥ % - HE Mk 13 (70,970) (1,099,219)
Transfer to intangible Assets EREmEEE 17 (2,472) —
Disposals BE (4,356)
Assets of disposal group classified as held D EAEEFENE S48
for sale BE 31 (378)
Exchange realignment b K 2 (76,871)
Accumulated impairment: RETRE —
Carrying amount at 31 December R12A31BMEEE 33,151

None of the interest expense was capitalised to construction in
progress for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015:
RMB2,481,000) prior to being transferred to buildings and machinery
(note 8).

REHEEF RS REE20165F
12A3MALEEE BEWRERLLAEER
TR2M A B &M (20154 : 2,481,0007T)
(GETIE
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15. Investment Properties 15. REW £
2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 AR® TR AREFTT
Cost: RN :
At beginning of the year REH 119,047
Additions NE —
Transfer from property, plant and equipment B8 5 ¥ % « M E MR E 13 =
Transfer to property, plant and equipment B =¥ % - M E A& 13 (41,932)
Assets of disposal group classified asheld D EAFAFENRE
for sale BE 31 (53,039)
Disposals BE (1,769) —
At end of the year MNER 24,076
Accumulated depreciation: H2FHE:
At beginning of the year REH) (3,998) (15,233)
Charge for the year FRNIFTE 7 (2,457) (3,043)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment % 5 ¥ % - [ E k& H 13 (1,554) —
Transfer to property, plant and equipment  EE =¥ BB M & 13 5,777
Assets of disposal group classified asheld D AEEEENES
for sale BE 31 8,501
Disposals BE -
At end of the year RER (3,998)
Carrying amount at end of the year RERKEER 20,078

ARAMEZ2RBUNENTH X

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined by the

directors of the Company, based on market approach with reference
to market transaction prices of similar properties, taking into account
of other factors, i.e., characteristics of the properties and locations, is
estimated to be approximately RMB94,566,000 as at 31 December
2016 (2015: RMB28,547,000).

SER TEBINEMHRAE MZD
ENER- - MNE UTHEAFHHZE
B ER2016F12A3IBN AL BE
4 B AN R #94,566,0007T (20154 + A
R #28,547,0007T) °
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15. Investment Properties (Continued) 15. RE W E @)
Fair value hierarchy AREBEEEBRER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of TEERBHAPTAERLEEMEN
the Group’s investment properties: AABEFENERERE:

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2016 using
FAR2016F12A31ENAREENWAIE
Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ERWE EBEAAUEE EATAUEE

ZHE WARE wABE
(F4—) (F& =) (F&/=) &%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®BTR AR®TR AR®TR

Fair value measurement for; A4 B E 2 :

Commercial properties HEMEE 94,566 94,566
Total &5t 94,566 94,566

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2015 using
FAR2015F12 A1 B AR EER A E

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EEMYE  BEAUBRE EATAER

2 HmE AR AR
(F/—) (F4 ) (FH=) &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TRET AREBTT ARETT

Fair value measurement for; A4 BEE 2 :

Commercial properties BEMYE — — 28,547 28,547
Total A&t — — 28,547 28,547
During the years of 2016 and 2015, there were no transfers into or 2016F R20156F Y E AR EEFTEE

out of Level 3. AFE=HIEE=RED -
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16. Land Use Rights

Carrying amount at beginning of the year

Disposals

Amortisation for the year (note 7)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 32)

Transfer from Assets of disposal group
classified as held for sale

Assets of disposal group classified as held for
sale (note 31)

Current portion included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

BELRERZERERLAT 2016F F3]
RV % 175
16. * it {F i #E

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
FUERAEE 53,191 91,689
BE - (6,056)
FRF R (E7) (2,031) (2,177)
g —=xR 72 al (K sE32) 41,527 =

ERAREFENEEHEE
2,578 =

DHEAREFRERELAEE

(fF7E31) (30,265)
53,191

STARBEERENR #He
o B Ath e U 308 (1,323)
51,868

Land use rights represent prepayments of land use rights premium to
the PRC authorities by the Group. The Group’s leasehold land is
located in Mainland China, on which its manufacturing plants were
located. The Group is granted land use rights for a period of 50 years.
The Group has obtained land title certificates for all the land use

rights.

HERERREE -

35 AR R R SR ) R B BT R
BENMtERAELES ARENH
ErRPERE ZELEERE -
AEBEERTH I MERE RS0
F-AKEERRSERELCENEEL
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17. Intangible Assets 17. B EE

Software Trademarks Total

LGS [z a8F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2016 2016512831 H B 5 AR® T AR® T AR® T

Cost at 1 January 2016, net of ~ F ¥ F &

accumulated amortization 12,651
Additions — Purchased BEE 535
Additions — Acquisition of a Wi —RF A Al

subsidiary 32 283,047 283,120
Additions — Transfer from ERAEEEEDN

assets of disposal group BEEHEE

classified as held for sale 101 101
Additions — Transfer from ERAEETRE

construction in progress 14 2,472 2,472
Amortisation provided during 7R 8 g

the year 7 (2,772) (2,772)
Amortisation — Transfer from EEREOEEFERN

assets of disposal group BEHEE

classified as held for sale (77) (77)
Exchange realignment b 3 & B 1,771 1,771
At 31 December 2016 FRFE 14,754 283,047 297,801
At 31 December 2016 F R
Cost B A 29,687 283,047 312,734
Accumulated amortization R (14,933) - (14,933)

Net Carrying Amount FRFE 14,754 283,047 297,801
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31 December 2016 2016412 A 31 H
17. Intangible Assets (Continued) 17. B EE m)
Microsoft Trademarks Total
EI s [ERE a&t
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2015 201512 A31H M ARETT ARETT AREFTT
Costat 1 January 2015, netof ~ FE¥F(E
accumulated amortization
Cost BN 17,614 50,000 67,614
Accumulated amortization RETE# (12,030) (42,500) (54,530)
Net Carrying Amount REF] 5,584 7,500 13,084
31 December 2015
Costat 1 January 2015, netof ~ FE¥F(E
accumulated amortisation 5,584 7,500 13,084
Additions — Purchased BE 9,387 = 9,387
Deduction Ve (1,235) (3,333) (4,568)
Deduction — Transferto assets HEEEFHFEH
of disposal group classified as REHEERE
held for sale 31 (144) — (144)
Amortisation provided during NS i
the year 7 (1,092 (4,167) (5,259)
Exchange realignment b 2 4 B 151 - 151
At 31 December 2015 FRFE 12,651 = 12,651
At 31 December 2015 FR
Cost BN 24,579 = 24,579
Accumulated Amortization RETHEH (11,928) = (11,928)
Net Carrying Amount RER 12,651 = 12,651

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the intangible
assets represented trademarks with indefinite useful lives identified in
acquisition, and purchased and customised software held by the
Group. Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in
“Administrative expenses”, “Selling and distribution expenses” and “Cost
of sales”.

M20169F12 A31H &2015412 8318 -
BREEERKRETHNNERASG T
BENHNENMEERITENBEAEH
BEMSR G- BEEE#BE T AT
BAEEZ] [HE REEMAE I RIEEE K
K] e
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7. B & =E @)

17. Intangible Assets (Continued)

Impairment testing of trademarks

The trademarks are applied for Dumex infant formula products. The
recoverable amount of the Dumex infant formula products cash-
generating unit to which the trademarks belong has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projection is
14.22%, which is based on the estimated growth rates taking into
account the industry growth rates, past experience and the medium
or long term growth target of the infant milk formula products.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation for 31
December 2016. The following describes each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projection to undertake
impairment testing of trademarks:

(@) Budgeted gross margin — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average
gross margin achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements
and expected increase in production costs.

(b) Discount rates — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant group of CGUs.

(¢) Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to the
actual data of the past year of countries from where raw
materials are sourced.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with external
information sources.

The sensitivity analysis for Dumex infant formula products CGU to
which the trademarks belong on the key assumptions used in the
calculation of value in use, taken individually, gives the following
results:

(SRR

BAZARZEZRENERER  BIEZ
FTBRNZEBBRETHNE SRR
STEHBEUNATKRESE D AES R
ERABHMAENAFYKBBE KT
AEE. RARSREEMNAEMEN
FHEETUAEE ARBEERFHMU
BIREMEMIR K B14.22% Ty BA1H
SRR AEE WEEBTEHEER .
L&M%& USSR 5 A A A R R E I
EBEMmMTEMSE-

EEtE2016F12A31BENEREER
f%%?ﬁ“v%ﬁ@ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬂ

ETHEREANRMKENSEEE
FREFFMMAT

@ BEEIFE-ARETEEEN
EEEOEEDEEREFEN
—ERERNFYENE LA
R A M B R R B A A E AR
182007 DA S 2 -

b FRE—-PAAFNBERTDRAL R
MEBRSELEMNTERR -

© BEMHERESH - 2ZRH/RE
BREFERHE-

ZRBNEELIIBHBERR -

AEREBERANEEAREEMR
CELBEUNERBEERALERR
W& BREEDRETHEURES T
\—_f:jjmu%m]—l—'

Reasonably possible change Impairment

ARERENESESE WA

RMB’000

ARBFT

Revenue growth rate g A 1 K R Decrease 5% FE1K5% 86,300
Gross margin rate E Fl| = Decrease 6% [ 1K.6% 38,202
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18. Goodwill 18. B &

As at 31 May 2016, Yashili (Guangdong) (the “acquirer”), a subsidiary
of the Group, acquired a 100% equity interest in Dumex China (the
“acquiree”). The business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of
RMB718,476,000. Further details of the acquisition are included in
note 32 to the financial statements.

In 2015, Yashili (Guangdong) (the “acquirer”), a subsidiary of the
Group, acquired a 100% interest in Oushi Mengniu (the “acquiree”), a
subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, which is also the ultimate holding
company of the Group. The acquirer recorded goodwill amounting to
RMB272,760,000, which was originally recorded in the book of
Mengniu Dairy as a result of the Mengniu Dairy’s acquisition of Oushi
Mengniu in previous year.

MR2016FE5 A31H » B F(EE) ([
BAHD A&EEH—RTRE WES
ez B ([ U2 B8 75 1)100% AR A © itk 18
BT REE AR 718,476,000
TEE -BEZWEFBRRNTHERE
B sE32 o

Ro05FHLER(ER)(TWER]) - &
EEN—RTAR WHERESRF (K
WEHD(AEENERARKFAE
B — R TR AR 100% M #E - Ug B8 75 B
L8 T AR #272,760,000 7T & 74
B -ZHERBEFESFIAERER

SR A A A B A A o

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
GEN AR®TR ARETTT

M1 A1BEREE
W —RT QA

Carrying amount at 1 January
Acquisition of a subsidiary

272,760 272,760
32 718,476 =

Carrying amount at 31 December W12 A3 A EREEE

272,760

Impairment testing of goodwill

The above goodwill is reallocated to the following groups of cash-
generating units for impairment testing due to the changes to the way
in which the Company manages its business from the synergies of
the combinations:

° Infant milk formula products cash-generating unit group, and

° Nutrition products cash-generating unit group.

The carrying amounts of goodwill reallocated to infant milk formula
products cash-generating unit group and nutrition products cash-

generating unit group are RMB917,591,000 and RMB73,645,000,
respectively.

7T 2 Rk R AL

AAEENETSEAEAENHRRER
TEEXBHMIN LA ERESE
AT MERSESDETHENMBE
A

s EREINMMERRESEHLEM
Ha M

s XEmRESEHLEMEAR

WENOIENEZEFDNMESELE
BENHAENEERBReELENES
MEES R A AR®I17,591,000 7T
AR #73,645,0007T °
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18. Goodwiill (Continued) 18. ﬁ 2 (#®)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the infant milk formula products cash-
generating unit group and nutrition products cash-generating unit
group have been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a
five-year period approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 14.17% (2015: 11.85%), which
is based on the estimated growth rates taking into account the
industry growth rates, past experience and the medium or long term
growth target of the infant milk formula products and nutrition
products.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation for 31
December 2016 and 2015. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow projection
to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

(@) Budgeted gross margin — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average
gross margin achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements
and expected increase in production costs.

(b) Discount rates — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant group of CGUs.

(¢) Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to the
actual data of the past year of countries from where raw
materials are sourced.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with external
information sources.

[GESNRER:EAC 3

BREAFPHERBRESENENHES
ME&ERReELEMAS N KRE
SHEDIUNESREBABHENRT
PHRBEXEAARE KEARERE
BAHEMSNHERBETUEE - A
RHEERAFHUERR S RENIEX
B1417% (20154 : 11.85%) » Jy LAfA 5T
WMERAREE UEFETEEEER B
ARB LI FIMMNEERHF
RHEBEMAEMRS-

s 20164 K2015F 12 A31 B B &
BEENEAETRE - EEERRS
A TEOR M 1T A B R E R SR FT R IR A
FEEFEHEXFMDOT

@ FEHEEMNE-HAREBEEEEERN
REENEEDEERFEEFEN
—EMERNFIHENE TRH
ETRGHARBE Rt R A AER K
KN T LA o

b FRE—-FAAFBERTIRALR
REBRSELBEUNTERR

© RMHEREY - 2FTRHMRE
BREFEREE-

TERENEEEIBBIRIR 2 -
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18. Goodwiill (continued) 18. B & @)
The sensitivity analysis for infant milk formula product cash-generating HEBRRA AN HERRESEL BN
unit group on the key assumptions used in the calculation of value in MENFEREER SR ALTEMBERE
use, taken individually, gives the following results: BEHEHESRETHREST  BH&
LU

Reasonably possible change Impairment

ARERENESESH A

RMB’000

AREFTT

Revenue growth rate g A8 & & Decrease 1% FE1K1% 78,162

Perpetual growth rate KB R K Decrease 1% FEIEA1% 17,317

Gross margin rate S Decrease 1% [ 1K 1% 281,451

Discount rate Prig = Increase 1% R 1% 76,418
Except for infant milk formula product cash-generating unit group, in AEESEERAE BRTERRSDHE
the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably possible mBEeEHEMES EERBRSED
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is BRAEMT LY EEKIEDBER
based would not cause the nutrition products cash-generating unit BRREEAMAENERES HTE

group’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. BEYRMEAEBATRKEE -
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19. Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year
are as follows:

19. iE ZE % 18

FREZEFMBHREEBNAEGEENE
BT

Deferred tax assets ELEMBREE
Inventory  Deferred Tax Expense Cash flow
provisions income losses accruals hedges Others Total
HBemg
FERE EThzir HBEEE BEREAR =31 Hit &it
Notes ~RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
M ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTR
At 1 January 2016 74201641 A1H 1,904 73,749 62,923 15,079 153,655
Debited/(credited) to  4F A 1B 2 & =t
the statement of AR EET B
profit or loss 10 8,355 (1,072 24,935 (185) 6,967 39,000
Debited to equity RN EZE T 5
AR FE R 18 1,720 1,720
Transfer from assets & # B 155 F &
classified as held
for sale 31 7,851 253 8,575
At 31 December R20164F 12 A
2016 31H 8,826 832 108,255 62,738 - 22,299 202,950
At 1 January 2015 720154181 H 622 5,150 5,662 84,228 1,257 18,666 115,585
Debited/(credited) to  4E A7 18 28 & 5t
the statement of AR B IER I
profit or loss 10 (151) (3,246) 75,938 (21,305) = (3,334) 47,902
Debited to equity SRR EZE T
A BV FE 5 TH — — - - (1,257) - (1,257)
Transferto assets ~ ERIFHEFE
classified as held
for sale 31 (471) = (7,851) = = (253) (8,575)
At 31 December R20154F
2015 12A31H — 1,904 73,749 62,923 - 15,079 153,655
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19. Deferred Tax (Continued) 19. iE 3 i 18 (@)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIESHAas

Interest income
for time deposits

accruals Others Total
EHBER
MERER Hit &t
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B & ARBETT ARETFT ARBFTT
At 1 January 2016 R2016%1A1H
(Debited)/credited to the statement 4 AR B a5 & =t A K
of profit or loss EIETIE
Debited to equity FRARERPEFTAD
EEFE
Transfer to assets classified asheld ®#EAFEFE
for sale
At 31 December 2016 R2016F 12 A31H
At 1 January 2015 m2015%1 A1H
(Debited)/credited to the statement 4 WA 1B Rt A K
of profit or loss EERIE 10 (4,062) 64 (3,998)
Debited to equity FARERP AR
EEF A = = -
Transfer to assets classified as held # A E&HE
for sale 31 = = =
At 31 December 2015 R2015%F 12 A31 B 3,742 95 3,837
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETFIT
Represented by: HpaiE:
— Deferred tax assets —RIERIBEE 202,950 153,655
— Deferred tax liabilities — R IEAE (7,513) (3,837)
195,437 149,818
Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be EREEBARKRFEE AT LHEER
available against which the above tax losses and deductible AR - AT A AR A0 - i R T8 5 18 S ]

temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years. MWREREER -
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19. Deferred Tax (Continued) 19. IE % % I8 (@)
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued) EEZEMBHRAEE@m
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the BEEBRBEEY A N5 BEBER:

following item:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT

Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) A AR B K [ 7 A A AR TE B 18 () 298,458

()  The above tax losses are available for a maximum of five years () ELHFIBEBETRAAKERAE
to offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which EEEBERERMINBRZHF -

the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the MEMBIEBNRECHIEBEEE N &
above item as it is not considered probable that there will be MTYAER REEAEET K
taxable profit available to against the tax losses in the future. B RRERTFEA UK

HABAMIEREE -

The following deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised in RERNIELERIBEE -
respect of the following items:

At 31 December 2016, temporary differences relating to the MR20164 12 A31H » 8 7E f B K B ik
undistributed profits of the subsidiaries established in Mainland China VWFRAFAMNARSBEMNEERE &
amounted to RMB630,749,000 (2015: RMB953,720,000). Deferred 1 = 2 A& A R #630,749,0007T (2015
tax liabilities have not been recognised in respect of the withholding F 0 AR #053,720,0007T) e AR AR
tax that would be payable on the distribution of these retained RIS EERBERESNTFRAMNEK
earnings, as the Company controls the dividend policy of these BHRR WAZEEEBTEN A RAER
subsidiaries in Mainland China and the directors have determined that EHE TG AE - MARBERRNDE
these profits are not likely to be distributed in the foreseeable future. W EB T EMEEZHMMNIBR N

RELEHIARE -
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31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

20. Inventories

20. €&

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT

201,218 192,669
211,591 270,891
180,259 148,469
25,915 27,600
893 1,490

Raw materials R K}
Finished goods P G

Work in progress F 5K fh
Packing materials BEM B
Low value consumables KEEFEm
Total AEr

619,876 641,019

21. Trade and Bills Receivables

1. EZEURKEE

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT

Trade and bills receivables N A E
Impairment DERIE]

162,138 72,236
(747) (421)

161,391 71,815

In respect of the trade receivables, the Group has established a credit
policy in place: fixed credits periods ranging from 60 to 90 days are
granted to supermarkets; temporary credit periods ranging from 10 to
90 days are offered on a transaction-by-transaction basis to
distributors who have been trading with the Group for years and have
a good trading record; special credit period are granted to
creditworthy distributors when the Group promotes certain lines of
products. All the credits offered are unsecured. Full advances are
required for sales to other customers. The Group regularly reviews
the aging analysis of the trade receivables to monitor the credit
exposure.

REZRKAEME  AEEETREE
KR AARBREHHREHRTFE0E90
BHEERFEE  ME R m &
AEBERGELZFEEBRIRZRE
MEHEBmEFPREHEN F10E908 MR
REE MAKBEHEXRIESR &
AREFNEHBAESKHNESE - B
CEUBEEMEE - HETHMLEP
EEREDHENK - AEBEEHEH
BIRUKNERER  EREERR -
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21. Trade and Bills Receivables (Continued) 21. EZEWNARREE @)
The aging analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of RIBEBR  SHBRBENERERRR
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, FEWEEREERENERS WO :
is as follows:
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFIT
Within 3 months =R®A KA 117,057 51,759
3 to 6 months =Z~EA 38,521 14,312
More than 6 months NEA MR E 5,813 5,744
161,391 71,815
The movements in provision for impairment of trade and bills BSREBRFLREBRERENE SN
receivables are as follows: N
2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR®T T AR T T
At 1 January ®1A18 1181
Impairment losses recognised BERER BB EER X 7 146
Amount written off as uncollectible A AT Ug (5] T il S B FX 58 =
Classified as held for sale EBERERF (906)
At 31 December W12 H31H 421
There was no provision made for individually impaired trade and bills 2016412 A31 H f2015F 12 A31 H 5
receivables at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015. BREENBEE S EWER R EZEER

RRBE -
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21. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

The aging analysis of the trade receivables, that are neither individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired, is as follows:

1. EFRRRKREE @

TARBEHNREBRERCBEZES
FEW R Z R D AT 4R T

3 K 8 5 2O (B
BRLR={EA
BB =="EA

Neither past due nor impaired
Less than 3 months past due
3 to 6 months past due

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBETTT
33,023

7

33,030

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there were no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors are of the opinion
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The amounts due from related parties of the Group included in the
trade receivables are as follows:

BE R 8 B 7n R (B 2 FE MR IR T B K
ETRENNEFER REEOLHL
B AR FRIAZ FC 8% o

B OR A 18 3 OB B 2 B IRIR T B
—UBIYERFER ZEEFPEAKHE
NBEREFNX Hiik  REBELR
EERREFTIUZFERTRBER
w EEEEEEYEEARNE LM
BB REAR A2 E YD -

BIANE 5 E MR A FE UL A & E BB
IR ¢

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBETTT

A fellow subsidiary — XA XK B AT

The above amounts are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.




Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2016

188 "

WU

e

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

SHUBBRENE @
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22. Prepayments, Deposits and Other

Receivables

22.

AR -HEREMER

IE

Prepaid advertising expenses

Prepayments for purchase of raw materials

Advances to sales offices
Value-added tax recoverable
Deductible interest receivable
Promotion service charge
Others

BNESHAX
B E R R R TR R

FFEMBER

& IR B,
BT S HEREE R
Htt

Less: Non-current prepayments

W —FUENRBGFEER

Total

At

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR T T
2,871

6,243

6,792

45,414

942

29,987

196,726 92,249
5,496 —
191,230 92,249

The amounts due from related parties included in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables are as follows:

SUATER SR 40 % o H i & R IR Y FE

Fellow subsidiaries

Entities significantly influenced by key
management

Companies who can exercise significant
influence over the Company

CES- PN

XIEEREBABMMER

TENRQF

RMASE/MERZEHNQE

— EEREMNBE QA

IR BEEE T FIB T
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
rrwTr NS
4,484
140
4,624

The amounts due from related parties as at 31 December 2016 and
2015 were unsecured, non-interest-bearing and had no fixed terms

of repayment.

2016 12 A 31 B K& 20154 fiE U B8 B 4%
HEOBEEFREE  2HETENRH
%qo
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23. Other Financial Assets

Bank wealth management products

A EIRE

Trust products

BERTYEREEM

BXAEBRERERAT 2016FF3]
RV \M/ 189
23. HihemEE

2016 2015

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 AR®T T AREFTT

[0} 476,994 803,859

(ii) - 70,000

476,994 873,859

(i)

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s bank wealth
management products were mainly financial products
purchased from banks with good credit rating with expected
annual interest rates of 3.1% to 4.0% (31 December 2015: 2.6%
to 4.3%). These investments were acquired with original
maturity of one month to one year and were not allowed to be
withdrawn prior to the maturity date without banks’ consent.

During 2015, the Group, as one of the beneficiaries, invested
RMB70,000,000 in two unit trust plans set up by a subsidiary of
the Company’s indirect shareholder who can exercise
significant influence over the Company and a related party of
the Group. The Group’s investments in these trust plans have
an expected maximum return of 9.2% to 10% per annum and
the maturity period is within 1 year, with the principals and
return of the investments guaranteed by third parties. The
funding of such unit trust plans was used in the investments in
a property development company and a mining company.
These trust products matured and settled in 2016.

(i)

R2016F12 831 H - & &£ @ &
BERTHEREERTEZARAR
RIFWMEEFLAMETEENS
BEM BHOFNERIIRE
4.0%(2015F 12 A31 H : 26% &
43%) c BERER—MAE—F
AR ERITNAESR
BHE -

2015 AEB(EAZTZAZ
—) LA A R #70,000,000 7T % A 2
A A FE 52 AR R (B8 H R A R HE A0
EAFE)INTRAA(RNEENE
Bt 75 ) 8% 32 O R B B8 2 {5 T AT B
TRE - AEEREMEEE
WEENERSESRNREATF
9.2%ZE10%  —FRE|H K&
BH|HBEE=FPEETER-
ZEMERTENESHEARK
E-REBIEERRAAIL K
BE % DA e 20164 » % 1= H it 2
B HRNP 4505 o
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24. Cash and Bank Balances and Other U BEeRBITEBERRS
Deposits F&

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREF T
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEEEEY 581,491 1,307,556
Pledged deposits 2R H &SR 1T1F K 803,123 594,981

Time deposits with original maturity of more R E|HA B A& =18 B A & F 5
than three months F= 1,441,254 1,635,527
2,825,868 3,438,064

Less: Short-term pledged deposits for W RITRLE 2 B ERE &

banking facilities T 803,123 594,981
Less: Long-term bank deposits W BRHSRTER 379,927 363,227
Cash and bank balances NWERBITERT 1,642,818 2,479,856
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T

The above balances denominated in: AP EETIMERNIR S RIRTT

g

— RMB — AR#& 2,473,884 3,076,030
— Other currencies —HpEE 351,984 362,034

2,825,868 3,438,064
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24,

25.

Cash and Bank Balances and Other
Deposits (Continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest rates.
As at 31 December 2016, the effective annual interest rates of short-
term time deposits were approximately 1.5% to 8.5% (31 December
2015: 0.18% to 5.25%), which would be due within a year. The
effective interest rates of long-term deposits were approximately 4.55%
to 4.88% (31 December 2015: 4.55% to 4.88%). The bank balances
and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

Other than certain bank loans secured by time deposits amounting to
RMB798,905,000 (2015: RMB510,356,000), a deposit of
RMB4,218,000 (2015: RMB84,625,000) was pledged for letters of
credit.

Trade Payables

The aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the
invoice date, as at the reporting date is as follows:

U BEeRBITEBERRS

F&R )

ARBUIFFEHLBAEMER - A
- AR BB R BOK B Y S B IR AR I % A
E-EEMMEERRTE AEEEE
BBREREETINEXBFORT KA
REELSEMER -

RITHRSRBITM ST EF B - 82016
F12AMH BHTETHERNERF
F R4 B1.5%E8.5% (20154 12 A 31
B :018%%£5.25%) * I #§ 1 — F N F
H- - RHTHEINERERANEY
734.55% % 4.88% (2015 F 12 431 B :
455% % 4.88%) c IRITHE B R EKBT
FRAHEENCHAEEERITNIE
TfETF -

BT —LEEBETEREBRBEHRERA
R #798,905,00070 (2015F : A R ¥
510,356,0007C ) #E T WA AR
# 4,018,000 7T 77 K (2015F : A R ¥
84,625,00070) HIEAF EE A& MR

B2 ENAKRMK

REEEH AEBEREZFZAHNE
SREMNEROREDTMT

Within 3 months =8 AR
3 to 6 months =Z@A=E/M@EA
More than 6 months ~NE A E

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBT T
222,504 261,147
12,356 7,103
2,761 3,854

272,104
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25. Trade Payables (Continued) 25. B 5 R @
The amounts due to related parties included in trade payables are as SIAE S EMNERHFENEE T H R
follows: /IR :
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFT
Entity significantly influenced by XEZSHREBABRIMNER
key management FENRA A 100
Fellow subsidiary of parent’s significant SRR A A —E B A B
shareholder B A] -
Fellow subsidiaries EESI=PNG] 13,541
13,641
Trade payables, including amounts due to related parties, are non- BZRENER BERESBEE TR
interest bearing and are normally settled within one month to three K BTEFHERE— MR —E-FEARNEG
months. H o
26. Other Payables and Accruals 2. HttEES R REFTEH
2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®B T ARBFT
Advances from customers EFEFEMNR 135,383 139,709
Accrued payroll VR i 129,581 88,157
Termination benefits payables B (B 53,595 3,108
Interest payables FEAST A B 239 —
Other tax payables H S Hi 18 15,783 28,913
Other loans H g R 0] - 202,500
Guarantee deposits W B R P R R 5B 66,513 61,364
Customer loyalty program 2P BB E (ii) - 3,203
Accrued expenses FBIREH 363,052 291,215
Others HAh (il 98,087 83,643

862,233 901,812
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26. Other Payables and Accruals (Continued)

(i) As at 31 December 2015, a loan of RMB200,000,000 was
borrowed from Inner Mongolia Mengniu, which bore interest at
a fixed interest rate of 3% per annum from December 2014.
The loan was repaid in 2016.

(i) Customer loyalty program

26. HtENRARETER @

0] 201512 A31H T ER B R
= 4 % A R #200,000,000
JC 2014 F 12 A A B E E F 7|

E3%EHE ° R fEKE R2016F &

(954

(i)

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR T

At 1 January R1A1H 13,203
Additions %90 40,749
Recognised as revenue during the year FREERBA (50,749)
At 31 December W12 A31H 3,203

@iy ~ Others mainly include construction cost payables.

The amount due to a related party included in other payables and
accruals is as follows:

(i) HtFZBFEENFIER-

SIAE M ENKIBEMERT &R EN
RARE DT MO FRIRAN T ¢

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TT

A fellow subsidiary —XERK B R A

200,000




ORe

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2016

WU

e

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHUBRRMEE @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

27. Derivative Financial Instruments

27

OTEE®MIA

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETTT

Forward currency contracts and currency

Interest rate swaps

RE#H
MEEBMAR

collars

EHINES D RINELET

The fair values of these derivative financial instruments are determined
by Westpac Bank, the counterparty of these hedge arrangements,
and reviewed by the directors of the Company, based on contracts
value with reference to the forecast London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”) and the exchange rate of USD against New Zealand Dollar
(“NzZD”).

)

Forward currency contracts and currency collars — cash flow
hedge

Forward currency contracts and currency collars are designated
as hedging instruments in respect of forecast future contractor
payments in NZD from October 2014 to June 2015 for the
construction of Yashili New Zealand’s plant, to hedge the cash
flow change associated with the foreign exchange rate of USD
against NZD. The balances of forward currency contracts and
currency collars vary with the levels of expected construction
payments and changes in foreign exchange forward rates. The
execution of these contracts completed in July 2015. There
were no such contracts in 2016.

Interest rate swap contracts — cash flow hedge

Interest rate swap contracts, which start from September 2014
and mature in August 2017, are designated as hedging
instruments in respect of future interests of Westpac Bank’s
bank loans with floating rates at one month LIBOR to hedge the
cash flow change associated with the change of LIBOR during
the period. The balances of interest rate swap contracts vary
with the levels of expected withdrawal of bank loans.

In August 2015, the Company terminated all these swap
contracts, together with those hedged bank loans, before the
date of termination. There were no such contracts in 2016.

FELEEHRINRZE FRAMER

K FRT

ERaASBY2EHY

LIBOR J2 35 7T 34, % 78 ) 7T [E K 60 B B iy
B EHEETETAENRAER-
ARAMEECDER LR DAAER-

EHMINERNRINELETRALN
—REREEH

AEEHRPINES O RINE £
TRANEEAUTRBELEE
/) 78 5T 72014910 A £2015F 6
FOFABILEIRERIRES
NEMEHRTAE  WHEBRET
HEmEmERZE(mERD
ReRheag2gh 2HINEANK
INEETRAELOGERBESRT
EBRINOBEBEARRHEERY
FEm B RS RR2015F7
B#ITHEE 2016 F EZEAL -

MEGBAN -—REREEH

KEBEERARA2014F98 =
2017F8AMFEREBRAENIETE
BEEBRFERITEANFE B —
MAGRBREFREBENENEBERE
REARERANEEENESHRT
B - LA A LIBORE & 1 25 3k 89
REeEMEZH - FEXEBREOHH
HEREHERNRRSENE
&)1 o

2015F8 H » RAJIRAIAR I T &k
EBRAREEEHRNRITERE
[E > 2016 F EZEA L -
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27. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

Since the nominal amounts of the forward currency contracts and
currency collars match the terms of the construction payment
commitments and the terms of interest rate swaps match the terms
of bank loan agreements, the hedged ratio is determined at 1 to 1.
The main sources of ineffectiveness include counterparty’s non-
performance risks, which is considered to be insignificant. No
ineffectiveness recognised in profit or loss arose from the above cash
flow hedges in 2015.

No fair value gain or loss was recorded in the hedging reserve as all
the contracts were completed or terminated as at 31 December
2015. A loss amounting to RMB6,851,000 was transferred to the
statement of profit or loss as a result of termination of interest rate
swap contracts before the date of expiration. There were no such
contracts in 2016.

27. STES M T H

MRERINEAOREERNEXETR
MEESHEARRMNFAZENERE
B A KA R i8 B & R 5K B IR 17 & 5K
B IGRRERES - ERLOIRETE
B -EMEREZRRENRZH)
WABHRR  ZEBRERBSTEK-
HER AR REEHEABENEY
EAE D EF A2015 5 B -

R20156F12A31H  EATEARE #
TRESL I BEAREEEZH RSN
BRFT AL FFHE  BRAKRERNEER
BREHAR €% AHARK6,851,0007T
MR ABERK 2016 F & -

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETFIT
Total fair value losses included in the hedging &t A & B 5 80 A 7t (B A & &)
reserve Bx (21,067)
Deferred tax on fair value losses (note 19) HAAEBELEBELEBENE
EFLIA (MF5E19) 3,732
Reclassified from other comprehensive income #t H itz & WmPR EH B E
and included in construction in progress EIRE 23,851
Deferred tax transferred to construction in BELEHBEBREAETRE
progress (note 19) (MF7E19) (4,989)
Loss transferred in the statement of profit or 12 Bl 4% 1§ & § 4 [ 2= &
loss due to early termination BREZEERPER 6,851
Net losses on cash flow hedges REMEERFEX 8,388
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28. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans 28. st ERITEF
As at 31 December 2016 As at 31 December 2015
M20165£12H531H 2015412 431 H
Effective
interest Effective
rate interest
(%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity ~ RMB’000
BERA = AR BYIES AR
(%) ZIHIERE T (%) EIHAR R Tt
Current Bl &R
Short term bank %8 HRER 1T B 3K
loans:
— Pledged loans — B#f{E xR LIBOR+0.9/
HIBOR+0.9 2017 rexHr i | IBOR+0.9 2016 461,696
— Guaranteed — ERER
loans . u 2017 300,000 — — —
— Credit loans — ERfE® ! 2017 100,000 — - —
461,696
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBFT
Bank loans denominated in IRITE X
— CNY —UARBHE 400,000 -
— UsD — AETEAE 673,767 461,696
— HKD — BB EE 69,324 —
1,143,091 461,696
As at 31 December 2016, bank loans with an aggregate amount of MR2016F12831H — LB HMBEHNA
approximately RMB743,091,000 (31 December 2015: A R #743,091,000 7T (2015 F 12 A 31
RMB461,696,000) were secured by time deposits amounting to RMB H: AR #461,696,0007T) B4R 1T E X
798,905,000 (31 December 2015: RMB510,356,000). LA A R #5798,905,000 7T (20154 12 A 31
H: AR¥510,356,0007C) B & 8 17 3¢
AT -
As at 31 December 2016, a bank loan with amount of No0164E12A31H &3 A8 A B
RMB200,000,000 was guaranteed by Yashili (Guangdong), and a 200,000,0007C B4R ITE S He+ 7| (B
bank loan with amount of RMB100,000,000 was guaranteed by B)HER o A AR 100,000,000

Yashili (Shanxi). HRITE R R TELTF (L FE)ER -



Deferred income mainly represented the government grants received
for the acquisition of a new plant and for certain technical innovation
and production line expansion projects. These grants are deferred
over the useful lives of the relevant assets and the amount recognised
as other income and gains in 2016 was RMB1,083,000 (2015:

RMB2,985,000).

BHEREBREZERERDA 2016FF§
§E S A
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)
SHUBRETMWE @
31 December2016 2016412 A31 H
29. Deferred Income 29, JE 3£ W 7
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFIT
As at beginning of the year F R 4,412 7,397
Amortisation for the year FREE (1,083) (2,985)
As at end of the year FoREH m—4412

FEWEETZEIBEETBRERLE T
EMa sk EERETERESHK
[T - ZEWYRBEHEEENIFEAR
FHIREZ AR - R2016FE R A E M
WARKREMEEETHEEN TS
B A R 1,083,000 (20154 + AR

2,985,0007T) ©

30. Share Capital 30. g &
Number of
shares Nominal value
5 E B HE
000 RMB’000
T B% ARETFTT
Authorised: e
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each fEEEO0AE LA
LB A% (i) 10,000,000 861,600
Ordinary shares, issued and ERT-BHE:
fully paid:
Shares issued upon a R2010F EAR B 77
Reorganization in 2010 # % 15 (i) 100 9
Capitalisation issue in 2010 20105 & AL BT (i) 2,925,900 251,364
Shares issued by share MR2010F FBR D E
offer in 2010 BITRR 5 (iv) 574,000 49,312
Shares repurchased 2011 F I 1 Bl B
in 2011 (v) (10,000) (818)
Accumulated share 2014 F g Rt PRt &
options exercised 1THE
up to 2014 69,170 5,665
Shares issued to Danone Asia in 72015 4 [A) i B 28 M 3%
2015 TR R (Vi) 1,186,390 93,820
At 31 December 2015 and 2016 420154 [ 2016 F
12A31H 4,745,560 399,352
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30. Share Capital (continued)

)

(i)

(i

V)

The Company was incorporated on 3 June 2010 with
authorised capital of 3,800,000 shares at HK$0.10 per share.
As part of a reorganisation of the Group in preparation for the
listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange in 2010 (the “Reorganisation”), the authorised share
capital of the Company was increased to HK$1,000,000,000
(equivalent to RMB861,600,000) divided into 10,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.10 each.

On 2 July 2010, as part of the Reorganisation, the Company
issued a total of 99,999 shares at HK$0.10 per share equivalent
to RMB9,000 to the shareholder of Yashili (Guangdong) as the
consideration to acquire Yashili (Guangdong).

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company’s shareholders
passed on 8 October 2010, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from HK$380,000 to
HK$1,000,000,000; in addition, 2,925,900,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each were issued at par value to the shareholders of
the Company as at 8 October 2010 by way of capitalisation of
HK$292,590,000 (equivalent to RMB251,364,000) from the
Company’s share premium account.

A total of 3,500,000,000 shares of the Company were listed on
the Stock Exchange on 1 November 2010 (“IPQO”), among
which 644,000,000 shares (18.4% of the total number of shares
of the Company) were issued to the public, comprising
574,000,000 new shares and 70,000,000 sale shares. The
gross proceeds received by the Company from the IPO were
approximately HK$2,411 million.

On 10 June 2011 and 18 June 2011, the Company
repurchased all of its own ordinary shares of 10,000,000 at an
aggregate price (including a transaction fee and commission) of
HK$18,728,000 (equivalent to RMB15,538,000), which was
deducted from reserves.

30. B A (@)

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

K X B 2201096 A3 H & ft &K
3 v 3k B AN A3,800,000/% ¢
KEERBOABITHRG - fEAXK
EER2010F BEBEARRKR®G
REBRXTER EMMETHEAR
(TEEDWH—H - EEERAE
# & 7 ¥1,000,000,000 7T ( 1/ &
» A R #:861,600,0007T ) 2 A
10,000,000 F % + & f% M E0.1075
TR o

R2010F7 A28 e B EHM —
o ARRAMELF(ER)E
B & % IR R 817 & $£99,000 % &
BREEBEIEITHRD  HERA
R #9,0007T * 1A A R a Wi T
TH (BR)MEE -

B IE A QR R E R2010F10 A
SHBMBEMAZE XAAK
& F B 7K 380,000/ JT # N
% 1,000,000,0007% JT: b b
FERYADRKG & ERRER
292,590,000/ 7L (HH & N AR &
251,364,00070) fEB A » KR & A
2010F 108 EEMERHE KR
3% 172,925,900,000 % & P& m {E0.1
BITE @ o

KR AWK 5D R2010F11 A1H
EEBBH LW ERARE
771) » #8 % & 3,500,000,000/% © H
/1 644,000,000 % (1 4~ & 7] f% 15
BER18.4%) M AR AL EIT
H /B $£574,000,000 T A& 3 A% &
70,000,000 % 58 & f% 10 o AR A &) 4L
B EXARETHRERERL
A R2A1TBEBEBTT -

R2011F6 4108 6 A138 » ARAF]
HPEBHEAB &/ E®A% 10,000,000
B BEREFEEBRAR)A
7 #18,728,0007T (HH & KW AR &
15,538,0007T ) * 7 & 7 & & 1 40
|§/éf§o
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30. Share Capital (continued)

\)

(Vi)

(Continued)

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the
issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the
nominal value of these shares. Pursuant to section 49H of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, an amount equivalent to the
par value of the shares cancelled of HK$1,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB818,000) was transferred to the capital redemption
reserve. The premium and transaction costs paid on the
repurchase and cancellation of the shares of HK$17,728,000
(equivalent to RMB14,720,000) were charged to reserves.

On 30 October 2014, the Company, Mengniu International and
Danone Asia entered into a Subscription Agreement pursuant
to which, among other things, Danone Asia has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for and the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue 1,186,390,074 subscription shares at
the subscription price of HK$3.70 per subscription share.

The share subscription has been approved by the Company’s
shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting on 28
November 2014,

On 12 February 2015, the Company received all the share
subscription proceeds of HK$4,389,643,000, equivalent to
RMB3,471,330,000, among which RMB93,820,000 was
accounted for as share capital, and the remaining, after
deducting issuance cost, amounting to RMB3,374,773,000
was accounted for as share premium.

31. Assets of Disposal Group Classified as
Held for Sale and Liabilities Directly
Associated with the Assets Classified as
Held for Sale

At the end of 2016, the Company ceased to classify the assets and
liabilities directly related to the disposal group of Yashili (Heilongjiang)
as held for sale as its sale was not considered highly probable.

30.

31. ¢

B% ZA< )
v (&)

BT wE mADQ RS
BEETRANCHEREZS
EIERGHEE: - KBEEQ A
P EAHE R EHEBRMOE
8 7% #1,000000 (S B AR
818,000 T ) #& A % 5 [0 & % 1%
f oo BE BB ROT 8RR D BT XA AY
i (B & R 5 K AN & 17,728,000 7T
(%£1E AR%14,720,0007T) © £
IR -

MR2014410A30H » "R &l &
GSEBRERDMNER T RER
TE o BRI AL TN B MR
AERE BEARAEWKEHGR
= At % K 3 171,186,390,074 % 2
BRHD - REEBRAETHRIABER
73.70/8 7T °

(vi)

N2014F11 A28 B Z KR D RED
EARNRREERERE AE £
e -

M2015F2 8128 A A 7 W 5

2 I % 4 3R B8 704,389,643,000 %
JC  #96 AR #3,471,330,000 7T -
H e AR #93,820,000 T A B 3%
TERA MR ENRETE
A% # A R #3,374,773,000 7T 5t
ABRA R E -

i
2
%

i

Wt
WR

i

B
B
&

I ot
25
IR 5

A I S
i
N

R o
=
iy

20165 K- BEIEEBEMFBELNCE
D E-FARLENAEETR &
HUFAREEEMABEREDL -
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31. Assets of a Disposal Group Classified as NP EABESENEEMH
Held for Sale and Liabilities Directly EEREEASESESE
Associated with the Assets Classified as EEEEHBENAEGE@®

Held for Sale (continued)

The negotiation for the sale of Scient (China) is still in the progress
and therefore the assets and liabilities directly related to Scient (China)
are still classified as disposal group held for sale as at 31 December

2016.

The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale as

at 31 December 2016 are as follows:

HE(FE)MEENEHRBmES Bt
HpB(PE) CEEENEENEBER
2016F 12 A3IBME R EABBEHE
BEWHR-

R2016F12A31B R EHEEERE
(EROINE

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR TR ARBTF T
Assets: BE

Property, plant and equipment mME - WENEE 13 127,166 166,089
Construction in progress FEITRE - 378
Land use rights &+ Hb {5 A 16 27,687 30,265
Intangible assets BVEAE 17 645 144
Trade receivables B 5 WK 8

Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE e kEA
receivables JE W3R 5,763
Cash and short term deposits Re RBITET 961
Inventories FE 31,229
Deferred tax assets RIEFTBIMEE 19 8,575
Investment properties "EYE 15 44,774 44,538

Assets classified as held for sale

PEARBERENEE
BE

204,459 287 950

Liabilities: BfE
Trade payables B 5 TR (201) (3,191)
Other payables and accruals Hi N R RETER (4,787) 7 103)
Liabilities directly associated with assets NEAFAEFEEAERER

classified as held for sale HENAE (4,988) (1 0,294)
Net assets directly associated with the HEEAEEMARN

disposal group FEE 277,656
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32 Business Combination 32 ¥%E6t
Acquisition of Dumex China in 2016 R2016 FWEZ X%
On 31 May 2016, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest in M2016F5A31 H » 7N & & [ DAPH U
Dumex China from DAPH. Dumex China is mainly engaged in the BHE2E ¥ N A % E7%3 H100%H
manufacture and sale of infant formula products under the Dumex B -ZAATENRELELREENR
brand. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to R E R EEHEEE - EL I
expand its market share of infant formula products in Mainland China. EIF Ty AN HAE HEOR A B oK fE 82 4 R OAC

TPMEBH—#D -

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Dumex China R BHE  Z2ZDE 2rZREE
as at the date of acquisition were as follows: FEIBBEZARENRT :

Fair value

recognized

on acquisition

WERRE

ZRRE

Notes RMB’000

B 5 ARETF T

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment N 13 68,290
Construction in progress EEITRE 14 7,473
Land use rights Tt (5 A R 16 41,527
Intangible assets EEE 17 283,120
Inventories =g 64,945
Trade and bills receivables B S RKF R EE 63,887
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 817 518 « # & & H fib & U 7% 18 14,116
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTER 112,071
Total assets BEERT 655,429
Liabilities BE

Trade payables =87) Nk (43,626)
Other payables and accruals HMENRRETER (302,909)
Current tax payable FETFTIS R (112)
Total liabilities BEBE (346,647)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BArRBIEZHAEERRE 308,782
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition m:BEELEEE 718,476

Purchase consideration at fair value

BAREINEZEERE 1,027,258
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32 ¥B¥E6twm

32 Business Combination (Continued)

Acquisition of Dumex China in 2016 (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables as at the
date of acquisition amounted to RMB63,887,000 and
RMB14,116,000, respectively. The gross contractual amounts of
trade receivables and other receivables were RMB63,887,000 and
RMB14,116,000.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB5,510,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and are
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Dumex
China is as follows:

R2016 F W BB 2 X% P B (@)

RUREE B - WO E B UBR A A R
BEE» 5l A AR63,887,000t f AR
#14,116,000T * REEBED A AAR
#63,887,0007T Fl A R #14,116,0007T °

AEBZIAMNBELESSBERAARE
5510000t WERXRHFEBRHEWE B
£ WHAEHFMNBRPOITHASL
i E o

ERZXEZTBEUBERZ2REESRD
Mo

RMB’000
AREFIT
Cash consideration HerRE 1,099,695
Receipt of adjustments to purchase WEIKEREMES
consideration (72,437)
1,027,258
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BWEReMRESEY (112,071)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FFARBEDEEANBREREL
included in cash flows from investing HehREEEMRTE FRE
activities 915,187
Transaction costs of the acquisition included it AL ZESHELENIR SR E 2
in cash flows from operating activities g =B 5 KA 5,510
920,697

Since the acquisition, Dumex China contributed RMB101,089,000 to
the Group’s revenue and RMB55,905,000 to the consolidated loss
for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the
revenue of the Group and the loss of the Group for the year would
have been RMB2,332,773,000 and RMB469,437,000, respectively.

Bl % HE2016F12831H 1IFF
B Z2EZTPHAEEAEENKATERT
A R #101,080,000c EE T AR
55,905,000 # 18 £k o

EZWHEBEEREY AEEE D RIE
H I A AR #2,332,773,0007T BB A
R # 469,437,000 7T °
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33. Pledge of Assets 33. EEK
Details of the pledged assets are included in note 24 to the financial BEREEEBBOFE SR BEHRE
statements. B 5t 24 -

34. Operating Lease Arrangements M. RKEHERH
As Lessee ERAEEA
At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments under RMEBE TABUHKEEHEEE 5
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of buildings were payable EEEZEYEMNNARXFEKBEETE
as follows: (N

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT

Within one year —FR 7,570
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FIEERAF(BREERMSE) 3,553
11,123
35. Commitments 35. & IE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 34, BRBfYEES4FF A MY AC & TR E AR SN - IR
the Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of the HHR  AEBRNEREENAT :
reporting period:
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARETT

Contracted, but not provided for: EATAEREE
Land and buildings EEREEY 14,266
Plant and machinery T A 5 6,871
Investment commitment "B 1,064,280

1,085,417
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36. Related Party Transactions

36. BB AR5

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with related parties during the years ended 31
December 2016 and 2015:

(@ BEEABBRREMH T D
REMBEBRZ AEEREZE
20164 K& 20154 12 A31 B L F &
WERAE S ETUTEARS

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries of
the parent
Sale of maltodextrin and sugar, etc.
Sale of raw materials
Sale of milk powder products
Sale of power
Purchase of milk powder products
Purchase of base powder
Purchase of raw materials
Income from consigned processing
Income from consigned processing®
Income from Rental of property
Interest income from cash pool
Service expense
Interest expense from entrusted loan
Entrusted loan
Trademark license fee (note)

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries of the
parent’s substantial shareholder

Purchase of packing materials
Purchase of starch and sugar, etc.
Purchase of trust plan

Transactions with a substantial shareholder
and its subsidiaries
Sale of raw materials
Sale of base powder
Purchase of base powder
Reimbursements income
Income of cost sharing
Service expense
Sponsorship for marketing promotion
Rental of property and plant

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
HERFBARMN
BT R 5
HEEME  BE - 24
$HE RE 115 =
HEMMER" 4,028 557
HEE N~ 232 =
BEOMER" 105,357 13,381
HEEEN 72,778 88,044
BE R 5,179 2,049
ZEMITHHE R 36,731 20,007
ZEMI Y9 E @ 49,515
oA R R 836
&2 FE A 743
IR 75 &~ —
ZAEFRF B 8,625
ZEER 200,000
R (E AR A & (BT ) —
MR RERAEMN
FERRAEE A A
R TR 5
BEBEME 5,685
BERD BE 10,107
BEELTEM 70,000
H—ZFERRK
HMBRANKS
$HE RE —
HEEH =
AR =
fHE WA =
=9 —
R 75 &~ —
MiGHEEE" —
HEWZE R E* 2,680
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36. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the above
related party transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms during the ordinary course of business. The
directors have confirmed that the above transactions will
continue in the future.

The above transactions also constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

These represent Oushi Mengniu’s consigned processing income of
milk powder for Inner Mongolia Mengniu. These transactions don’t
constitute connected transactions as defined in the Listing Rules as
all the transactions took place before the acquisition date of Oushi
Mengniu by the Group.

Note: As agreed with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, the group shall be liable to
pay the trademark license fee from 1 January 2017

Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are set
out in notes 21, 22, 23, 25 and 26 to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

Key management compensation is detailed in note 9 to the
financial statements.

36. BB 5 R F ()

(a)

(&)

ARAFEERA A LWES X
5Ty — MR RO TT -
AHEBBRETET EEDH
B E X5 S R R
r

* LFARZHEER TR R4AT PR
RENHERIAFEBERS -

’ BUERHRBERFTIARE
ZEMIHHEA - ELR 5HEFE
EEREHEBRHERSR - A
BRETRAMAENEERS -

P REASESHE AREBRER
#H2017F1A1BMAE I HEIE
RIS -

BREBLTNARERSR

EHEBEB AN REELEHRFS
B B RS sk R KT 5E21 22023
2526 °

FEEBETEEEAS M
&
ITBEEABNBRMFRNG
BEMEO -
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37. RERETHNEmMIT A

37. Financial Instruments by Category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial NEHR SRESRTAEMNEREND
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T

31 December 2016 201612 H31H

Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost
RARAREBES
Bt ABET B ARG
ENEREE EBENSREE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR® TR AR¥ TR
Financial assets ERMEE
Trade and bills receivables B RERRKERE 161,391 161,391

Prepayments, deposits and other

BAR M kEf

receivables & W SRR = 114,932 114,932
Other current financial assets EHEpiEE 426,884 50,110 476,994
Pledged deposits SR R 1T 17 K 803,123 803,123
Long-term bank deposits KRESRIT R 379,927 379,927
Cash and cash equivalents REeRBITERT 1,642,818 1,642,818

426,884 3,152,301 3,579,185
Financial
liabilities at Financial
fair value liabilities at
through amortised
profit or loss cost
UanEES
EstABEN ARG
SHAE ENSRERE &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR% T AR TR
Financial liabilities cHas
Trade payables B SRR 237,621 237,621

Other payables and accruals

HiEN R R EFER

253,496

253,496

Short-term Interest-bearing CHiET B AR 1T
bank loans EEA 1,143,091 1,143,091

1,634,208

1,634,208
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37. RERE e T Hw

2015F 12 A31H

37. Financial Instruments by Category (continued)

31 December 2015

207

Financial assets

at fair value Financial
through assets at
profit or loss  amortised cost Total
KRR EBEEE
et AT AEERRAKASET
ENSHREE =ENESREE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREEF T AR T
Financial assets TEEE
Trade and bills receivables BoERWRRERE — 71,815 71,815
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ B3k - 1 & K H#b
receivables JE W 5k IR = 13,807 13,807
Other current financial assets Hih & E 873,859 — 873,859
Pledged deposits R RITIER — 594,981 594,981
Long-term bank deposits R ERITIF = 363,227 363,227
Cash and cash equivalents Be RIBTET — 2,479,856 2,479,856
873,859 3,523,686 4,397,545
Financial liabilities
at fair value Financial
through liabilities at
profit or loss  amortised cost Total
NAREBEE
Bt ABEA AR AR
TRAE EMNeHAaE A EF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T ARETFIT
Financial liabilities tMmes
Trade payables B 5 IR — 272,104 272,104
Other payables and accruals HENRLRESSER — 410,585 410,585
Short-term Interest-bearing bank %8 Bit S 4R 1T
loans fa& — 461,696 461,696
— 1,144,385 1,144,385
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38. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of BEMITEZARERAR
Financial Instruments EE &
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEEN SR TENREELAARE
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably B TEEIURAABENKREE
approximate to fair values, are as follows: FEBWMT
Carrying amount Fair value
REEE NAEE
2016 & 20154 2016 & 20154
12H31H 12A31H 12H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARB T T PN ARBTF T
Financial assets SREE
Long-term bank REIRITIF K
deposits 379,927 363,227 389,524 352,758
379,927 363,227 389,524 352,758
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash EEPAETHREENREE {E 7/
equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, trade and bills ARBEEISHWIEAER %J’E ¢
receivables, other current financial assets, trade payables, financial REEWEE - EthemE E g5
assets included in prepayments and deposits, interest receivable, and NRIE - FFABRNRERZS - BT S
other receivables, financial liabilities included in accruals and REMEWRFIEN R EE 5T ATER
customers’ deposits, interest payables and other payables and BAREFPES ENHERHEAMmER
accruals, short-term bank loans approximate to their carrying REMTRAEE BT ERITERD
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. AREEEERR {E BEHER - BREL
SR ITAENKRBSEERBANRNIIE-
The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the finance manager AEEHVBEREBENUBEKA
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair ERTERIAEAABEIAENEER
value measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance MEF VHEEFKEEREERERS -
team reports directly to management. At each reporting date, the FEERER  2aUBEEEKS TS/
corporate finance team analyses the movements in the values of TAEBEEMNEHTREEARGEED
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the FTEHGABE - ZEEHREEEHRZEL
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by management. e BRTHEHNMEENBHmE  HEB
The valuation process and results are discussed with management BEMEREEBEESFIRMK -

twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the TREERBENAABENZIA
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current BRERZ 577 (8B IO58 HERIN AT
transaction between wiling parties, other than in a forced or RETZARGSEAR NAFER
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used RETDRAUGETHAREE -

to estimate the fair values.
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38. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of

39

Financial Instruments (continued)

The fair values of long-term bank deposits, interest-bearing bank
loans have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets for which fair values are disclosed:

Significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3)
EXTUBEGARE

As at 31 December 2016
M 2016FE12A 31 H

Long-term bank deposits RERITER

38. & @ T

389,524

il

ZARERRDR

£
BE & @)

HARRBAENERRAIER A
RATIE B A f A TR AR -
EERARRH THHAMNTARST
BEHFERAERKRA SRR
¥ A -

Rt EE R

AEEREANTERAHPSRIA
WA EEE

A

-

Fair value measurement using

DNREFENER
Significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3)

BANAE R ASUE

(B=%H) (F=%4)
As at 31 December 2015

#H20154F 12 431 H

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T
352,758

Financial Risk Management Objectivesand 39. X EMEEBEE R EXE

Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings, cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade and bills receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

AEERUTAETAIIMEIZERMTA
BRABRTER REMRSFEYD
REeEMEFER ZEeRTANTIER
MDRASEEZEEED - AKEHE
EZRBEEZERELANE MR
BELBE WESHEEAFERERE
BEMESHEMNA -
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 39.

Policies (Continued)

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including
principally interest swap contracts, forward currency contracts and
currency collars. The purpose is to manage the interest rate and
currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of

finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are fair
value and cash flow interest rate risks, foreign currency risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. Generally, senior management of the Company
meets regularly to analyse and formulate measures to manage the
Group’s exposure to these risks. In addition, the board of directors of
the Company holds meetings regularly to analyse and approve the
proposals made by senior management of the Company. Generally,
the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk management.
The Group’s accounting policies in relation to derivative financial

instruments are set out in note 2.4 above.

(@) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. With its borrowings issued at fixed and
floating interest rates, the Group is exposed to both fair value

and cash flow interest rate risks.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed and
floating interest rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risk. The Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and short-
term deposits are stated at amortised cost and not revalued on
a periodic basis. Floating rate interest income and expenses are

credited/charged to profit or loss as earned/incurred.

BHEEREEARERBEE

()

AEENRRTER S  T2EEH X
BEHAH  RHINESDORINE ETIR
BRH -BHNERATERMNXRAKEZ
EEMBERBREENEERAR -

AEEeRTAELANTIZERASA
AEBEERREBEMNXER  INEE
- EERRERBDESRR - — KM
EARFASREREeEHOHNER
oA K FE R - B PR AR SR B bR A X
ERE- I ARBEEEEHAM
ERNOMEPREARASREEER
EMEZ —RME AKEREER
ERPRIRTRE - AEEABAITE
TR TAMNSFERIAN X ER24 -

(@) DAEERBESARAE
2, B

ArRBEMNEEREETHITA
MEEKEMSMNEEEHMmH IR
MEH R - IR BN E A E R
EHETRIANAKARESRESR
B T 35 A = 8 i 3R R B A AL
o BB IR E E ROF B X
g AEEmEALEERLR
TREMNEREE

AEEETHESYEERBE T
PHENERES REEEA
KR AEEGFERITERR
RHFERZBEERAINE M
SEHEML - FHMENE WA
K B 32 iR SRR 5] B0 A R B
XEA/HBEHE-
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

()

Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks
(Continued)

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of
fixed and variable rate debts. To manage this mix in a cost-
effective manner, the Group enters into interest rate swaps, in
which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the
difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts
calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal
amount. At 31 December 2016, after taking into account the
effect of the interest rate swaps, none of the Group’s interest-
bearing borrowings bore interest at fixed rates (2015: no fixed
rates).

If there was a general increase/decrease in the interest rates of
bank loans with floating interest rates by one percentage point,
with all other variables held constant, the consolidated pre-tax
profit would have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB11,431,000 (2015: RMB4,617,000) for the year ended 31
December 2016, with no impact on other components of the
consolidated equity, except for retained earmnings of the Group.
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and the Group has applied the exposure to
interest rate risk to those financial instruments in existence at
those dates. The estimated one percentage point increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period
until the end of the next reporting period.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily on bank
deposits, other receivables, trade payables and bank loans of
the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily the Hong Kong dollar, the
United States dollar and NZD.

39. Bt
(1%

(a)

% [ b2 =R BUR

)

EEH

s?r
P2

=

N

VAN
U

NABERBRERERN
2 B ()

AEEMNBRKENARERZE
FEEBHAEANERFEKAK -
ZERMNEBMRAS  AEEHET
UAMERE ERAREBEEETE
MERMER 2BETHNEEL
SR ENBEEFZEHFER S &
HEMEBEERIR - R2016F
12A3818 T E R F ERIBHMHE
ﬂ% KNEEEEE R X B G

(20154 « EE E M R B {5
m>

i

WiZ 2B HEFEHNRITER
WAEBEME,RE—EAD
omABEHMESETNE A
Z2016F12A31H It F E - &
HBEAFBERD MO AR
#11,431,0007C (20154 + A R #&
4,617,0007T) * HH AR EE G HF 4
TMEMBHITELE XD
HE%IJ;‘FEJBMI\otL@kWF D AT =
BEFEEEHE NS ME PR
Eﬁﬁ?zm AEED & MR F
= @ fg fﬁﬁﬁAEZﬂ:rHHﬁﬁEEﬁi
BT A fHEr— @ \Eﬁﬂ’qiaﬂ
EEREEHHRNEE T —E®RE
HARAEIEFEEE "Q@%E’\JEWE°

S5 L B

AEEBMNIIERRETERB MK
SNEEHEZRITER HMER
R EBHENRBEBURETE
o NELZEHBIZZIVER
BAIMEE - S ZRARZER
TERAEE ETRAE-
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the RMB exchange rates to the United
States dollar, the Hong Kong dollar and NZD with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities):

0. MBEABREEEREREEK
(40

(b) 7 & =B ()

TRINTEMBEEMEHERT T
HEOBERT  ARBEZXT B
RABHO R BRAgEHRNAGE
2H(NEBKEERABNARE
BHET)UAKERAAN B
@,

Increase/
(decrease)
in RMB Increase/(decrease)

exchange rate % in profit before tax

ARBER
EAATR)%  BARELA (TR
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T T NS

If RMB weakens against the i AR¥E K ETEE
United States dollar

If RMB strengthens against the i A R W E T FHAE
United States dollar

If RMB weakens against the A RSB TRE
Hong Kong dollar

If RMB strengthens against the ikl A BB % 5, 7% 7T FH &
Hong Kong dollar

If RMB weakens against NZD MARE KA TEE

If RMB strengthens against NZD  fit] A & & 3 4t ot J+ (B

If RMB weakens against Euro i A R K BRTEZ (B

If RMB strengthens against Euro i A R # ¥, BT FH{E

(22,415) 3,028

22,415 (3,028)

(50,042) (46,734)

50,042 46,734
6,570 31,507
(6,570) (31,597)
2,507 —
(2,597) —
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables. Exposure to the credit risk is monitored by
management on an ongoing basis.

Details of the Company’s credit policy are contained in note 21
to the financial statements.

Majority of the Group’s customers have been trading with the
Group for years and the Group did not record significant bad
debt losses during 2016 and 2015. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group had certain concentration of credit risk of the
trade receivables as the receivables from the five largest trade
debtors represented 49.35% of the total trade receivables as at
31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: 43.2%). All the trade
receivables are due from customers with a good trading record
and no impairment allowance is made against these customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not provide any
other guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note
21 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach to manage liquidity is to ensure, as far
as possible, that the Group as a whole has always maintained
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due, under
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or damage to the Group’s reputation.

39. B 7% & bz

()

(c)

EEBEREE
FEERE
AEANEEERRFEXRAE S
REMERZ - EERR I EE
9B BB o
ARABMERBRERN I BRE
21 o
AEBABHBEE —HENET

T 5% F 0 M20164F 20154 &
NEBRABHABALEESE
AEREBE REER ~&EEH
ETEHTEZIRRFEERR -
MR2016F12A831H A AE 5 &
WG 48 8 S FE IR H949.35%
(201512 A31H : 43.2%) - Fr &
BESRWBFHAEBERSRIFR
SUBNEE BT ERZEER
FEHmERE -

EEEERREAHEEABR
NETREENEREE A& H
iﬁ%fEﬂﬁ@%%ﬁ@$%
@EEDD{:E

BRAASKE A EWERXM AR Y
ZEERBRZEMELCHE
BRI mAR M E21 -

i B R B

AEEEERBESTN T ARE
AREERASEEER —RLE
NERTRERBRMRDE
T AmBREBMAE MBEAE
ERAEMNBRIXERBEAR
SENEE-
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHUBRRMEE @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

39. Financial Risk Management Objectivesand 39. i R EEBEERKE
Policies (continued) (&)

(d) B E B )

KEBREARQF SR E EN2016
FN2015F12A31 BN R BB RN
(BEARAITBHARFE) DT -

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31
December 2016 and 2015, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Within
1 year or 1to 2 2t05
on demand years years Total
—FRHIE
ER —EWF —EEHF Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFIT ARBTT ARBFTRT ARETT
31 December 2016 201612 A31 H
Interest-bearing bank loans &+ 8 R 17 & & 1,149,344 — — 1,149,344
Trade payables B 5 EERR 237,621 - — 237,621
Other payables and H AR R
accruals et E A 253,496 — — 253,496
1,640,461 - — 1,640,461
31 December 2015 201512 A31H
Interest-bearing bank loans & £ 88 17 & 7% 462,116 — — 462,116
Trade payables B SRR 272,104 — — 272,104
Other payables and HoAth JE R
accruals et &M 410,585 — - 410,585
1,144,805 — — 1,144,805
(e) Capital management e) EXEHE

AEEREREANBRARER
SEBBENRN URBRREH

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other HmEBATREHBEREME &
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to HRHEBLELREBURIKEE RNK
reduce the cost of capital. PN
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

SHUBBRENE @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

39. Financial Risk Management Objectivesand 390. i B R BEEBEER K ZE

Policies (Continued)

(%)

(e) Capital management (Continued)

The Group uses different measures including adjusted net debt-
to-equity ratios to monitor its capital. Net debt is calculated as
interest-bearing bank loans, as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position less cash and bank deposits
(excluding frozen bank deposits). Total capital is calculated as
equity holders’ funds (i.e., total equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent), as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

(e)

EXREE@m)

AEEERIRERE BREH
ERFEBERLET UEREER
e FEBAAHEERBRM
THERREFRRS RBTHE
AT BB RE W RTER) &
BB -BEXANEGHEERRE
KRB EREAES (AR
AIRERBEARGAEEDS FES
& oo

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T
Interest-bearing bank loans (note 28) 5T 28R 1T & 3k (F 5E28) 1,143,091 461,696
Less: W
Cash and cash equivalents (note 24) HekBEEEEY
(Bt 5E24) 581,491 1,307,556
Short-term bank deposits (note 24) 52 H SR 1717 3 (FfT 5E24) 1,061,327 1,172,300
Long-term bank deposits (note 24) RAER1TF R (FI7E24) 379,927 363,227
Pledged bank deposits (note 24) SREEITER
(Bt 5E24) 803,123 594,981
Net debt BEFE (1,682,777) (2,976,368)
Total equity attributable to owners of NRIRERE ABLE
the parent 5 48 B 5,701,614 5,980,642
Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio KRR FEBEERL X (30%) (50%)

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

mim A DR KHEM T AR
BB IE IO EARER -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNUED]
SHYB BRI T @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

40. Statement of Financial Position of the 40. A 7] B & AR OR Rk
Company
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company MEPAARRNHBEMR R EEOT

at the end of reporting period is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RTF R ER 6,184,284 5,108,392
Total non-current assets EmEEEERE 6,184,284 5,108,392
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Cash and cash equivalents RekReZEED 3,661
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables &1 5018 - & & H fib & Y 5%
18 679,299
Total current assets MEEEME 682,960
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Loans and borrowings y SRR N —
Other payables and accruals E b fE B R ERTE B 11,874
Total current liabilities mENBBEATE 11,874
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS RBAETEE (53,209) 671,086
Net assets BEFHE 6,131,075 5,779,478
EQUITY =
Share capital B& 2 399,352 399,352
Reserves (note 30) ER 5,731,723 5,380,126

Total equity T 75 AR KR 6,131,075 5,779,478
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNUED)
SHY BRI @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

40. Statement of Financial Position of the
Company (Continued)

40. 2 7] BF 7 AR R 3R & )

Note: P -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARARNFEEEBWT
Capital
Share redemption Contributed Translation Retained
premium reserve surplus reserve earnings Total
B[ fE
R s E R BB EREE REBEF B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFTIT AREFT AREFT AREFT AR%®FT
(i) & (note 30) (i) (iii)
(& (H7£30)
At 1 January 2015 R2015%F1 F1HK
e 580,825 818 1,449,863 (285,702) 4,579 1,750,383
Total comprehensive 2H W= 2R
income for the year — - — 327,802 1,673 329,475
Dividends approved in  &i £ A% &I 9 E2
respect of the
previous year (74,505) — — — — (74,505)
Issue of shares FEITRE AR 3,374,773 — — — — 3,374,773
At 31 December 2015 12015412 A31 H
B 45 B4 3,881,093 818 1,449,863 42,100 6,252 5,380,126

Total comprehensive EHEKBEBE
income for the year

Dividends approved in i 53 B% F1 9 &
respect of the
previous year (35,477)

At 31 December 2016 MR2016F 12 A31H
B 7 4 3,845,616

Notes:

)

Share premium

The excess of the issued price net of any issuance expenses over the par
value of the shares issued has been credited to the share premium account
of the Company. Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

1,449,863

387,459 (385) 387,074

(35,477)

429,559

P A< 34 (B

HTBEMBREMETRBHE#T
A ENBED T ARR BB
EBR -REFSESQAEEER) A
ARABEARGEERNESA DK T AR A
BR - HEEERES RS BHRE A
RARVABRNEEENRAEEBRIESD
BEIMZER -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTiNuED)
SHUBRRMEE @

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

40. Statement of Financial Position of the
Company (Continued)

Note : (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Contributed surplus

As part of the Reorganisation, the shareholders of Yashili (Guangdong)
transferred their equity interests in Yashili (Guangdong) to Yashili (HK) on 2
July 2010. A contributed surplus of RMB1,367,204,000 was resulted from
these transfers for the purpose of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

In addition, for the purpose of the Company’s financial statements, a
contributed surplus of RMB1,449,863,000 arose from the issuance of
shares by the Company in exchange for the equity interests in the
subsidiaries held by the shareholders of this subsidiary pursuant to the
Reorganisation.

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

41. Approval of the Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 29 March 2017.

40. A 7) Bt 5 AR R 3R &k m)

fiEE s ()

(i)

(i)

R2010F7 A28 - fEREMH — &1 -
A (ER)ERMOREGEER LA
(ER)MEREZRELTNERE) - K
SETEAHUBEREPEAZEEELES
& A\ R 1,367,204,000 7T °

O RADRSBHHRED BEAAR
NABTRRARRFRAARRAEF
RAFEORRELENRBARE
1,449,863,0007T °

PEE 34, e

BRERHEEERBEBIINEBNT B R
RMEEWAAINEZRE -

41, #HtEB Rk

BEEDN2017FE3A29H i & % i
T EE B S TR K o
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hEFE MR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial

statements, is set out below.

The table below sets forth our summary income statement information for

MARERVHRRZIASE BTN @YK
BENMABEHMELT -

FEER

2 %8

TRENAEERATHMENBERBRE

2,203.3
(1,166.0)

(1,170.9)
(389.5)
(148.3)

the periods indicated: ¥}
RMB million AREBHETT 2012 2013 2014 2015
Restated

Revenue —F % 3,655.1 3,890.0 3,553.5 2,761.6
Cost of sales 8 55 PR AR (1,693.4)  (1,809.9) (1,784.7)  (1,359.3)
Gross profit EF 1,961.7 2,080.1 1,818.8 1,402.3
Other revenue H g A 37.6 26.2 108.6 178.5
Other net (loss)/income Hih(E58) W FE 0.4) (0.8) - -
Selling and distribution HERCHAX

expenses (1,222.7) (1,393.8) (1,368.3) (1,320.3)
Administrative expenses TR (202.1) (219.2) (224.7) (207.9)
Other expenses HibA X (15.1) (11.6) (86.0) (92.9)
Profit/(loss) from operations i w A (1) 559.0 480.9 338.4 (40.3)
Finance income B 75 U A 89.7 108.2 61.8 187.3
Finance costs (29 N (2.8) (13.2) 6.7) (24.2)
Net finance income/(expense) 7 B #5 W A (FI %) 86.9 95.0 55.1 163.1
Profit/(loss) before income tax & B 15 %4 51l % A1,

(E518) 646.3 576.7 393.5 122.8

Income tax expense FriSfif X (175.8) (137.4) (60.9) (4.5)
Profit/(loss) from continuing HESEEB TN,

operations (JEE 12) 470.5 439.3 332.6 118.3
Discontinued operation IE A& 75
Loss from discontinued i{‘ I EETEEE

operation (net of income tax) (¥R FT 15 %1)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEHEH, (&) 470.5 439.3 332.6 118.3
Profit/(loss) attributable to AT AL F],

(E8) 468.5 437.6 332.6 118.3

Non-controlling interests JE PR AR 2.0 1.7 = =
Profit/(loss) for the year FEmM/ (&) 470.5 439.3 332.6 118.3




Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2016

29 g Ve

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
TFEUHERE @

The table sets forth our summary balance sheet information as of 31 T 3k & 7l /& &£ B 720124 - 20134 - 2014

December 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016: £ 2016 K2016F12 A1 AMEEARE
BMEER:
RMB million ARBEETT 2012 2013 2014 2015
Restated
K E
Non-current assets EREBEE 1,568.8 2,129.7 2,299.5 2,622.0 3,866.1
Current assets MENE E 4,001.0 2,386.9 3,393.7 5,041.7 4,099.9
Current liabilities mENEE 1,450.9 1,335.0 1,598.9 1,674.8

Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE, (B &) FHE 2,550.1 1,051.9 1,794.8 3,366.9 1,846.4

Total assets less current
liabilities BREERTBAMGE 4,118.9 3,181.6 4,094.3 5,988.9 5,712.5
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